
Audit and Risk Management Committee
Date: Monday, 25 September 2017
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Patrick Sebastian
Tel: 0151 691 8424
e-mail: patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES                                                                         (Pages 1 - 16)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 12 
June 2017 (attached).

3. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE                                         (Pages 17 - 26)

4. MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND 2016/17 

To consider a referral from the meeting of the Pensions Committee 
held on 17 July 2017 on the matter of the audited statement of 
accounts of the Merseyside Pension Fund for 2016/17, and response 
to the Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report (minute extracts, 
attached).

4A        Pension Committee Minutes                       (Pages 27 – 30)

4B       Audit Findings Report                                  (Pages 31 – 56)

4C       Statement of Accounts MPF 2016/17          (Pages 57 – 64)

Public Document Pack



5. COUNCIL ACCOUNTS 2016/17 

5A      External Audit Findings - Wirral Council   (Pages 65 – 104)

5B      Statement of Accounts 2016/17                (Pages 105 – 114)

(also see agenda papers supplement)

6. LOCAL AUDIT ACCOUNTABILITY ACT                  (Pages 115 - 118)

7. AGS SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES UPDATE 
(Pages 119 - 128)

8. MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE AND CORPORATE RISK 
(Pages 129 - 134)

9. CORPORATE RISK REGISTER: UPDATE              (Pages 135 - 154)

10. CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY         (Pages 155 - 198)

11. RIPA                                                                           (Pages 199 - 202)

12. MATTERS FOR ESCALATION TO CABINET 

13. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 1) 

14. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC 

The public may be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION – That in accordance with section 100A (4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of business, on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined by the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to that Act. The public interest test has been applied and 
favours exclusion.

15. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2) 



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 12 June 2017

Present: Councillor AER Jones (Chair)

Councillors A Leech
P Doughty
D Elderton

P Gilchrist
JE Green

Deputies: Councillors A Davies (In place of C Muspratt)
T Jones (In place of RL Abbey)
L Rowlands (In place of J Hale)

1 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any item(s) on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state what they were.

Councillor Les Rowlands declared a pecuniary interest in Item 8 on the 
meeting agenda (ICT Progress Report) by virtue of his membership of 
Merseytravel. He left the meeting room whilst the matter was debated.

Councillor Jeff Green declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 9 on the 
meeting agenda (Procurement – use of procedure rules approval document 
permitted under the Council Contract Procedure Rules) by virtue of his 
membership of Magenta Housing. He remained in the meeting room whilst the 
matter was debated.

2 ORDER OF BUSINESS 

The Chair proposed, and it was agreed that item 7 on the agenda 
(Performance Appraisal) be considered after item 2 on the agenda (Minutes) 
given the attendance of the Acting Head of Human Resources / 
Organisational Development to report solely on this item.

3 MINUTES OF MEETING TUESDAY, 14 MARCH 2017 OF AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 14 
March 2017, be confirmed as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



4 PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

The Acting Head of Human Resources / Organisational Development 
introduced his report that set out the Council’s position in relation to its 
performance in completing employee appraisals in 2016/17. The report stated 
that the Council’s performance in this area had been a regular item for 
discussion at Audit and Risk Management Committee as part of the Annual 
Governance Statement update reports, and that, at its meeting held on 30 
January 2017, Members had requested a report on the latest position in 
respect of employee appraisals.

The Acting Head of Human Resources / Organisational Development 
informed of the background to the process, which uses a top-down staged 
approach for completing appraisal throughout the year, starting with Chief 
Officers. Members noted that this approach was used in order that senior 
management objectives were aligned with corporate objectives and 
compliance with the Wirral Plan, Service Plans and supporting strategies.

The Committee was advised of the current levels of performance against 
performance appraisals 2016/17. The report showed that 92% of managers 
had received their appraisals by 31 March 2017, compared to 46% recorded 
and completed in 2014/15 and 78% in 2015/16. The Acting Head of Human 
Resources / Organisational Development informed that there was a clear 
expectation that all employees have an annual appraisal and that the process 
must be embedded and valued as part of a performance management culture.

Members commented on the report expressing the importance of the 
measures, particularly in terms of quality, values and behaviour and the link 
between performance appraisal reviews and training.

A Member also commented on the importance of Senior Management 
appraisal, and noted the inclusion of the statistical breakdown of the figures 
between Managers and ‘All Staff’ detailed in Appendix One to the report.

The Committee questioned the Officer on a number of key points within his 
report and expressed views on such matters as:

 expectations regarding the quality of appraisals and the impact on 
values and behaviour;

 the importance of the appraisal of senior management year-on-year;
 review against a set of key objectives and information about good / 

moderate / poor performance and the monitoring of any actions 
agreed; 

 the addressing of training needs – the responsibility of which falls to 
service management and Departmental Management Teams (DMTs); 
and

Page 2



 the quality of data collection and where this is held; and the tracking 
and review of objectives and identification of training needs.

Resolved – That 

(1) the Committee notes and takes into account the response of the 
officers to ensure that the system for appraisal and staff 
development be improved; and

(2) a further report be brought back to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on the points raised by Members above.

5 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 

The Chief Internal Auditor introduced his report that identified and evaluated 
the performance of the Internal Audit Section and included items of note 
arising from the actual work undertaken during the period 1 March to 31 May 
2017. The report focused upon:

 Any items of note arising from audit work conducted;
 Any issues arising that require actions to be taken by Members;
 Performance information relating to the Internal Audit Service;
 Developments being undertaken to improve the effectiveness of the 

Internal Audit Service.

Members’ attention was drawn specifically to the following items of note that 
had been identified, namely:

Attendance Management (sickness absence) – An action plan identifying 
areas for improvement had been completed by officers and the actions 
reported to and agreed by, the Strategic Leadership Team with agreed 
timescales. Internal Audit would be following up this Action Plan later in the 
year and would report the outcome to the Committee.

Personal Finance Unit (PFU) – Internal Audit’s report identify that good 
progress has been made in implementing effective actions arising from both 
the independent review of the service and internal audit work undertaken. 
Follow up work has been scheduled within the Audit Plan for 2017/18 to 
evaluate the effectiveness of actions implemented and this will be reported 
upon to Committee in due course.

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) – The regulation, which 
replaces the current EU Data Protection Directive 95/46/EC, is expected to 
come into force in May 2018. Internal Audit are scheduled to undertake a 
review of progress towards compliance in Quarter 3, and in the meantime 
have recommended that failure to comply with GDPR be included on the 
Corporate Risk Register to ensure it is mitigated in a timely manner. 

Page 3



The Chief Internal Auditor informed that the outstanding audit 
recommendations that related to ICT systems were the subject of a separate 
report on the meeting agenda (see Minute 9 post). He further informed of the 
ongoing actions undertaken by the Internal Audit service to improve overall 
efficiency and effectiveness that included incorporating and developing areas 
of best practice from across the Internal Audit profession. 

Resolved – That the report be noted.

6 CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR'S ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 

The Chief Internal Auditor introduced his report that provided an overall 
opinion as to the effectiveness of the Council’s control environment.

The Chief Internal Auditor directed the Committees attention to Sections 3, 4 
and 5 of the report that set out the Audit Outcomes for 2016/17 and the 
Effectiveness of Internal Audit for the same period. He stated that his overall 
opinion is that: 

“On the basis of our programme of work last year, I can provide moderate 
assurance overall that there is a generally sound system of internal control, 
designed to meet the Council’s objectives, and controls are generally being 
applied consistently. 

However some weaknesses in the design and inconsistent application of 
controls put the achievement of particular key objectives at risk. The key 
governance, risk and internal control issues of which the Chief Internal Auditor 
was made aware during the year and that impact on the overall opinion are 
included within Sections 3 and 4 of this report”.

The Chief Internal Auditor further informed that the elements that affected his 
opinion included assessment of the governance, risk management and overall 
framework of assurance and the outcomes of risk based assignments and 
external assessments undertaken during the year.. 

The Committee noted the numerous audits undertaken in the past year (103), 
and the majority of ratings assessed as being Moderate, Minor or Negligible. 
The Chief Internal Auditor reported that only 2 reports were classed as 
presenting a Major Organisational Risk and that in both these areas actions 
had been agreed with management to improve arrangements, with both areas 
having further follow-up work scheduled during 2017/18.
 
Resolved – That the report be noted.

Page 4



7 ARMC ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 

The Chair, supported by the Chief Internal Auditor, introduced the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee Chair’s Annual Report 2016/17.
 
Prepared in consultation with Internal Audit, the Chair’s Annual Report for 
2016/17 had been compiled in accordance with the CIPFA best practice 
publication ‘A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees’.
 
The report informed how the Audit and Risk Management Committee had 
fulfilled its terms of reference during a challenging year and noted Member’s 
commitment to helping the development of standards and protocols across a 
wide range of governance areas, further assisting with improvements across 
the Council’s governance and control environments in a timely manner.
 
The Chair’s Annual Report further informed Members of specific matters 
regarding the Audit and Risk Management Committee’s core activities during 
the year.
 
Resolved - That the Annual Report 2016/17 of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee be approved and submitted to CABINET and to 
COUNCIL (for noting).

8 COUNTER FRAUD REPORT 

The Chief Internal Auditor introduced his report that provided Members of the 
Committee with details of the outcome of the recent periodic review of the 
Council’ overall Counter Fraud and Corruption arrangements and sought 
formal Committee approval for the proposed Counter-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy, Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, Fraud Response Plan and revised 
Anti-Bribery Policy.

Members noted that on completion the assessment tool measuring the 
Council’s effectiveness against five key principles of management of the risks 
of fraud and corruption a written statement had been generated by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA). The Chief Internal Auditor 
informed that he was comforted that the following activities having been 
assessed against three levels of performance ‘Good’, Basic’ and ‘Poor’ 
achieved the results as follows:

 Acknowledge responsibility – Good
 Identify Risks – Basic
 Develop Strategy – Basic
 Provide Resources – Good
 Take Action – Good
 Overall Assessment - Good

Page 5



Members noted that in aligning the Council’s Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on managing the risks of fraud and 
corruption, the Council continues to apply best practice. Members further 
noted that the adoption and promotion of an effective Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy helped the Council proactively encourage the detection of 
fraud and irregularities, and manage them appropriately.

The Chief Internal Auditor summarised his report stating that the Strategies 
and Policies named in his report be embedded within the culture of the 
Council and pro-actively be drawn to the attention of all employees and 
Members of the Council. To facilitate this, they were to be made available on 
the Council’s Intranet and Internet sites and e-learning packages. 

Resolved – That the following strategy and policy documents be 
approved -
 

(1) Counter-Fraud and Corruption Strategy (Appendix 1 to the report);

(2) Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy (Appendix 2 to the report);

(3) Fraud Response Plan (Appendix 3 to the report); and

(4) Revised Anti-Bribery Policy (Appendix 4 to the report).

9 ICT PROGRESS REPORT 

The Assistant Director: Law and Governance and interim Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO) introduced his report that provided Members with a 
progress update on actions taken by Digital Officers to remove and mitigate 
risk associated with underinvestment in IT infrastructure in the past. He 
informed that the former Head of Digital  and SIRO had provided a verbal 
report to the Committee at its 30 January 2017 (minute 43 refers), and that 
Members had subsequently requested a written report and attendance of a 
senior member of Digital to attend the June meeting. 

The Assistant Director: Law and Governance and interim Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO) referred Members to Appendix 1 of his report, informing 
that the Data Centre Review IT (project 15054) under implementation 
currently showed no expected signs of slippage, and delivery for completion 
was scheduled for 29 September 2017. The project included use of the 
Merseytravel datacentre as part of the Council’s IT Contingency and Disaster 
Recovery.

Mr George Mallam, Business Change Manager and Project Manager for the 
Data Centre Review IT project informed the Committee of key elements of the 
project, namely:

Page 6



 Use of 2 data centres to improve resilience;
 Compression of computer data racks from 22 to 8 (due to a mixture of 

available space and improvements in computer technology);
 Simplification of IT Structures;
 Reduction of the number of servers required from 33 to 4; and
 Transfer of Production Services.

Members questioned the Business Change Manager on specific elements of 
risk i.e. recent well publicised cyber-attacks and data security, and whether 
the Council had been affected in any way. Members were assured that as a 
result of the Council’s current systems, no such attacks had been successful 
and no loss of service had occurred.

The Assistant Director: Law and Governance and interim Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO) informed Members that a further update report would be 
presented to the next meeting of the Audit and Risk management Committee, 
and that information on the project would be circulated to Members outside of 
the Committee meeting cycle.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

Councillor Les Rowlands declared a pecuniary interest in this item by virtue of 
his membership of Merseytravel. He left the meeting room whilst the matter 
was debated.

10 PROCUREMENT - USE OF PROCEDURE RULES APPROVAL 
DOCUMENT PERMITTED UNDER THE COUNCIL CONTRACT 
PROCEDURE RULES 

The Assistant Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer introduced the report 
of the Head of Procurement that informed the Committee of the range, and 
number of, contracts awarded which had been subject to Contracts Procedure 
Rules (“CPRs”) Rule12 Extension/Variation; Rule 11 Waiving the Rules, as 
required under the CPRs.

The report appendix detailed the contracts subject to the Extension/Variation 
or Waiver rules for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 that under 
Contracts Procedure Rule 16 were required to be reported to Audit and Risk 
Management Committee:-:

a) A contract is awarded the total value of which exceeds £500,000.
b) A variation or extension to a contract approved by the Assistant 

Director of Finance (S151 Officer) and by others as per the Appendix.
c) A waiver or breach of the Contract Procedure Rules in relation to a 

contract which exceeds £50,000 in value.

Page 7



The Assistant Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer informed that 142 
Procedure Rules Approval Documents (PRADs) had been actioned during the 
year, with 69 exceptions to the CPRs having been approved. The remaining 
PRADs as detailed in the report appendix were as follows:  

 Extensions 47 (extended within contract terms)
 Variations 12 (within the interests the Council)
 Awards 14 (over £500,000, under a full tender)

 Members questioned the Assistant Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer 
on who had responsibility for exceptions and the expenditure quoted in 
relation to contract extensions for temporary workers.  

The Committee were advised that each contract extension had to be 
permissible under the terms of the initial contract and was the subject of a 
review considering performance and value for money. These considerations 
were primary to permissions being granted, often providing a financial saving 
to the Council.

Members commented on the detail of the report appendix finding it most 
helpful in understanding the compliance with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules against an overall third party spend of in excess of £170 
million during 2016/17.
 
Resolved – That

(1) the report be noted; and

(2) further updates be provided to Committee on a six monthly basis.

Councillor Jeff Green declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item by virtue 
of his membership of Magenta Housing. He remained in the meeting room 
whilst the matter was debated.

11 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016-17 

The Assistant Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer introduced the report 
of the Chief Executive that set out the draft Annual Governance Statement 
and  Action Plan for 2016-17.

The Assistant Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer informed that the 
draft Annual Governance Statement 2016-17 covered the period from April 
2016 to March 2017 and therefore the significant governance issues identified 
are those which relate to this period. He further informed that progress had 
been made in relation to the compliance issues including performance 
appraisal (item of separate report on the meeting agenda, minute 4 refers) 
and Contract Procedure Rules (minute 10 refers)., The Statement recognises 

Page 8



that compliance issues remained outstanding and were retained on the action 
plan.

Issues relating to IT (minute 9 refers) has been included in the Action Plan. 
Whilst progress has been made, and continues to be made, the issues were 
such that this merited inclusion in the Action Plan..

The report informed that the Annual Governance Statement 2016/17 Action 
Plan outlined the progress that had been made to date on the aforementioned 
outstanding compliance issues. This progress had included regular updates to 
this Committee and the report set out the manner in which the Council would 
continue to ensure the issues were addressed during the current Municipal 
Year.

The Committee noted that the draft Annual Governance Statement followed 
the previously utilised format, summarising the significant governance issues 
identified during 2016/17, together with a detailed report that set out the 
following key points under the headings:

 Scope of Responsibility; 
 What is Corporate Governance?
 The Purpose of the Governance Framework;
 The Governance Framework – monitored against the CIPFA/SOLACE 

framework that identified seven core principles of governance best 
practice;

 Review of Effectiveness – that included information on Internal and 
External Audit, Responsible Officer and key items of report namely the 
Children’s Services Ofsted Inspection 2016, Serious Case Review and 
ICT Business Continuity and Resilience Planning;

 Significant Governance Issues and Action Plan; and
 Certification

 
Members commented on a number of matters of report, questioning the level 
of reputational risk that could occur should there be insufficient holding to 
account of Members, Officers and/or particular Service Areas.

The External Auditor provided additional information to Members, informing 
that the draft Annual Governance Statement can be updated prior to 
consideration by Cabinet and sign-off by the Leader of the Council, and that 
the use of ‘significant’ in the context of the Issues and High Level Action Plan 
referred to those issues in relation to the Council achieving its vision. 
Additional detailed information relating to the actioned may be found 
elsewhere in supporting documentation held within Internal Audit.

The Chair recommended that the reporting of the Annual Governance 
Statement Action Plan to each meeting of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee would ensure progress on each issue be closely monitored.  

Page 9



Resolved – That

(1) the report be updated to indicate the receipt of further letters from 
Ofsted and the guidance and input from the DfEE;

(2) the steps that will be taken to account for their observations be 
noted;

(3) subject to the above amendments, the Annual Governance 
Statement and Action Plan be approved and presented to the July 
2017 meeting of the CABINET; and

(4) progress on the Annual Governance Statement Action Plan shall 
be reported to each meeting of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

12 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER: UPDATE 

The Manager: Insurance and Risk introduced the report of the Chief Executive 
which dealt with the forthcoming quarterly review of the Corporate Risk 
Register. A summary of the status of key mitigating actions for the existing 
Corporate Risks at the end of the Municipal Year 2016/17 were appended to 
the report. The Manager: Insurance and Risk informed that the report was 
currently in draft format and was shortly to be reviewed by the Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) of the Council, and that an updated version would be 
circulated to the Committee, and that any significant changes to the content 
would be highlighted to Members.

The report informed that all mitigating actions appeared to be progressing as 
planned with the exception of:

 The development of extra care housing (Risk 5: Integration of Health 
and Social Care)

 Review of the Members’ Code of Conduct (Risk 8: Governance)
 Implementation of the new Asset Strategy (Risk 10: Resources and 

Infrastructure) 

A Member questioned the accuracy of the level of risk reported relating to 
Safeguarding, given the resignation of the Chair of the Improvement Board. 
The Manager: Insurance and Risk informed that the position relating to the 
Safeguarding risk will form part of the Quarter 4 review, and that as there had 
been a number of recent changes this will have to be considered. He added 
that each of the controls relating to the Q4 summary listing (snapshot report) 
were held in the full Risk Register. Review by the SLT would address 
progress in relation to the management of corporate risks as well as emerging 
risk areas for possible addition to the register. 

Page 10



Resolved – That

1) the report be noted; and

2) that further reports on the Corporate Risk Register be brought to 
future meetings of this Committee.

13 MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE AND CORPORATE RISK 

The Manager: Insurance and Risk introduced the report of the Assistant 
Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer that set out the key actions to be 
taken in relation to key actions planned for corporate risk and insurance 
management during 2017/18 and highlighted any key decisions that needed 
to be made. Recent progress made in relation to key actions planned for the 
current year was also included.

The report informed that regular update reports would continue to be 
presented to the Committee on work in relation to risk management and 
insurance in support of the Risk Management framework, thereby maintaining 
the successful management of the Council’s insurance programme.

The report highlighted a number of key points, namely:

 Alignment of Risk management and Performance Management;
 Corporate Risk Register – subject of a separate report on the meeting 

agenda (minute 12 refers);
 Traded Service for Schools and Academies;
 Corporate Insurance Budget; 
 Policy Renewals – April 2017;
 Tender for casualty and Computer Insurance;
 Policy Renewals - June 2017; Claims Handling Changes; and
 Staffing Changes

Resolved – That the report be noted.

14 INSURANCE FUND ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 

The Manager: Insurance and Risk introduced the report of the Assistant 
Director: Finance and Section 151 Officer that provided a review of Risk and 
Insurance activity during 2016/17 and the plans for 2017/18 and beyond. It 
detailed the underwriting arrangements and recent loss histories for the 
principal areas of insured risk and described the impact of measures taken to 
improve their management. The provisions and reserves within the Insurance 
Fund at the end of 2016/17 were also confirmed.

Members attention was drawn to paragraphs 3.12 and 3.43 of the report that 
informed that:

Page 11



“the rate of receipt of new Public Liability (PL) claims had continued to fall. 
During 2016/17 a total of 228 new claims were received. This was a 37% 
reduction over 2015/16 and a cumulative 53% fall over 5 years. The reduction 
of volume over the last few years will be partially attributable to the 
outsourcing of services, the community asset transfer program and the 
change to Academy status of many of the larger secondary schools. Whilst 
the majority of claims continue to relate to simple highway slips and trips a 
proportion are significantly more complex involving abuse, defamation, 
bullying and harassment, failure to educate, disease, tree related subsidence, 
nuisance and social services matters for both failure to remove and / or 
inappropriate removal” and that:

“the closedown of the Insurance Fund accounts for 2016/17 and review / 
amendment of the reserves and provisions held within it had therefore 
resulted in the following key actions.  

a. The release of £2m from the provision and reserve for Liability claims to 
the General Fund; and

b. The release of £500,000 from the reserve for Property claims to the 
General Fund”

Members noted the report and thanked the officers for their efforts and good 
working across departments.

Resolved – That

(1) the Committee endorse the release of monies from the Insurance 
Fund to the General Fund as follows: 

a. the release of £2m from the provision and reserve for 
Liability claims to the General Fund; and

b. the release of £500,000 from the reserve for Property claims 
to the General Fund; and

(2) the Insurance Fund Budget 2018/19 be prepared for presentation 
to this Committee in January 2018.

15 EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

Mr Robin Baker of Grant Thornton UK LLP, the Council’s external auditors, 
presented a report to Members on work undertaken with regard to progress in 
the delivery of their responsibilities as External Auditor covering the Year 
ending 31 March 2017. The report informed that:
 

Page 12



The Chair questioned the Auditor on a statement that had been made 
inferring that the External Auditor had been impeded by Council in the matter 
of information requests relating to the Council’s borrowing (referred to as 
LOBO’s, Lender Option, Borrower Option loans). The Auditor was quite happy 
to dispel this claim having received the support and information requested. 
Across the country a number of authorities had received similar objections to 
their 2015/16 Accounts.  Further advice on these matters was being sought 
and once completed the matter(s) would be reported to both the Council and 
the Objector.
 
The Auditor provided a brief update on a number of key areas contained 
within his report that included:

 Understanding the challenges and opportunities that faced the Council;

 Developments and requirements relevant to the audit – taking account 
of national audit requirements as set out in the Code of Audit Practice;

 The concept of ‘Materiality’ – and that for the purposes of planning the 
audit the external auditors had determined a figure of £13,803k (being 
1.9% of gross revenue expenditure – compared to a figure of £13,713k 
the previous year); and

 Significant Risks as set out under ISA 240 – The external auditor 
identified three such presumed risks, and set out substantive audit 
procedures (completed and planned) in each case. Three additional 
significant risks were listed but fell outside ISA 240, again in each case, 
Members were apprised of planned work.

The external auditor concluded his report detailing his Value for Money 
assessment and fees summary.
 
Resolved:  That the report be noted.

16 EXTERNAL AUDIT FEE LETTER 2017/18 

Mr Robin Baker of Grant Thornton UK LLP, the Council’s external auditors, 
presented a short verbal report to accompany his letter dated 19 April 2017 
that detailed the Planned Audit Fee for 2017/18, Scope of the Audit Fee, 
Value for Money Conclusion, Billing Schedule and Outline Timetable.

Members noted that this would be the final year of external audit by Grant 
Thornton UK LLP under the current contract arrangements, and that Grant 
Thornton had already started to progress work in terms of bids for public 
sector contracts in the future.

Page 13



Members further noted the content of the Audit Fee Letter which stated that 
the Council’s scale fee for 2017/18 had been set by the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd (PSAA) at £159,863 (the same level as the scale fees 
applicable for 2016/17).  

Areas covered in the External Auditor’s Letter included:

 Value for Money conclusion – the External Auditor is required to 
consider whether the Council has put into place proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources; and

 Scope of the Audit Fee – the scale fee covers – audit of the Council’s 
Financial Statements, work to reach a conclusion on economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of Council resources, and work 
on the Council’s whole of government accounts return.

 
The Letter further provided information of the Fee charge for the Pension 
Fund Audit of £36,882 (Mar 2018) and Grant Certification (figure to be 
confirmed).
 
Resolved:  That the report be noted.

17 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) 

The Group Solicitor introduced the report of the Assistant Director: Law and 
Governance that presented a summary of the use of covert surveillance by 
the Council, to detect evidence of criminal behaviour, between 1 November 
2016 and 31 May 2017. 

The report informed that during this period, the Council had used covert 
surveillance with the intention of detecting evidence of criminal behaviour, and 
that on 6 January and 22 May 2017 magistrates had approved authorisations 
to use covert surveillance to detect suspected illegal flytipping at sites in the 
Wirral.

Members were further informed that the Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Team 
obtained on 1 December 2016 approval from a magistrate to conduct covert 
surveillance to detect suspected criminal damage and harassment of 
residents in an area of Wirral.

Members were apprised that, on 11 May 2017 a 22 year old man had been 
sentenced to 200 hours unpaid community works for 3 offences of fly tipping 
in Kelvinside Industrial Estate, Seacombe. The Court also order him to pay 
£450 in compensation to the Council for the cost of clearing up the site and 
£500 as a contribution to the prosecution costs together with a victim 
surcharge of £85 (a total penalty £1,035).

Page 14



 
Resolved – That the report be noted.

18 ARMC TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 

The Chair introduced the report of the Chief Internal Auditor that provided 
Members with feedback from a recent training and development session 
provided to Members of this Committee by a professional trainer representing 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants (CIPFA). The focus of 
the training had been on the role of the Audit Committee in the public sector 
and the aim was to inform and enlighten Members regarding their individual 
role and responsibilities in operating an effective Audit Committee.

The Chief Internal Auditor informed that the timing of the training had been 
such that not all Members had been in a position to attend and that with the 
Committee’s consent further training sessions be arranged for the future.

Resolved – That further ‘targeted’ training sessions be provided to 
Members during 2017/18.

19 MATTERS FOR ESCALATION TO CABINET 

Reference minute 5 above (Internal Audit Update), at the request of Councillor 
P Gilchrist, duly seconded, it was

Resolved – That the matter of Attendance Management be escalated to 
Cabinet, and that:

(1) Assurance be sought on the issue of compliance regarding the 
recording of absences has been addressed, that these are 
properly recorded, lessons are learned, and appropriate actions 
taken; and

(2) CABINET be requested to track data in sufficient depth so that 
areas of concern are correctly identified to provide assurance.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE

REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR

REPORT SUMMARY
This report identifies and evaluates the performance of the Internal Audit Service 
and includes details of any issues arising from the actual work undertaken during the 
period 1st June to 31st August 2017. There are three items of note concerning audit 
work undertaken that are brought to the attention of the Members for this period and 
these are identified at Section 3.2.

RECOMMENDATION

Members note the report.

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION
1.1 To provide the Members with assurance that the Council is taking appropriate 

measures to ensure that the control environment is effective and to comply 
with statutory requirements to provide an adequate and effective internal audit 
service.

1.2 To ensure that risks to the Council are managed effectively.

1.3 To ensure that the Council complies with best practice guidance identified in 
the CIPFA publication ‘A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees’.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
2.1 No other options considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND AUDIT OUTPUT
3.1. Internal Audit operate an effective reporting mechanism for Members of the 

Audit and Risk Management Committee that summarises audit work 
completed and identifies issues raised on timely bi-monthly basis. This report 
supports these arrangements by focussing on the following:

 Any items of note arising from audit work conducted, 
 Any issues arising that require actions to be taken by Members,
 Performance information relating to the Internal Audit Service,
 Developments being undertaken to improve the effectiveness of the 

Internal Audit Service. 

The information contained within this report is for the period 1st June to 31st 
August 2017.

3.2. Items of Note 

3.2.a Benefits – Discretionary Housing Payments

An audit has been conducted as part of the Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18 to 
review the progress made by the HB Service in implementing the 
recommendations made in the audit report into Discretionary Housing 
Payments and previously reported to this Committee during 2016/17 The 
objective of the audit was to review the 11 recommendations made within the 
DHP reports and assess whether they have been effectively implemented into 
the system by the examination of appropriate evidence. The draft report is 
currently with Senior Managers awaiting final approval, but the audit identified 
that significant progress has been made to date to improve the internal control 
environment for the DHP processes and the overall opinion for the system in 
respect to the ‘Organisational Risk’ is now minor.

Page 18



3.2.b Payroll – Teachers’ Pension Payments

The external audit by Grant Thornton has identified an issue in respect to the 
payment of enhancements under the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) to 
former teachers who have now retired. 

In response to this external audit finding, Internal Audit have undertaken a 
review that included an examination of 6 transactions from the Teachers 
Pensioners payroll. By referral to the records available to Human Resource 
and the Registrars we were able to obtain information to confirm that:

 All were employees at a Wirral School.
 All were members of the TPS.
 All were eligible to receive an enhancement from WMBC to their TPS 

pension.
 In each case there is a calculation of the payment due as an 

enhancement to the TPS.
 No death certificates have been issued in respect to the relevant retired 

teachers.

Audit recommendations are currently being formulated to implement an 
effective control environment for the system of payments on the Teachers 
Pensioners payroll and they will be presented to the Director of Finance for 
approval. These will include liaison with the TPS over the potential for data 
matching together with actions to enhance: overall management and 
responsibility; policy and procedures; supporting documentation; and 
continuous validity testing.

3.2.c ARMC Member Training

Following discussion at previous meetings of this Committee regarding the 
organisation and delivery of a repeat of a specific targeted training session for 
Members on the ‘Role and Responsibility of an Effective Audit Committee’ 
arrangements have been made with the external CIPFA trainer previously 
responsible for this and a provisional date of the 22 November 2017 between 
13.00hrs and 16.00hrs agreed for delivery.  All Members of this Committee 
who have not yet attended this training are requested to confirm attendance 
and where they are unavailable for whatever reason to please ensure that a 
suitable deputy is nominated.

3.3 Outstanding Audit Recommendations

3.3.a Attached at Appendix 1 is a ‘tracker’ table identifying information relating to 
those audits where recommended actions included in audit reports for 
2016/17 and the current year to date have not been fully implemented within 
agreed timescales and yet still present a serious risk. 

3.3.b Where items are addressed by officers those entries are removed from the 
report on a rolling basis.

Page 19



3.3.c All of the reports identifying outstanding actions are currently BRAG rated as 
‘amber’ indicating that progress is being made to address identified issues

3.4 Internal Audit Performance Indicators

3.4.a The Service constantly evaluates and measures the effectiveness of its 
performance in terms of both quality and productivity by means of a number 
of performance indicators in key areas as identified below. These include 
delivery of the annual Internal Audit Plan and ensuring that all of the audits 
identified in the plan are completed on schedule. This is particularly important 
at the present time as the requirement for Internal Audit involvement in a 
number of important corporate initiatives has increased dramatically. 

IA Performance Indicator Target Actual 

Percentage delivery of Internal Audit Plan 
2017/18.

35 32

Percentage of High priority recommendations 
agreed with clients.

100 100

Percentage of returned client survey forms for 
the reporting period indicating satisfaction 
with the Internal Audit service.

90 100

Percentage of internal audit reports issued 
within 10 days of the completion of fieldwork.

100 98

3.4.b There are currently no significant issues arising.

3.5 Internal Audit Developments

3.5.a Continuous Improvement 

This is important to the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the Internal 
Audit Service and as such a Continuous Internal Audit Improvement and 
Development Plan has been formulated that incorporates new and developing 
areas of best practice from across the profession, ensuring that the service 
continues to constantly challenge how efficient and effective it is at delivering 
its service to all of its stakeholders and making any relevant changes and 
improvements as required. Some of the actions currently ongoing include:

 Ongoing development and implementation of a more streamlined and 
dynamic AGS working to allow for further changes made to the 
CIPFA/SOLACE best practice guidance;

 Ongoing improvement of corporate counter fraud awareness across the 
Council;

Page 20



 Continuing development of automated working papers to evidence and 
support audit findings;

 Further development of the Mersey Region Counter Fraud group led by 
Wirral Internal Audit to include joint fraud exercises and training across 
the local region and the North West of England;

 Continuing development of the use of computer assisted auditing 
techniques in the evaluation and testing of system controls for more 
effective and efficient auditing;

 Ongoing implementation of paperless working environment;
 Implementation of more streamlined planning process for 2017/18;
 Development and implementation of a revised Internal Audit Manual that 

complies with current best practice as identified in Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
4.1 There are none arising from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 There are none arising from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
6.1 There is none arising from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
7.1 Appropriate actions are not taken by officers and Members in response to the 

identification of risks to the achievement of the Council’s objectives.

7.2 Potential failure of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to comply with 
best professional practice and thereby not function in an efficient and effective 
manner.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
8.1 Members of this Committee are consulted throughout the process of 

delivering the Internal Audit Plan and the content of this regular routine report.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark P Niblock
Chief Internal Auditor
telephone:  0151 666 3432
email:   markniblock@wirral.gov.uk 

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Audit Recommendations Status Report

Page 21



REFERENCE MATERIAL
Internal Audit Plan 2017/18

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Audit and Risk Management Committee Routine report presented 

to all meetings of this 

Committee.

Page 22



INTERNAL AUDIT OUTSTANDING AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

PERIOD: 01 APRIL 2016 TO 30 AUGUST 2017

Summary Total R  A 

1.   Completed Audits 3 0 3

2.   Follow Up Audits Completed 1 0 1

3.   Advice And Guidance / Consultancy 0 0 0

Page 1

P
age 23



INTERNAL AUDIT OUTSTANDING AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

PERIOD: 01 APRIL 2016 TO 30 AUGUST 2017

1.   Completed Audits - RED or AMBER flag

Audit Date Audit Area as per plan
Organisational 

Risk
Summary of Findings and Conclusions

Total Recs 

(H,M)

Implementation timescale 

for all actions

Responsible Officer

Status
RAGB 

Status

Investments 16/17 23/03/2017 Delivery

Moderate

Actions to ensure:

• Advisory services provided to the Fund comply with the 

Contract Procedure Rules pending the development and use of 

the national consultancy frameworks.

• Members are explicitly informed of the key developments and 

issues in respect to the agreed actions from previous 

committee reports.

3 (1,1) August 2017

Director - Merseyside 

Pension Fund

Final Report issued and recommendations 

agreed with the Senior Investments 

Manager & Group Accountant. 

The Follow-Up Audit is currently being 

undertaken.
A

Whistleblowing 28/03/2017 Business Services

Moderate

Actions to ensure:

• Periodically update the Policy & Procedure to reflect the 

current operating environment 

• Speedy flow of documentation & information from Designation 

to Investigation Officer  , Law & Governance to review the 

system and report to Senior Management and ARMC                                                          

3 (0) April 2017 

Assistant Director Law & 

Governance

Final Report issued and recommendations 

agreed with the Governance and Practice 

Manager.

A

Sickness Absence 29/03/2017 Business Services

Major

Actions to ensure:

• Retraining of Line Managers on Policy, ensure they are held 

responsible for non-compliance with the policy

• Senior Management & HR to come up with stricter procedures 

which will emphasise the importance of fully adherence to 

policy by Line Managers.  Periodic reviews of the system by an 

HR practitioner should be considered                                           

• Line Managers should fully document cases of absence, 

communicate with HR on triggers, long-term sickness, referrals 

etc.  as per policy

4 (3) March 2018

Assistant Director - 

HR/OD

Corporate Governance Group overseeing 

implemetation of actions. Regular reporting 

to ARMC via the SGI Action Plan.

A

Page 2

P
age 24



INTERNAL AUDIT OUTSTANDING AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

PERIOD: 01 APRIL 2016 TO 30 AUGUST 2017

2.   Follow Up Audits Completed - RED or AMBER flag

Audit
Follow up 

date

Original 

Report 

date

Audit Area as per plan

Organisational 

Risk

Position as at the 

date of the 

original audit

Summary of Findings and Conclusions
Original Total 

Recs (H,M)

Implementation timescale 

for all actions

Responsible Officer

Status

RAGB 

Status - 

Current 

position

Organisational 

Risk -

Current Position

Data Loss Prevention 07/11/2016 Oct 14 Authority-Wide

Major

A DLP policy for the management of information assets 

should be produced, agreed by the Information Governance 

Board, and made available to all staff.  This will ensure the 

correct management of information via the delivery of a 

technical solution by IT Services and the development and 

enforcement of appropriate working practices by Information 

Asset Owners.

3 (3) January 2017

Information Governance 

Board

The Head of Digital reported at the January ARMC 

meeting that the project will be complete by May 

2017.

This area is included in the draft Internal Audit plan 

for 2017/18.

A Major

Page 3

P
age 25



KEY:

MAJOR

MODERATE

MINOR

NEGLIGIBLE

Audits All actions agreed and implemented, with no further Internal Audit action necessary.

Follow Ups All actions implemented, with no further Internal Audit action necessary.

Audits Most actions agreed and implemented, e.g. low priority recommendations are outstanding, with no further Internal Audit action 

planned.

Follow Ups Most actions implemented, e.g. low priority recommendations are outstanding, with no further Internal Audit action planned.

Audits Actions agreed and officers committed to implement within agreed timescale.

Follow Ups Actions in process of being implemented within agreed timescale with some implemented.

Audits Actions agreed

Follow Ups Little or no progress made to implement actions within agreed timescale.

HIGH

MEDIUM

LOW

A negligible organisational risk opinion indicates that there were no weaknesses identified during the review and that the Council is not exposed to any risks 

directly associated with the findings.

A major organisational risk opinion indicates that the likelihood/impact of the risks identified during the review, should they materialise, would leave the 

Council open to major risk of a fundamental or material nature. This opinion suggests that there are some potentially serious weaknesses in the design 

and/or operation of the control environment that may have a significant impact on the achievement of systems and or corporate objectives if not addressed.

A moderate organisational risk opinion indicates that the likelihood/impact of the risks identified during the review, should they materialise would leave the 

Council open to moderate risk of a fundamental or material nature. This opinion suggests that there are some weaknesses in the design and/or operation of 

the control environment that may have varying degrees of impact on the achievement of the systems and/or corporate objectives.

A minor organisational risk opinion indicates that the likelihood/impact of the risks identified during the review, should they materialise, would leave the 

Council open to minor risk.

Organisational Risk

G

R

RAGB status

A matter that is fundamental to the control environment for the specific area under review. 

The matter may cause a system objective not to be met. 

This needs to be addressed as a matter of urgency (suggested timescale: within one month).

A matter that is significant to the control environment for the specific area under review. 

The matter may threaten the achievement of a system objective.

A matter that requires attention and would improve the control environment for the specific area under review.

The matter may impact on the achievement of a system objective.

 A 

Recommendation Priority Rating

B

Page 4

P
age 26



PENSIONS COMMITTEE 17 JULY 2017

MINUTE EXTRACT

4 AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT

Members gave consideration to the Audit Findings Report 2016 - 2017 prepared by 
Grant Thornton UK LLP. Grant Patterson, Engagement Lead, attended the meeting 
and reported upon the key issues contained in the report and responded to Members 
questions.

 It was reported that the audit was now substantially complete and it was anticipated 
that an unqualified audit opinion would be provided in respect of the financial 
statements as shown in Appendix A: Audit opinion of the report.

The report confirmed that there were no significant facts or matters that impacted on 
the independence as auditors that were required or wished to be drawn to the 
Committee’s attention.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

Page 27

Agenda Item 4a



This page is intentionally left blank



PENSIONS COMMITTEE 17 JULY 2017

MINUTE EXTRACT

5 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/17 AND LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

Members gave consideration to a report of the Section 151 Officer that presented 
Members with the audited statement of accounts of Merseyside Pension Fund for 
2016/17 and responded to the Audit Findings Report from Grant Thornton.

Donna Smith, Group Accountant, informed the Committee that subject to outstanding 
work, Grant Thornton had indicated there would be an unqualified opinion and there 
were no adjustments affecting the Fund’s reported financial position for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 of net assets of £8.2bn and no recommendations.

It was reported that Grant Thornton’s report had expressed a positive outcome from 
their audit of the accounts and referred to the accounts being prepared to a good 
standard with good supporting working papers.

Members noted that the Statement of Accounts, including notes had been prepared 
and available for audit by 31 May 2017, a month ahead of the statutory deadline.  
The audit had also been undertaken to a revised timetable, in preparation for revised 
statutory deadlines that come into force for 2017/18 reporting.

Resolved – That 

1. having considered the amendments to the accounts, the Audit Findings 
Report and the Letter of Representation the audited Statement of 
Accounts for 2016/17 be approved.

2. the recommendations be referred to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

3. congratulations be offered to Donna Smith, Group Accountant and the 
team for producing this work within the timescale.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

..

The Audit Findings

for Merseyside Pension Fund

Year ended 31 March 2017

6 July 2017

Grant Patterson

Engagement Lead

T 0121 232 5296

E grant.b.patterson@uk.gt.com

Heather Green 

Engagement Manager

T 0161 234 6381 

E heather.green@uk.gt.com 

Chris Blakemore 

In Charge Auditor

T 0161 214 6397 

E chris.blakemore@uk.gt.com 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 4b



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund |  2016/17 

DRAFT

2

Private and Confidential

Chartered Accountants

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.

A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and

its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details..

Private and Confidential

This Audit Findings report highlights the significant findings arising from the audit for the benefit of those charged with governance (in the case of Merseyside Pension 

Fund, the Audit and Risk Management Committee), as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with management of the Pension Fund and the Pensions Committee. 

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) ('ISA (UK&I)'), which is directed towards 

forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of 

the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 

purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, 

where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or 

other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility 

for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, 

any other purpose.

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Yours sincerely

Grant Patterson

Engagement Lead

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

4 Hardman Square

Spinningfields

Manchester

M3 3EB

T 0161 953 6900

www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

Dear Members

Audit Findings for Merseyside Pension Fund for the year ending 31 March 2017

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Wirral Council

Wallasey Town Hall 

Brighton Street

Wallasey

CH44 8ED 

6 July 2017

P
age 32



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 3

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 4

2. Audit findings 7

3. Fees, non-audit services and independence 18

4. Communication of audit matters 20

Appendices

A Audit opinion

P
age 33



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

Section 1: Executive summary

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

04. Communication of audit matters

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

P
age 34



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 5

Executive summary

Purpose of this report

This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Merseyside Pension 

Fund ('the Fund') and the preparation of the Fund's financial statements for the 

year ended 31 March 2017. It is also used to report our audit findings to 

management and those charged with governance in accordance with the 

requirements of ISA (UK&I) 260,  and the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 ('the Act').  

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 

are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Fund's financial statements give  

a true and fair view of the financial position of the Fund. 

Introduction

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to significantly alter or change our 

audit approach, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated February 

2017.  

Our audit plan assumed that investments categorised as Level 2 (based upon 

accounting standards and taking into account the PRAG Practical Guidance: 

Investment Disclosures May 2016) would not be material.  Your review and 

restatement based upon the PRAG guidance resulted in Level 2 investments 

becoming material and we have undertaken enhanced procedures on these 

investments as a result of this change.

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in the 

following areas: 

• Clearance of outstanding queries on investments and benefits payable

• review of the final version of the financial statements

• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation, and

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion

Key audit and financial reporting issues

Financial statements opinion

We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers at the 

commencement of our work, in accordance with the agreed timetable.

We have not identified any adjustments affecting the Fund's reported financial 

position for the year ended 31 March 2017 of net assets of £8,178,485k.  We have 

agreed a small number of disclosure adjustments to improve the presentation of the 

financial statements and annual report.

The key messages arising from our audit of the Fund's financial statements are:

• Draft accounts were prepared and available for audit by 31 May 2017, one month 

ahead of the statutory deadline, and meeting the revised timetable that comes into 

effect in 2018.

• The accounts were prepared to a good standard with good supporting working 

papers.  Our audit has not identified any significant amendments to the financial 

statements or annual report.

• We have agreed a small number of amendments to ensure disclosures are fully 

compliant with the requirements of the accounting standards.

Further details are set out in section two of this report.

We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 

statements (see Appendix B).

P
age 35



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 6

Executive summary

Controls

Roles and responsibilities

The Fund's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 

management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and monitoring 

the system of internal control.

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control 

weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control 

weaknesses, we report these to the Fund. 

Findings

We draw your attention in particular to control issues identified through the work 

of Internal Audit in respect of pension payments, which identified some errors in 

the calculation of lump sum and pension payments.  We considered the nature of 

these errors and concluded that there is no risk of material misstatement in the 

financial statements, and no indication of fraud.

We note that the fund has obtained and reviewed internal controls reports from 

the main mandate investment managers.  This review identified some minor 

controls weaknesses, but review my management has concluded that non of the 

weaknesses have any significant implications for the fund.  We have reviewed 

management’s assessment and concluded this is reasonable.

Further details are provided within section two of this report.

The way forward

Matters arising from the financial statements audit of the Fund have been 

discussed with the Director of Pensions and Group Accountant.

Acknowledgement

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

6 July 2017

P
age 36



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

Section 2: Audit findings

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

04. Communication of audit matters

P
age 37



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 8

Audit findings

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit. The standard 

states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £78,000k (being 1% of net assets at 31 December 2016). We have considered whether this level 

remained appropriate during the course of the audit.  Whilst net assets at 31 March 2017 were higher than at 31 December 2016, we determined that no change was required 

to our overall materiality.

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 

would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which 

misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £3,550k. This remains the same as reported in our audit plan. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we decided that separate materiality levels were appropriate. These remain the same as reported in 

our audit plan.

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level

Management expenses We will consider the completeness of disclosures to within 15% of the reported 

amounts

Due to public and political interest in these disclosures.

Related party transactions We will consider the completeness and accuracy of disclosures, taking account of 

materiality from the perspective of the fund and the related party

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the 

statutory requirement for them to be made.

Key Management Personnel We will consider the completeness and accuracy of disclosures to within 15% of the 

reported amounts or £15,000 (whichever is lower)

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the 

statutory requirement for them to be made.

Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, 

or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs 

of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK&I) 320)

P
age 38



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 9

Audit findings against significant risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may 

be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes 

that there is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud 

relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of 

the revenue streams at Merseyside Pension Fund, we have determined 

that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 

because:

 there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition.

 opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

 the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 

Wirral Council as the administering authority, mean that all forms of 

fraud are seen as unacceptable.

Our audit work has not identified any issues 

in respect of revenue recognition.

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities.

 Review entity level controls.

 Review of accounting estimates, judgments and decisions made by 

management.

 Testing of journal entries.

 Review of unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any 

evidence of management over-ride of 

controls. In particular the findings of our 

review of journal controls and testing of 

journal controls and testing of journal entries 

has not identified any significant issues. 

We set out later in this section of the report 

our work and findings on key accounting 

estimates and judgements. 

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 

presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature, 

and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK&I) 

315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's normal course of business as 

giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK&I) 550)

P
age 39



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 10

Audit findings against significant risks continued

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed

Assurance gained and issues 

arising

Level 3 Investments (Valuation is incorrect)

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant 

non-routine transactions and judgemental matters.  Level 

3 investments by their very nature require a significant 

degree of judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at 

year end.

 We have updated our understanding of your process for valuing 

Level 3  investments through discussions  with relevant personnel 

from the Pension Fund during the interim audit.

 We have performed walkthrough tests of the controls identified in 

the process.

 On a sample basis we have tested valuations by obtaining and 

reviewing the audited accounts at latest date for individual 

investments and agree these to the fund manager reports at that 

date. In addition reconciling  those values to the values at 31st

march with reference to known movements in the intervening 

period.

 Reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered 

what assurance management has over the year end valuations 

provided for these types of investments.

 For direct property investments agreed values in total to valuer's

report and undertaken steps to gain reliance on the valuer as an 

expert. 

Subject to clearance of the 

outstanding queries, our work has 

not identified any issues in respect 

of this risk.

Audit findings

We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to 

address these risks. 

P
age 40



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 11

Audit findings against other risks

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Investment Income Investment activity not 

valid. Investment 

income not accurate. 

(Accuracy)

 For those investments managed by external fund managers and custodied with 

Northern Trust, we have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the 

fund managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and sought 

explanations for variances

 For those assets not held by the custodian, we have reviewed the reconciliation of 

information provided by the fund managers and the Pension Fund's own records and 

sought explanations for variances

For all assets:

 Tested a sample of investment income to ensure it was appropriate

 Completed a predictive analytical review for different types of investments

 For direct property investments rationalised income against a list of properties for 

expected rental income. 

Subject to the clearance of 

outstanding queries, our work has not 

identified any significant issues in 

respect of this risk.

Investment 

purchases and 

sales

Investment activity not 

valid.

Investment valuation not 

correct

 For those investments managed by external fund managers and custodied with 

Northern Trust, we have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the 

fund managers, the custodian and the Pension Fund's own records and sought 

explanations for variances

 For those assets not held by the custodian, we have reviewed the reconciliation of 

information provided by the fund managers and the Pension Fund's own records and 

sought explanations for variances

For all assets:

 Tested a sample of purchases and sales to verify the occurrence and value of the 

transaction

Subject to the clearance of 

outstanding queries, our work has not 

identified any significant issues in 

respect of this risk.

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  Recommendations, together with management 

responses are attached at appendix A. 

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may 

relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated 

processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." 

(ISA (UK&I) 315) 

P
age 41



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 12

Audit findings against other risks continued
Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Investment values –

Level 2 investments

Valuation is incorrect. (Valuation 

net)

We did not identify this risk in our 

audit plan due to Level 2 

Investments not being material in 

prior years.  In 2016/17 you have 

classified a material value of 

investments in Level 2.

 For those investments managed by external fund managers and 

custodied with Northern Trust, we have reviewed the reconciliation of 

information provided by the fund managers, the custodian and the 

Pension Fund's own records and sought explanations for variances

 For those assets not held by the custodian, tested a sample of Level 2 

investments to independent information from custodian/manager on 

units and on unit prices.

Our work has not identified any 

significant issues in respect of this 

risk.

Contributions Recorded contributions not 

correct. (Occurrence)

 Controls testing over occurrence, completeness and accuracy of 

contributions 

 Tested a sample of contributions to source data to gain assurance over 

their accuracy and occurrence.

 Rationalised contributions received with reference to changes in 

member body payrolls and numbers of contributing pensioners to ensure 

that any unexpected trends are satisfactorily explained.

Our work has not identified any 

significant issues in respect of this risk

Benefits payable Benefits improperly 

computed/claims liability 

understated. (Completeness, 

accuracy and occurrence)

 Controls testing over, completeness, accuracy and occurrence of benefit 

payments. 

 Tested a sample new starter pensions in payment by reference to 

member files.

 Rationalised pensions paid with reference to changes in pensioner 

numbers and increases applied in the year to ensure that any unusual 

trends are satisfactorily explained.

 Confirmed the annual pension increase has been updated in the Altair 

system correctly

Subject to the clearance of 

outstanding queries, our work has not 

identified any significant issues in 

respect of this risk.

Member Data Member data not correct.  

(Rights and Obligations)

 Controls testing over annual/monthly reconciliations and verifications 

with individual members.

 Tested a sample of changes to member data made during the year to 

source documentation.

Our work has not identified any 

significant issues in respect of this 

risk.

Audit findings

P
age 42



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 13

Audit findings against other risks continued

Audit findings

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” 

(ISA (UK&I) 570). 

We reviewed the management's assessment of the going concern assumption and the disclosures in the financial statements and concluded that the going concern 

assumption is appropriate.

Fair Value Measurement Disclosures

The 2016/17 Accounting Code of Practice removes the scope exclusion on the disclosures for investments measured at fair value and introduces some new disclosure 

requirements in respect of Level 3 investments.  We identified a small number of disclosures that did not appear to be fully compliant with the requirements of the Code.

Management considered the new disclosure requirements, specifically in respect of the requirements of paragraph 2.10.4.1 of the Code, as part of the accounts 

preparation and concluded that these new disclosures were not required because they were either already covered by existing disclosure in the accounts, or, in the case of 

quantifiable sensitivity disclosures, because consultation with industry experts indicated that the required sensitivity information was not readily available. 

We have noted that paragraph 2.10.4.1 3(d) states that an authority is not required to create quantitative information to comply with this disclosure requirement if 

quantitative unobservable inputs are not developed by the authority when measuring fair value but that (i) requires a narrative description of the sensitivity of the fair 

value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs. As noted above the Fund’s current view is that iit does not develop the unobservable inputs and the inforrmation

is not readily available from its advisers and therefore it is not possible to fully comply with the Code at this time. We are satisfied that the omission of these disclosures 

is not significant to the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Fair Value Hierarchy

Note 14 to the financial statements provides the Fair Value Hierarchy, which classifies asset valuations into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of 

information used to determine fair values.  Following updated Pensions Research Accountants Group (PRAG) guidance (PRAG Practical Guidance: Investment Disclosures 

May 2016), the fund undertook a review of its fair value hierarchy classifications during 2016/17. Based upon this new information the fund has restated the disclosures 

for 2015/16. 

Our testing of investment valuations has included consideration of the appropriateness of the classification in the fair value hierarchy and we are satisfied that the 

judgements made by management are reasonable.

P
age 43



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 14

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Revenue 

recognition

 Normal contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis, 

and employer deficit funding is accounted for on the due date 

set by the scheme actuary or on receipt if earlier than the due 

date.

 Income from equities is accounted for when the related 

investment is quoted ex dividend.  Income from pooled 

investment vehicles and on short term deposits is accounted 

for on an accruals basis.  Distributions from private equity are 

treated as a return of capital until the book value is nil and 

then treated as income on an accruals basis.

 The revenue recognition policies are appropriate to the 

accounting framework and are adequately disclosed in the 

accounting policies.



(Green)

Judgements and 

estimates

Key estimates and judgements include:

• Valuation of unquoted investments within private equity, 

infrastructure property and other alternative investments.

 We have undertaken testing on a sample of unquoted 

investments to assess the appropriateness of the valuation.

 The key estimates and judgements relating to the valuation of 

unquoted investments are appropriate to the accounting 

framework and are disclosed within the accounting policies.

 The potential financial statement impact of different assumptions 

is adequately disclosed in Note 15 to the accounts.



(Green)

Going concern Officers have a reasonable expectation that the services provided 

by the Fund will continue for the foreseeable future.  For this 

reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 

preparing the financial statements.

We are satisfied with management's assessment that the going 

concern basis is appropriate for the 2016/17 financial statements.


(Green)

Other accounting 

policies

We have reviewed the Fund's policies against the requirements 

of the CIPFA Code and accounting standards.

Our review of accounting policies has not highlighted any issues 

which we wish to bring to your attention. The Fund's accounting 

policies are appropriate and consistent with previous years.



(Green)

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators

 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Fund's financial statements.  

P
age 44



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 15

Other communication requirements

Issue Commentary

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Pensions Committee.  We have 

not been made aware of any incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit 

procedures.

2. Matters in relation to related 

parties

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

3. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work.

4. Written representations  We have requested a standard letter of representation from the Fund.

5. Confirmation requests from 

third parties 

 We requested direct confirmations from the custodian and all main mandate fund managers, plus a sample of managers for 

alternative investments, for investment balances, income and purchases and sales.

 We have received confirmations from most managers and management are assisting us to chase those confirmations that remain 

outstanding.

6. Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

7. Matters on which we report by 

exception

 We are required to report by exception where the Pension Fund Annual Report is inconsistent with the financial statements.  We have 

not identified any issues we wish to report.

until this work has been completed.” 

Audit findings

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

P
age 45



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 16

Internal controls

As noted on page 6, we draw your attention in particular to control issues identified through the work of Internal Audit in respect of pension payments.  Internal 

Audit tested a sample of 20 new pension payments and lump sum payments during 2016/17.  In 2 of the cases tested, errors were identified in either the calculation of 

the lump sum payment or the first pension payment.  We have considered the nature of these errors and concluded that there is no risk of material misstatement in 

the financial statements, and no indication of fraud.  

Assessment Issue and risk Management Response

1.


Errors in the calculation of lump sum payments and pension

payments could result in losses to the fund, and under or 

overpayment to pensioners.  

Management have identified planned actions to address the issues identified.  The 

detailed Internal Audit Report and management response was considered by the 

Governance and Risk Working Party on 6th July 2017

Audit findings

Assessment

 Significant deficiency – risk of significant misstatement

 Deficiency – risk of inconsequential misstatement

The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient 

importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

"The purpose of an audit is for the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 

The matters being reported are limited to those deficiencies that the auditor has identified during 

the audit and that the auditor has concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported 

to those charged with governance." (ISA (UK&I) 265) 

P
age 46



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 17

Misclassifications and disclosure changes

Audit findings

Adjustment type Account balance Impact on the financial statements

1 Disclosure Note 5 - Estimation The prior year figures for unquoted assets referenced in note 5 was incorrect in the draft 

accounts.  This reference has been corrected to include the value of Direct Property 

investments.

2 Disclosure Note 14 – Fair Value 

Hierarchy

The narrative note to explain the restatement of the 2015/16 Fair Value Hierarchy has been 

amended to quantify the impact of the restatement.

3 Disclosure Various A small number of minor amendments have been agreed to improve the overall presentation 

of the financial statements

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

P
age 47



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

Section 3: Fees, non-audit services and independence

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

04. Communication of audit matters

P
age 48



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 19

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and confirm there were no fees for the provision of non audit services.

Independence and ethics

• We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our 

independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We 

have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and confirm that 

we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements.

• We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the 

requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

• For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP 

teams providing services to the Fund.  No non-audit or audit related services have 

been undertaken for the fund.

Fees, non audit services and independence

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).  The fee variation for 

IAS19 has yet to be agreed with PSAA, and has not been billed.

Fees

Proposed fee 

per Audit Plan

£

Actual fees

£

Pension fund scale fee 36,882 36,882

Agreed fee variation – IAS 19 (TBC) 2,180 2,180

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 39,062 39,062

P
age 49



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

Section 4: Communication of  audit matters

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Fees, non audit services and independence

04. Communication of audit matters

P
age 50



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 21

Communication to those charged with governance

Our communication plan

Audit 

Plan

Audit 

Findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged 

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit 

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 

Expected modifications to auditor's report, or emphasis of matter 

Unadjusted misstatements and material disclosure omissions 

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties 

Significant matters in relation to going concern  

ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters which we are required to 

communicate with those charged with governance, and which we set out in the table 

opposite.  

This document, The Audit Findings, outlines those key issues and other matters 

arising from the audit, which we consider should be communicated in writing rather 

than orally, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-

appointment/)

We have been appointed as the Fund's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 

broad remit covering finance and governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 

('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-

code/). Our work considers the Fund's key risks when reaching our conclusions 

under the Code. 

Communication of audit matters

P
age 51

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

Appendices

A. Audit Opinion

P
age 52



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 23

A: Audit opinion

We anticipate we will provide the Fund with an unmodified audit report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WIRRAL 

COUNCIL

We have audited the pension fund financial statements of Wirral Council (the 

"Authority") for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the "Act"). The pension fund financial statements comprise the Fund Account, 

the Net Assets Statement and the related notes.  The financial reporting framework that 

has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with 

Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of 

Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the members those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Head of Financial Services and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Head of Financial 

Services is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, 

which includes the pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper practices 

as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 

audit and express an opinion on the pension fund financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on 

behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”)  and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 

comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the pension fund financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 

give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the pension 

fund’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the Head of Financial Services; and the overall presentation of the 

pension fund financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 

Authority's Statement of Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited pension fund financial 

statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 

inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any 

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on the pension fund financial statements

In our opinion: 

the pension fund financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund 

during the year ended 31 March 2017 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and 

liabilities, other than liabilities to pay pensions and benefits after the end of the fund year; and

the pension fund financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited pension fund financial statements in 

the Authority's Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the audited pension fund financial statements.

Grant Patterson

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

Royal Liver Building, Liverpool L3 1PS

[Date] 

Appendices

P
age 53



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 24

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Merseyside Pension Fund on the 

consistency of the pension fund financial statements included in the Merseyside Pension 

Fund annual report

Opinion

The Merseyside Pension Fund financial statements of Wirral Council (the "Authority") for the 

year ended 31 March 2017 which comprise the fund account, the net assets statement and the 

related notes of Merseyside Pension Fund are derived from the audited pension fund financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 included in the Authority's Statement of Accounts 

(the “Statement of Accounts”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Merseyside Pension Fund financial statements are consistent, 

in all material respects, with the audited financial statements in accordance with proper practices 

as defined in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law.

Pension fund annual report - Pension fund financial statements 

The pension fund annual report and the pension fund financial statements do not reflect the 

effects of events that occurred subsequent to the date of our report on the Statement of 

Accounts. Reading the pension fund financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon is not a 

substitute for reading the audited Statement of Accounts and the auditor’s report thereon.

Who we are reporting to

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 

paragraph 20(5) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of 

the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Limited. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

members of the Authority those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report 

and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our 

audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

The audited financial statements and our Report thereon

We expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the pension fund financial statements in the 

Statement of Accounts in our report dated [**insert date of opinion on the financial statements 

in the Statement of Accounts**].

Head of Financial Services’s responsibilities for the pension fund financial statements in 

the pension fund annual report 

Under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 the Chief Financial Officer of 

the Authority is responsible for the preparation of the pension fund financial statements, which 

must include the fund account, the net asset statement and supporting notes and disclosures 

prepared in accordance with proper practices. Proper practices for the pension fund financial 

statements in both the Statement of Accounts and the pension fund annual report are set out in 

the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

2016/17. 

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the pension fund financial statements in 

the pension fund annual report are consistent, in all material respects, with the audited pension 

fund financial statements in the Statement of Accounts based on our procedures, which were 

conducted in accordance with International Standard on Auditing 810 (Revised), Engagements to 

Report on Summary Financial Statements.  

Grant Patterson

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

Royal Liver Building

Liverpool

L3 1PS

[Date of the auditor’s report]

Appendices

P
age 54



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund   |  2016/17 

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

17 JULY 2017

SUBJECT: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/17 – 
MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: SECTION 151 OFFICER

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present Members with the audited statement 

of accounts of Merseyside Pension Fund for 2016/17 and to respond to the 
Audit Findings Report from Grant Thornton.

1.2 Subject to outstanding work, Grant Thornton has indicated there will be an 
unqualified opinion and there are no adjustments affecting the Fund’s 
reported financial position for the year ended 31 March 2017 of net assets of 
£8.2bn and no recommendations.

1.3 Grant Thornton’s report expresses a positive outcome from their audit of the 
accounts and refers to the accounts being prepared to a good standard with 
good supporting working papers.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The purpose of the Statement of Audited Accounts is to present the overall 

financial position of the Pension Fund as at 31 March 2017 in accordance with 
prescribed guidance.

2.2 The Statement of Accounts, including notes were prepared and available for 
audit by 31 May 2017, a month ahead of the statutory deadline, the audit has 
also been undertaken to a revised timetable, in preparation for revised 
statutory deadlines that come into force for 2017/18 reporting.

2.3 Grant Thornton is close to completion of its audit of the accounts and the 
Audit Findings Report is on this agenda. They may provide a verbal update at 
the meeting on the report and officers will respond if necessary.

2.4 There are no adjustments affecting the Fund’s reported financial position for 
the year ended 31 March 2017 of net assets of £8.2bn.  A small number of 
disclosure adjustments to improve the presentation of the financial statements 
and annual report have been agreed.

Page 57

Agenda Item 4c



2.5 Within the audit findings report against controls, two issues have been 
brought to your attention by the auditor:

a) the lump sums and pension payment calculations work undertaken by internal 
audit has been reviewed by management with the conclusion that 
compensatory controls did exist, but there was a timing inefficiency.  The 
issue has now been resolved with changes in working practices.  The change 
to immediate payments during 2016/17 has further strengthened the control 
environment.

b) The Fund reviews internal control reports from main mandate investment 
managers on an annual basis; the review by the Fund did result in identifying 
control weaknesses, however, further assurances were obtained by the Fund 
on the issues identified.  Future reviews will be reported to Governance and 
Risk Working Party.

2.6 The audit findings report also reports of a small number of fair value 
measurements disclosures that did not appear to be fully compliant with the 
requirements of the Code, the Fund’s view is in some instances the 
information is already contained within other notes to the accounts, were it is 
not, the information was not readily available from its advisors, the Fund will 
continue to work with its advisors and Fund Managers.

2.7 I have prepared a Letter of Representation on behalf of the Committee which 
gives assurances to the Auditor on various aspects relating to the Pension 
Fund.

2.8 The Audit Opinion will be issued following final completion of the audit, 
consideration of the Audit Findings Report and approval of the amended 
Statement of Accounts at both the Pensions Committee and the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee. Once approved, Grant Thornton has indicated 
that they will again issue an unqualified opinion, and state that the accounts 
present fairly the financial position of Merseyside Pension Fund as at 31 
March 2017.  Subject to this, the accounts as now shown will form the basis 
of the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2017.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Not relevant for this report.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 Not relevant for this report.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 Not relevant for this report

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

Page 58



8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are no planning or community safety implications arising from this 

report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
13.1    That Pensions Committee approves the audited Statement of Accounts for 

2016/17, considers the amendments to the accounts, the Audit Findings 
Report and the Letter of Representation.

13.2 That Pensions Committee refers the recommendations to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 Under the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Audit Commission Code of 

Audit Practice for Local Government, the Auditor reports its findings on the 
audit of the Pension Fund Financial Statements to those charged with 
governance.

14.2 As the Pension Fund receives a separate Audit Findings Report, this report 
will first be considered by Pensions Committee, and then by Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.

REPORT AUTHOR: Donna Smith
Group Accountant
telephone (0151) 2421312
email donnasmith@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
1. The statement of accounts forms part of the draft annual report which is a 

separate item on the agenda at this Committee meeting.

Page 59



BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL

The Statement of Accounts plus relevant working papers and the Audit Findings 
Report from Grant Thornton were used in the production of this report.

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

PENSIONS COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

PENSIONS COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

PENSIONS COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

26 SEPTEMBER 2016

19 SEPTEMBER 2016

28 SEPTEMBER 2015

28 SEPTEMBER 2015

15 SEPTEMBER 2014

17 SEPTEMBER 2014

Page 60



Wirral Council

Business Services
Tom Sault
Assistant Director: Finance (S151)

PO Box 290,
Brighton Street, 
Wallasey,
Wirral.
CH27 9FQ

to Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS

date 25 September 2017

Dear Sirs

Merseyside Pension Fund
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the 
financial statements of Merseyside Pension Fund ('the Fund') for the year ended 
31 March 2017 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the 
Fund during the year ended 31 March 2017, and of the amount and disposition 
at that date of its assets and liabilities other than liabilities to pay pensions and 
benefits after the end of the Fund year, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 ('the Code') and 
applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such 
inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing 
ourselves:

Financial Statements

1 We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with proper practices as set out in the Code; which 
give a true and fair view in accordance therewith, and for keeping records in 
respect of contributions received in respect of active members.

2 We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the 
Fund and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the 
financial statements.

3 The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-
compliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of regulatory 
authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the 
event of non-compliance.

Page 61



4 We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect error and fraud.

5 Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including 
those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

6 We acknowledge our responsibilities for making the accounting estimates 
included in the financial statements.  Where it was necessary to choose 
between estimation techniques that comply with the Code, we selected the 
estimation technique considered to be the most appropriate to the Fund's 
particular circumstances for the purpose of giving a true and fair view.  Those 
estimates reflect our judgement based on our knowledge and experience about 
past and current events and are also based on our assumptions about 
conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we expect to take.

7 We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the 
financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and 
adequately disclosed in the financial statements. There are no other material 
judgements that need to be disclosed.

8 Except as disclosed in the financial statements: 
a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the Fund have been assigned, pledged or 

mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or 

non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

9 Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted 
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

10 Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed 
in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

11 All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the 
Code requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

12 We have considered the disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit 
Findings Report. The financial statements have been amended for these 
disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

13 We believe that the Fund's financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or 
support will be more than adequate for the Fund's needs. We believe that no 
further disclosures relating to the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern 
need to be made in the financial statements. 

14 We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

Information Provided

15 We have provided you with:
a access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 

preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation 
and other matters; Page 62



b additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of 
your audit; and

c unrestricted access to persons from whom you determined it necessary 
to obtain audit evidence.

16 We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which 
management is aware.

17 We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

18 All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected 
in the financial statements.

19 We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud 
affecting the Fund involving:
a management;
b employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements.

20 We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or 
suspected fraud, affecting the Fund's financial statements communicated by 
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

21 We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 
when preparing financial statements. 

22 There have been no communications with The Pensions Regulator or other 
regulatory bodies during the year or subsequently concerning matters of non-
compliance with any legal duty. 

23 We are not aware of any reports having been made to The Pensions Regulator 
by any of our advisors. 

24 We have disclosed to you the identity of all the Fund's related parties and all the 
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

25 We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims 
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Pensions 
Committee at its meeting on 17 July 2017 and by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee at its meeting on 25 September 2017. 

Yours faithfully

Signed ……………………………….
Name…Tom Sault…………………………
Position…………Section 151 Officer……………….
Date……25 September 2017……………………….

Page 63



Signed ……………………………….
Name……………………………
Position……Chair of Audit and Risk Management Committee………….
Date………25 September 2017  …………………….

Signed on behalf of Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council as administering body of 
the Merseyside Pension Fund.

Page 64



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

.

The Audit Findings

for Wirral Council

Year ended 31 March 2017

Robin Baker

Engagement Lead

T 0161 214 6399

E robin.j.baker@uk.gt.com

Chris Whittingham

Manager

T 0161 214 6362

E c.whittingham@uk.gt.com

Stuart Basnett

Executive

T 0151 224 7232

E stuart.h.basnett@uk.gt.com

September 2017

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 5a



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 2

Private and Confidential

This Audit Findings report highlights the key findings arising from the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance (in the case of Wirral 

Council, the Audit and Risk Management Committee), to oversee the financial reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with officers.

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) ('ISA (UK&I)'), which is directed towards 

forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of 

the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 

purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and giving a value for money conclusion. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all 

areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be 

relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might 

identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this 

report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Yours sincerely

Robin Baker

Engagement lead

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Royal Liver Building

Liverpool

L3 1PS

T +44 (0) 151 224 7200

www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

September 2017

Dear Members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

Audit Findings for Wirral Council for the year ending 31 March 2017

Wirral Council

Wallasey Town Hall

Brighton Street

Wallasey

Wirral

CH44 8ED

P
age 66



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 3

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 4

2. Audit findings 8

3. Value for Money 23

4. Other statutory powers and duties                                                                   29

5. Fees, non-audit services and independence 31

6. Communication of audit matters 34

Appendices

A Audit opinion

P
age 67



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Section 1: Executive summary

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Other statutory powers  and duties

06. Communication of audit matters

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

P
age 68



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 5

Executive summary

Purpose of this report

This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Wirral Council ('the 

Council') and the preparation of the Council's financial statements for the year 

ended 31 March 2017. It is also used to report our audit findings to management 

and those charged with governance in accordance with the requirements of ISA 

(UK&I) 260,  and the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act').  

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 

are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Council's financial statements 

give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council and its income 

and expenditure for the year and whether they have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. . 

We are also required to consider other information published together with the 

audited financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 

and Narrative Report, whether it is consistent with the financial statements, 

apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 

knowledge of the Council acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 

otherwise misleading.

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves on whether the 

Council has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM) conclusion'). 

Auditor Guidance Note 7 (AGN07) clarifies our reporting requirements in the 

Code and the Act. We are required to provide a conclusion whether in all 

significant respects, the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure 

value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for 

the year.

The Act also details the following additional powers and duties for  local 

government auditors, which we are required to report to you if applied:

• a public interest report if we identify any matter that comes to our attention 

in the course of the audit that in our opinion should be considered by the 

Council or brought to the public's attention (section 24 of the Act); 

• written recommendations which should be considered by the Council and 

responded to publicly (section 24 of the Act);

• application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 

to law (section 28 of the Act);  

• issue of an advisory notice (section 29 of the Act); and

• application for judicial review (section 31 of the Act).  

We are also required to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about 

the accounts and consider and decide upon objections received in relation to 

the accounts under sections 26 and 27 of the Act. 

Introduction

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit 

approach, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated May 2017.

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in 

the following areas: 

• review of the final version of the financial statements 

• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion ; and

• Whole of Government Accounts.

We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers at the 

commencement of our work.

P
age 69



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 6

Executive summary

Key audit and financial reporting issues

Financial statements opinion

We have not identified any adjustments affecting the Council's reported financial 

position.  The draft financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 

recorded net expenditure of £258.965m.  Our audit identified three non-material 

errors where the Council have decided to amend the draft financial statements and 

we have agreed a small number of changes to disclosure notes.

The key messages arising from our audit of the Council's financial statements are:

• no significant issues were identified

• the accounts were again  prepared to a good standard and supported by 

working papers; and

• a small number of disclosure adjustments were agreed to ensure compliance 

with accounting practices and to improve the presentation of the financial 

statements.

Further details are set out in section two of this report.

At this stage there are no material errors or uncertainties and we therefore 

anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 

statements (see Appendix A).

Merseyside Pension Fund

We anticipate providing an unqualified opinion on Merseyside Pension Fund's

financial statements. The findings from this audit are set out in a separate report.

Other financial statement responsibilities

As well as an opinion on the financial statements, we are required to give an 

opinion on whether other information published together with the audited 

financial statements is consistent with the financial statements. This includes if 

the AGS and Narrative Report is misleading or inconsistent with the 

information of which we are aware from our audit.

Based on our review of the Council’s Narrative Report and AGS we are 

satisfied that they are consistent with the audited financial statements. We are 

also satisfied that the AGS meets the requirements set out in the 

CIPFA/SOLACE guidance and that the disclosures included in the Narrative 

Report are in line with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

Controls

Roles and responsibilities

The Council's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 

management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and 

monitoring the system of internal control. Our audit is not designed to test all 

internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness.  However, where, as 

part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we report these to the 

Council. 

Findings

Our testing of employee remuneration identified an absence of controls where 

the Council is responsible for making pension payments to a specific group of 

former teachers. Furthermore, we have identified a number of areas where the 

Council's IT controls could be strengthened. We shared our detailed findings 

with the Council and received a response setting  out planned action by 

management.

Further details are provided within section two of this report.

P
age 70



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 7

Executive summary

Value for Money

Our review of the Council's arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness has highlighted the following issue which will give rise to a qualified –

except for VFM conclusion.

In September 2016 the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and 

Skills (Ofsted) issued its report on the inspection of the Council's services for children 

in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers. The overall 

judgement was that children's services were rated as inadequate. The inspection found 

widespread and serious failures in the services provided to children who need help 

and protection. 

We recognise that the Council has made progress to improve Children’s services and 

the Improvement plan actions are designed to achieve the required service 

improvements. However, recent Ofsted monitoring visits confirm that progress in 

some areas has not yet met expectations and the Council acknowledge that it will take 

some time to implement all the actions that should deliver the required service 

improvement.

The Council continues to have appropriate arrangements in place to monitor, 

challenge  and regularly report to Members progress against  both the annual forecast 

outturn position and delivery of savings targets. The Council has a Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS) in place that is updated annually and sets out plans to close 

a cumulative budget gap of £132m by 2020/21. 

The MTFS is aligned with the Wirral Plan that sets out the Transformation 

programme principles to re-assess what services the Council provides and how it 

provides them. This programme is critical to the establishment of a new model for the 

Council that can achieve financial stability. The Council acknowledges that difficult 

decisions and financial risks remain to be addressed. 

We therefore intend to issue a qualified “except for” VFM conclusion. Further detail 

of our work on Value for Money are set out in section three of this report.

Other statutory powers and duties

We have not identified any issues that have required us to apply our 

statutory powers and duties under the Act. We are currently in the process 

of undertaking work in relation to an objection that we received on the 

2015/16 financial statements. As a result of this ongoing work, the audit 

opinion was issued for the 2015/16 audit, but the certificate of closure of 

the audit was not issued as the objection was outstanding. The certificate 

for the 2016/17 audit cannot be issued until the consideration of the 

objection is complete.

Further details of our work on other statutory powers and duties is set out 

in section four of this report.

Grant certification

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code, we are required to 

certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the 

Department for Work and Pensions. At present our work on this claim is 

in progress and is not due to be finalised until 30 November 2017. We will 

report the outcome of this certification work through a separate report to 

the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The way forward

Matters arising from the financial statements audit and our review of the 

Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources have been discussed with the Assistant Director: 

Finance ( s151). Recommendations have been discussed and agreed with 

the relevant officers.

Acknowledgement

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

September 2017

P
age 71



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Section 2: Audit findings

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Other statutory powers and duties

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

P
age 72



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 9

Audit findings

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit. The standard 

states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £13,803k (being 1.9% of gross revenue expenditure) We have considered whether this level 

remained appropriate during the course of the audit and have made no changes to our overall materiality.

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 

would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which 

misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £690k and this remains the same as reported in our audit plan.

As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we decided that separate materiality levels were appropriate. These remain the same as reported in 

our audit plan.

Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, 

or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs 

of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK&I) 320)

Balance/transaction/disclosure Explanation Materiality level

Disclosures of officers' remuneration, salary 

bandings and exit packages in the notes to the 

financial statements

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made.

£10,000

Related party transactions Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory requirement for 

them to be made.

Errors will be assessed individually, with due 

regard given to the nature of the error and its 

potential impact on the materiality of the other 

party.

P
age 73



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 10

Audit findings against significant risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 

concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement 

due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of 

the revenue streams at Wirral Council, we have determined that the 

risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited; and

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including

Wirral Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable.

Our audit work has not identified any issues 

in respect of revenue recognition.

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities.

• Review of accounting estimates, judgments and decisions made by 

management.

• Review of journal entry process and documentation of controls 

applied to journal entries. 

• Selection of unusual journal entries for the financial year and testing 

back to supporting documentation.

Our audit work has not identified any 

evidence of management over-ride of 

controls. In particular the findings of our 

review of journal controls and testing of 

journal controls and testing of journal entries 

has not identified any significant issues. 

We set out later in this section of the report 

our work and findings on key accounting 

estimates and judgements.

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 

presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature, 

and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK&I) 

315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's normal course of business as 

giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK&I) 550)

P
age 74



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 11

Audit findings against significant risks continued
Risks identified in our audit 

plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising

Valuation of property, plant 

and equipment

The Council revalues its assets 

on a rolling basis over a five 

year period. The Code requires 

that the Council ensures that 

the carrying value at the 

balance sheet date is not 

materially different from the 

current value. This represents a 

significant estimate by 

management in the financial 

statements.

 Review of management's processes and assumptions for 

the calculation of the estimate.

 Review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any 

management experts used.

 Review of the instructions issued to valuation experts and 

the scope of their work

 Discussions with the Council's valuer about the basis on 

which the valuation was carried out, challenging the key 

assumptions.

 Review and challenge of the information used by the valuer 

to ensure it was robust and consistent with our 

understanding.

 Testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they 

were input correctly into the Council's asset register

 Evaluation of the assumptions made by management for 

those assets not revalued during the year and how 

management satisfied themselves that these  were not 

materially different to current value

The Council's property, plant and equipment assets are valued by the 

Council’s in-house valuation team. Our work has assessed them as 

having a good knowledge of the Council's portfolio and they have used 

information from the Asset Register and other Council estates systems 

in carrying out their valuation of Council assets. The assumptions used 

are reasonable and we are satisfied that the valuer had full access to 

appropriate levels of information to complete reliable valuations.

For the assets not re-valued in year, officers undertake an annual 

assessment of the carrying value of these assets to be able to satisfy 

themselves that the carrying value is not materially different to the fair 

value at the 31 March 2017. This involves a review of the potential 

impact of indices on the asset valuation, together with consideration 

of a range of other factors.

The assessment of Council officers is that the carrying value of 

assets in the Council's financial statements is not materially different 

to the fair value at the 31 March 2017, in the context of an overall 

carrying value of £485m for Other Land and Buildings in the final 

financial statements. We have reviewed and challenged the Council's 

methodology and assumptions used during this review and found 

them to be reasonable.

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to 

the risk identified.

Audit findings

P
age 75



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 12

Audit findings against significant risks continued
Risks identified in our audit 

plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising

Valuation of pension fund net 

liability

The Council's pension fund asset 

and liability as reflected in its 

balance sheet represent  a 

significant estimate in the 

financial statements.

 Identified the controls put in place by management 

to ensure that the pension fund net liability is not 

materially misstated. We also assessed whether 

those controls were implemented as expected and 

whether they were sufficient to mitigate the risk of 

material misstatement.

 Review of the competence, expertise and objectivity 

of the actuary who carried out the Council's pension 

fund valuation. 

 Gained an understanding of the basis on which the 

IAS 19 valuation was carried out and completed 

procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the 

actuarial assumptions made. 

 Review of the consistency of the pension fund net 

liability disclosures in notes to the financial 

statements with the actuarial report from your 

actuary.

For the valuation of Wirral's pension fund net liability we undertook a review 

of the actuary's (Mercer) work to satisfy ourselves that the pension liabilities 

are fairly stated in the financial statements. In doing so we assess the 

methodology and assumptions used by the scheme’s actuary.

We confirmed with the LGPS auditor that the controls over membership 

data were operating as intended.

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risk 

identified.

Audit findings

P
age 76



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 13

Audit findings against other risks

Transaction 

cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Employee 

remuneration

Payroll expenditure represents a 

significant percentage of the Council’s 

gross expenditure.

We identified the completeness of 

payroll expenditure in the financial 

statements as a risk requiring particular 

audit attention: 

• Employee remuneration accruals 

understated 

We have undertaken the following work in relation 

to this risk:

 documented our understanding of processes 

and key controls within the employee 

remuneration cycle

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to 

assess the whether those controls were in line 

with our documented understanding

 Reviewed the payroll accruals process

 Used analytical techniques to compare 

expected payroll costs with actual

 Reviewed payroll reconciliations including the 

year-end

 Completed sample testing of employee 

expenses to staff record, pay rates and 

classification in the ledger

We completed our analytical work and review of payroll 

reconciliation to gain assurance that payroll expenditure was not 

materially misstated and we did not identify any significant issues 

in relation to the risk identified

Our testing also included selecting a random sample of 36 

employees to confirm that pay costs were correct, agreed to 

payslips and HR records, and that the employee existed. 

For 28 employees selected for testing we were able to confirm pay 

costs were valid and accurate. The remaining sample of 8 related 

to a specific group of retired teachers where Wirral Council pay an 

element of their pension. We were unable to verify the accuracy 

and validity of the payments as officers were unable to confirm 

that appropriate controls were in place. 

Further detail is set out under our work on internal controls.

We completed further audit procedures to confirm that the total 

value of such payments was approximately £2.9 million in 2016/17 

and therefore the absence of appropriate controls would not lead 

to a material error.

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may 

relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated 

processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." 

(ISA (UK&I) 315) 

P
age 77



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 14

Audit findings against other risks continued

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Operating expenses Non-pay expenditure represents a 

significant percentage of the 

Council’s gross expenditure. 

Management uses judgement to 

estimate accruals of un-invoiced 

non-pay costs. 

We identified the completeness of 

non- pay expenditure in the financial 

statements as a risk requiring 

particular audit attention: 

• Creditors understated or not 

recorded in the correct period 

(Operating expenses 

understated)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

• documenting, evaluating and walkthrough of processes and controls

• substantive testing of operating expenses

• Testing reconciliations including the year-end reconciliation of the 

accounts payable system to the general ledger

• review and substantive testing of year end accruals and creditor 

balances including confirmation that balances due have been settled 

after year end.

• “cut-off" testing

Our testing confirmed that controls 

around operating expenses are 

working as expected and our testing of 

year end creditors and accruals found 

that they had been properly accounted 

for been posted to the correct period.

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risk 

identified

Changes to the 

presentation of local

authority financial 

statements

CIPFA has been working on the 

‘Telling the Story’ project, for which 

the aim was to streamline the 

financial statements and improve 

accessibility to the user and this has 

resulted in changes to the 2016/17 

CIPFA Code of Practice.

The changes affect the presentation 

of income and expenditure in the 

financial statements and associated 

disclosure notes. A prior period 

adjustment (PPA) to restate the 

2015/16 comparative figures is also 

required.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 documented and evaluated the process for the recording the required 

financial reporting changes to the 2016/17 financial statements

 reviewed the re-classification of the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (CIES) comparatives to ensure that they are 

in line with the Council’s internal reporting structure

 reviewed the appropriateness of the revised grouping of entries within 

the Movement In Reserves Statement (MIRS)

 tested the classification of income and expenditure for 2016/17 

recorded within the Cost of Services section of the CIES

 tested the completeness  of income and expenditure by reviewing the 

reconciliation of the CIES to the general ledger

 tested the classification of income and expenditure reported within the 

new Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) note to the financial 

statements

 reviewed the new segmental reporting disclosures within the 2016/17 

financial statements  to ensure compliance with the CIPFA Code of 

Practice.

Our review of the changes to the 

presentation of the statements 

confirmed that the Council had 

reported income and expenditure in 

line with its own internal reporting 

structure and that comparative figures 

had been correctly reclassified and a 

prior period adjustment undertaken.

The draft financial statements 

incorrectly included the EFA as a Core 

Financial Statement rather than a Note 

to the accounts. This has now been 

corrected.

Our audit work has not identified any 

significant issues in relation to the risk 

identified.

Audit findings

P
age 78



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Liverpool City Council  |  2016/17 15

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Revenue 

recognition

Income and expenditure is recognised in the financial year in which goods and 

services are received or provided. The amounts included are based on actual 

invoices received or raised after the year end and where actual amounts are not 

known estimates are included based on an assessment of the value of goods and 

services received or rendered. Any estimates are calculated using the best available 

information. 

Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received 

or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. 

If debts are not likely to be settled, the balance of the debtor is written down and a 

charge made to revenue for income that might not be collected. 

Income from Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates is recognised within the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as the amount due to the Council 

for the financial year, including its share of the Collection Fund balances for these 

items at the end of the financial year. This value is subsequently amended through the 

Movement in Reserves Statement and the Collection Fund Adjustment Account to 

reflect the amount to be credited to the General Fund for the Council’s Council Tax 

Requirement and income from National Non-Domestic Rates. 

Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for as 

income and expenditure based on the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 

instrument rather than the cash flows set out by contract. 

• The Council's policy is appropriate and 

consistent with the relevant accounting 

framework – the CIPFA Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting (the CIPFA Code). 

• The main elements of the Council's revenues 

are predictable and there is minimal judgement 

required from the Council.

• The accounting policies are appropriately 

disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. 



Green

Group accounts The Council's accounts include the critical judgement that the City Council's 

interests and investments in companies are not material and therefore Group 

Accounts are not required.

We have completed our review of the detailed 

Group accounts assessment completed by the 

Council and agree that your assessment is 

reasonable and supported by the evidence. 



Green

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Council's financial statements.  

P
age 79



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Liverpool City Council  |  2016/17 16

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

about the appropriateness of 

management's use of the going concern 

assumption in the preparation and 

presentation of the financial statements 

and to conclude whether there is a 

material uncertainty about the entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern” 

(ISA (UK&I) 570). 

The Assistant Director: Finance ( s151) 

officer has a reasonable expectation that 

the services provided by the Council will 

continue for the foreseeable future. For this 

reason, the Council continue to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing the 

financial statements.

We have reviewed the Council's assessment and are satisfied with 

management's assessment that the going concern basis is 

appropriate for the 2016/17 financial statements.



Green

Other accounting policies We have reviewed the Council's policies 

against the requirements of the CIPFA 

Code of Practice. The Council's accounting 

policies are appropriate and consistent with 

previous years.

Our review of accounting policies has not highlighted any issues 

which we wish to bring to your attention. 

Green

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Council's financial statements.  

P
age 80



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Liverpool City Council  |  2016/17 17

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Judgements and 

estimates

Key estimates and 

judgements include:

• PPE Valuations

• pension liabilities

• Provisions and 

accruals, including 

provision for NNDR 

appeals

• Impairments

• Useful lives of PPE

• The Council's accounting policies for key estimates and judgements are appropriate and consistent with 

the relevant accounting framework – the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (the 

CIPFA Code). 

• The accounting policies are appropriately disclosed in notes 1,3 and 4 to the financial statements

• Our audit testing of key estimates and judgements has considered the extent of judgement involved, the 

potential impact of different assumptions and the range of possible outcomes. Other than the issue set 

out below, we are satisfied that the key estimates and judgements are appropriate and adequately 

disclosed.

• The Council has transferred services to other entities where TUPE provisions apply and in doing so has 

entered into contractual arrangements to guarantee/indemnify the pension obligations or contributions of 

the entity. Our view is that where these guarantees are contractual  the accounting for these guarantees 

should be determined with reference to the nature of the agreement between the parties involved and 

consideration as to whether these are derivative financial liabilities under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement or insurance contracts under IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, dependent on 

the risks involved, therefore bringing the liability onto the balance sheet. Management judgement is 

therefore required as to whether non-financial risks (results in IFRS 4 treatment) or financial risks 

(results in IAS 39 treatment) are greater.

• Following our initial feedback management have further considered these guarantees and concluded 

that they are derivative financial liabilities and have estimated the unrecorded liability in the draft 

financial statements to be less than £10,000 in 2016/17. Management have decided not to amend the 

2016/17 financial statements as the amount involved is not material and this issue will be given further 

consideration in 2017/18. It is also worth noting that there is currently no specific sector guidance on this 

issue, so we will be raising the issue with CIPFA for further consideration in 2017/18.



Amber

Assessment

 Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Council's financial statements.  

P
age 81



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 18

Other communication requirements

Issue Commentary

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with management, Internal Audit and the Audit and Risk Management Committee. We 

have not been made aware of any significant issues in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our 

audit procedures. 

2. Matters in relation to related 

parties

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed. We noted that

three Councillors and three Officers did not return a declaration of interest form in line with Council requirements.

3. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work. 

4. Written representations  A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Council.

5. Confirmation requests from 

third parties 

 We obtained direct confirmations from banks for confirmation of year end balances alongside other third party confirmations relating

to borrowings and investments

 A confirmation from Lloyds Bank relating to a £5m investment balance was not received. However,  we had sufficient assurance that 

the investment balance was not materially misstated. 

 All other requests were returned with positive confirmation.

6. Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements. A small number of disclosure amendments have been made to 

the financial statements arising from the audit.

7. Matters on which we report by 

exception

 We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a number of areas:

We have not identified  any issues we would be required to report by exception in the following areas

 If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is 

misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit.

 The information in the Narrative Report is materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements or our 

knowledge of the Council acquired in the course of performing our audit, or otherwise misleading.

8. Specified procedures for 

Whole of Government 

Accounts 

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation

pack under WGA group audit instructions. 

As the Council exceeds the specified group reporting threshold, we are required to examine and report on the consistency of the WGA 

consolidation pack with the Council's audited financial statements. This work has been delayed due to technical problems with locking

the WGA reporting package. We will report any subsequent findings to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Audit findings

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

P
age 82



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 19

Internal controls
The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements.

Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.

The most significant matters that we identified during the course of our audit are set out in the table below. As part of our planned programme of work on internal 

controls, our information system specialist team undertook a high level review of the general IT control environment at the Council.  Our review  identified  a number 

of areas where the  Council's existing IT controls could be strengthened. We  issued a  report  to management setting out our findings together with recommendations 

and we received a response from management.  We have summarised our recommendations relating to the two most significant IT issues below alongside the 

response from management and a control deficiency identified relating to payroll pension payments.

Issue and risk Recommendations

1. Payroll – Teachers pension payments

Our testing of a sample of employee pay details identified 8 retired 

teachers who receive a pension payments from Wirral Council. The 

Council  were unable to  provide any evidence to corroborate the 

values paid, the existence of staff, and verification that these retired 

teachers were still eligible to receive the payments. 

We completed specific testing on this issue that allowed us to conclude 

that the total value of payments made by the Council was not material 

at £2.9 million.

The Council will need to establish that payments to these former employees remain valid 

and establish controls to monitor the payments in future periods.

Management response:

An internal audit of the arrangements for the payment of Teachers Pension Payments has 

been carried out. The recommendations to resolve the issues are currently being 

developed with a view to improving the effectiveness of the control environment for the 

system of payments.  It is anticipated that these will included liaison with outside bodies 

over the potential for data matching, validity testing and revised procedures. 

2. Segregation of duties conflicts

Segregation of duties is a fundamental principle of control.  It requires 

that record keeping, custody of assets; authorisation and reconciliation 

processes are not performed by the same person.

We performed a review of the access rights, known as responsibilities, 

assigned to users within Oracle E-Business Suite and we identified a 

number of high-risk segregation of duties conflicts. A full report has 

been provided to IT and security for review.

Segregation of duties conflict increase the risk of fraud through the bypass 
or override of internal controls.

A review of configuration of all responsibilities in use within Oracle EBS should be 

undertaken. This review should be driven by the business with IT support.  We have 

provided the Oracle system administrator with the detailed outputs of our work to facilitate 

this.  Responsibilities should be redesigned to reduce the number of segregation of duties 

conflicts within the system (Inherent conflicts).

Where management have decided to accept the risk of the segregation of duties conflicts, 

this should be formally documented.

Management response:

We need this functionality to sometimes post transactions into previous periods.  We will 

review the number of users who have access to this functionality to see if it can be 

reduced.

Business need to review the configuration of the responsibilities and identify if there is a 

resolution to the issue or accept the risk.

Audit findings

P
age 83



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 20

Internal controls - continued

Issue and risk Recommendations

2. Default database accounts have not been locked

Oracle E-Business Suite uses Oracle RDMBS for its database 

technology.  This ship with a number of out of the box accounts 

that have system administrator privileges.  Our testing identified 

that there are one Oracle database accounts with their default 

passwords: APPLSYSPUB. 

Such accounts could be used to enable users to access 

information that they are not permitted to.  

This condition presents the following risk to the organisation:

Default accounts present a security risk as the usernames and 

passwords are widely available.  They therefore present an easy 

point of compromise for a malicious user.  These accounts could 

then be used to perform unauthorised and unaccountable changes 

or transactions, providing an easy method of committing 

fraudulent activity.

Default accounts and passwords should be locked or changed immediately to avoid 

the risk of system compromise.

Management should ensure that for any future upgrades or developments a thorough 

review of shipped accounts is undertaken and all default passwords changed.

Management response:

We will either update the passwords or end date these accounts.

Audit findings

The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient 

importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

"The purpose of an audit is for the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 

The matters being reported are limited to those deficiencies that the auditor has identified during 

the audit and that the auditor has concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported 

to those charged with governance." (ISA (UK&I) 265) 

P
age 84



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 21

Adjusted misstatements

Audit findings

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

No adjustments to the draft accounts have been identified as a result of the audit process that impact on the reported net expenditure for the year.  There are no non-

adjusted misstatements.

P
age 85



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 22

Misclassifications and disclosure changes

Audit findings

Adjustment type Value

£

Account balance Impact on the financial statements

1 Misclassification £2m Note 19 – Debtors Our testing identified that £2m of debtor balances were incorrectly classified as “Other entities 

and Individuals” rather than £1.5m to “NHS Bodies” and £0.5m to “Other local authorities”.

The Council have made the necessary correction with no impact on the total short term debtor 

balance.

2 Disclosure Various Note 23 – Other 

provisions – NNDR 

Appeals

The NNDR appeals provision note included balances setting out amounts utilised and 

additions in year that were incorrectly disclosed in the draft financial statements. The Note has 

been corrected and the net movement remains the same at £3.5m.  

Therefore no impact on figures set out within the Balance Sheet

Utilised of £3.6m revised to £0.1m

Additions of £6.8m revised to £3.3m

3 Disclosure N/a Various A number of disclosure adjustments were agreed to ensure compliance with accounting 

practices and to improve the presentation of the financial statements.

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

P
age 86



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Section 3: Value for Money

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non-audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

P
age 87



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 24

Value for Money

Risk assessment 

We carried out an initial risk assessment in early 2017 and identified the following  two 
significant risks that we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated May 2017.

• The Council's medium term financial  strategy ( MTFS) 2017/18 – 2020/21 continues 
to be aligned with the delivery of the Wirral Plan and has been updated and sets out 
the scale of the financial challenge that the Council continues to face. The on going 
uncertainty and delivery of the required savings represent a significant challenge to the 
Council.

• Ofsted issued a report on the Council's children's services in 2015/16 which rated 
these as 'inadequate' and the Council is currently subject to follow-up review. Until 
such time as Ofsted has confirmed that adequate arrangements are in place this 
remains a significant risk to the Council's arrangements.

We identified risks in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using the guidance 
contained in AGN03. 

We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving our report. 
We have not identified any further significant risks where we need to perform further 
work. 

Overall conclusion

Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we concluded that 

except for the matter we identified in respect of the improvement of children’s services, 

the Council had arrangements in all significant respects. We therefore propose to give a 

qualified 'except for' conclusion on your arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in your use of resources

The text of our report, which confirms this can be found at Appendix A.

.

Background

We are required by section 21 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 ('the Act') and the NAO Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') to 
satisfy ourselves that the Council has put in place proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. This is known as the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that 
proper arrangements are in place at the Council. The Act and NAO 
guidance state that for local government bodies, auditors are required to 
give a conclusion on whether the Council has put proper arrangements 
in place. 

In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's Auditor 
Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2016. AGN 03 
identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and 
deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and 
local people. 

AGN03 provides examples of proper arrangements against three sub-
criteria but specifically states that these are not separate criteria for 
assessment purposes and that auditors are not required to reach a 
distinct judgement against each of these. 

P
age 88



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 25

Key findings

We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of 

documents. 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions

Financial position 

The Council's medium term financial  strategy

(MTFS) 2017/18 – 2020/21 continues to be 

aligned with the delivery of the Wirral Plan and

has been updated and sets out the scale of the 

financial challenge that the Council continues to 

face. 

The MTFS details an anticipated  funding gap 

of £132 million over the four years of the plan 

and includes a £45million funding gap in 

2017/18. The strategy recognises that key 

elements of future funding are subject to further 

decisions resulting in increased financial 

uncertainty.

Savings plans are in place  for 2017/18 

alongside indicative proposals for 2018/19 –

2020/21 and progress in delivery will be 

continue to be monitored through  a 

combination of existing arrangements and 

under the direction of the Transformation 

Programme that will report to Cabinet on a 

quarterly basis.

The on going uncertainty and delivery of the 

required savings represent a significant 

challenge to the Council.

We reviewed the Council's 

arrangements for updating 

and  agreeing savings 

plans alongside the 

monitoring arrangements 

and communication of key 

findings to Cabinet and 

Council.

The Council continues to face significant financial challenges going forward. The 2016/17 revenue 

budget included a budget contingency of £12m to mitigate the anticipated financial risks associated 

with demand pressures, mainly within Adults and Children's and the delivery of previously agreed 

savings. The budget was monitored throughout the year and reported on a monthly basis with 

£11.1million of the contingency budget allocated to services early in Quarter 1, including £3.9m to 

Adult Social Services and £5m to Children’s services. The 2016/17 outturn reported by the Council 

was a £2.9m underspend on services following revisions to the budget. Overspends of £5.6m in 

Children’s services and £3.9m in Adult Social Care were mitigated by underspends in other areas 

with the change in methodology for calculating the Minimum Revenue Provision delivering a £6.9m 

“one-off” technical saving.

In recognition of the major financial challenges, in October 2016 the Council  accepted the multi –

year settlement offered by the Government to provide greater certainty around funding levels. These 

funding levels are reflected in the Medium Term Financial Strategy that was updated and approved 

in February 2017 that confirms a balanced budget has been set for 2017/18 and includes plans to 

address the £132m forecast budget gap over the remaining  period of the MTFS to 2020/21, 

including a £45m funding gap in 2017/18.  There is continued pressure on reserves and balances 

and in the past two years reserves of £32 million have been utilised to support both specific projects 

and the annual budget. It is important that the Council continues to carefully consider the level of 

balances maintained.

The Council recognise that to deliver the required financial position that a fundamental re-design of 

how the Council works and an evaluation of services it provides has been necessary. The MTFS 

sets out how the Council plan to review all services provided under the “Transformation Programme” 

with the aim of establishing new delivery arrangements that should deliver outcomes at a sustainable 

cost. The scale of the financial challenge and the Council’s proposed response to enable it to deliver 

the required outcomes will continue to  need to be carefully managed.

Value for Money

P
age 89



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 26

Key findings - continued

We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of 

documents. 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions

Financial position  - continued We reviewed the Council's 

arrangements for updating 

and  agreeing savings 

plans alongside the 

monitoring arrangements 

and communication of key 

findings to Cabinet and 

Council.

Savings plans are in place and progress is being  monitored through existing financial monitoring arrangements 

that the Council have sought to strengthen with accountability for the delivery of savings proposals assigned to the 

Strategic Leadership Team.

These arrangements operate in conjunction with the Transformation Programme that reports to Cabinet on a 

quarterly basis. Previously we concluded that these savings plans are based on relevant assumptions with 

proposed savings  subject to rigorous challenge designed  to test both the planned savings proposed and the 

assumptions on which they were based.  During 2016/17  the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees again 

reviewed and challenged  the Budget Proposals for 2017/18, following a series of budget scrutiny workshops with 

each committee producing a report for Cabinet.

Members and management team have continued to focus on financial requirements and take a clear lead on the 

achievement of required savings. Financial reporting has a high profile especially through the revenue monitor and 

savings tracker reports that are provided to Members. These clearly set out the key financial risks and the Council 

recognise that difficult decisions are still to be made to enable the Wirral Plan to be delivered successfully. 

The responsibility for considering whether the Council is properly managing risk is through the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee. Corporate risk register includes financial resilience and other related financial issues. 

During the year internal audit completed a review of risk management arrangements and identified that they were 

developing well.

Our work on financial sustainability has concluded that the Council has sound financial arrangements, 

despite continuing to operate in a very challenging financial environment.  On that basis we concluded 

that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the Council has proper arrangements in place.

Value for Money

P
age 90



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 27

Key findings - continued

We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of 

documents. 

Significant risk Work to address Findings and conclusions

Ofsted inspection of children's 

services

Ofsted issued a report on the Council's 

children's services in 2015/16 which 

rated these as 'inadequate' and the 

Council is currently subject to follow up 

review. Until such time as Ofsted has 

confirmed that adequate arrangements 

are in place this remains a significant risk 

to the Council's arrangements.

We reviewed:

• update reports from Ofsted;

and 

• progress made by the 

Council in the delivery of 

required improvement

actions.

In September 2016 the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) 

issued its report on the inspection of the Council's services for children in need of help and 

protection, children looked after and care leavers. The overall judgement was that children's services 

were rated as inadequate. The inspection found widespread and serious failures in the services 

provided to children who need help and protection and outlined 19 recommendations to the Council 

and 7 to the Local Safeguarding Children Board.

The Council fully accepted the findings of the inspection and  work began immediately to address the 

key findings through the creation of an Improvement Board and the development of an Improvement 

Plan. The Department for Education appointed a Wirral Improvement Partner to work with the Council 

and approved the Improvement Plan. The Council also made an immediate £2m investment to recruit 

additional social workers and improved management arrangements.

A presentation to the June 2017 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee confirmed 

that the Improvement Plan detailed 103 actions and set out that the majority of actions had already 

been delivered across the three key elements of the plan being People, Practice and Performance. 

However, we noted that 14 actions remain outstanding but they remained on course to be achieved 

within planned timescales.

Ofsted have undertaken three monitoring visits since the Council was initially assessed as 

inadequate. The April 2017 assessment noted that “the local authority is making some progress in 

improving services fro its children and young people” – The Ofsted letter goes on to set out that 

“inspectors identified areas of strength, areas that are improving and some areas where they 

considered that the progress has not yet met expectations”. The Council’s own assessment is that it 

will take “2 to 3 years to ensure the basics were in place. 

It is clear that further action is still required to deliver the necessary improvements to the 

service and there remains evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for understanding 

and using appropriate and reliable financial and performance information to support informed 

decision making and performance management, and for planning, organising and developing 

the workforce effectively to deliver strategic priorities.

Value for Money

P
age 91



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 28

Value for money

Significant difficulties in undertaking our work

We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on your 

arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention.

Significant matters discussed with management

There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such 

significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from 

management or those charged with governance. 

Any other matters

There were no other matters from our work which were significant to our 

consideration of your arrangements to secure value for money in your use of 

resources.

P
age 92



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Section 4: Other statutory powers and duties

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Other statutory powers and duties

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

P
age 93



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 30

Other statutory powers and duties

Issue Commentary

1. Objection On 11 August 2016 we received an objection to the accounts under sections 26 and 27 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

The objector requested that we prepare a public interest report and apply to the courts for a declaration that Wirral Council’s Lender Option, 

Borrower Option loan borrowing as referenced in the 2015-2016 accounts is unlawful.  

In keeping with objections received by several authorities the objector raises concerns in respect of the:

- rationality of the decision to borrow on LOBO terms; 

- adequacy of the information on which the Council based their decisions to enter into LOBO arrangements; 

- scale of borrowing on LOBO terms and associated exposure to interest rate increases; 

- alleged improper speculation on future interest rate changes; and

- use of advisers with alleged undisclosed financial incentives to promote LOBOs.

Our work in relation to the objection is on-going and we have received prompt and full co-operation from the Council in both provision of relevant 

information and responses to our queries. Whilst it is impossible to put a definite timeframe on it, we plan to conclude our consideration of the 

objection as soon as possible.

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by the Act and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

P
age 94



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Section 5: Fees, non-audit services and independence

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

P
age 95



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 32

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence 

as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with 

the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and confirm that we are independent 

and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements 

of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

Audit related services:

Teachers Pensions Agency

Report on Skills Funding Agency

4,200

3,950

Non-audit services None

Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees

Proposed fee  

£

Final fee  

£

Council audit 159,863 159,863

Grant certification 23,850 TBC*1

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 182,713 -

External audit fees for entities significantly influenced by the Council

Edsential                                                                         18,500        18,500  

Grant certification

Our fees for grant certification cover only housing benefit subsidy 

certification, which falls under the remit of Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited. Fees in respect of other grant work, such as 

reasonable assurance reports, are shown under 'Fees for other 

services'.

TBC*1 – The final fee for certification will be determined on 

completion of our work.

NOTE - The Final fee for the 2015/16 audit of the Council has yet to 

be determined, pending completion of our work to consider the 

objection received.

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) 

P
age 96



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 33

Independence and non-audit services
We have considered whether non-audit services might be perceived as a threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured that appropriate safeguards 

are put in place

The above non-audit services are consistent with the [group's/Council's] policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditor [or explain exceptions]

Fees, non audit services and independence

Service provided to Fees Threat? Safeguard

Council audit Wirral Council 159,863 Self Interest Each team member on the audit has been asked to declare their independence and no 

interests were identified.

The fee was not on a contingent basis but based on the outputs for the work required, and 

is not significant in the context of the client and for the turnover of GT UK as a whole.

Housing benefit grant 

certification

Wirral Council 23,850 Self Interest Each team member on the audit has been asked to declare their independence and no 

interests were identified. 

The fee was not on a contingent basis but based on the outputs for the work required, and 

is not significant in the context of the client and for the turnover of GT UK as a whole.

Audit of companies Edsential 18,500 Self Interest Each team member on the audit has been asked to declare their independence and no 

interests were identified. 

The fee was not on a contingent basis but based on the outputs for the work required, and 

is not significant in the context of the client and for the turnover of GT UK as a whole.

Audit related services

Teachers Pension Wirral Council 4,200 Self Interest This is a recurring fee and therefore a potential self-interest threat.  However, the level of 

this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as 

the fee for this work of £4,200 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £159,863, and 

in particular to GTUK's turnover overall.  Further, the work is an audit related services.

It is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the 

perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Report on Skills Funding 

Agency

Wirral Council 3,950 Self Interest This is a recurring fee and therefore a potential self-interest threat.  However, the level of 

this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as 

the fee for this work of £4,200 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £159,863, and 

in particular to GTUK's turnover overall.  Further, the work is an audit related services.

It is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the 

perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

P
age 97



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Section 6: Communication of  audit matters

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Fees, non audit services and independence

06. Communication of audit matters

04. Other statutory powers and duties

P
age 98



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 35

Communication to those charged with governance

Our communication plan

Audit 

Plan

Audit 

Findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged 

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit 

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 

Expected modifications to auditor's report, or emphasis of matter 

Unadjusted misstatements and material disclosure omissions 

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties 

Significant matters in relation to going concern  

ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters which we are required to 

communicate with those charged with governance, and which we set out in the table 

opposite.  

This document, The Audit Findings, outlines those key issues and other matters 

arising from the audit, which we consider should be communicated in writing rather 

than orally, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-

appointment/)

We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 

broad remit covering finance and governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 

('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-

code/). Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching our conclusions 

under the Code. 

It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place 

for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these 

responsibilities.

Communication of audit matters

P
age 99

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

Appendices

A. Draft Audit Opinion

P
age 100



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 37

A: Draft Audit opinion

We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WIRRAL COUNCIL

We have audited the financial statements of Wirral Council (the "Authority") for the year ended 31 

March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial 

statements comprise, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in 

Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Collection Fund and the 

related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 

of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and 

Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been 

undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to 

state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 

law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the 

Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 

formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Assistant Director: Finance (s151) and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Assistant Director : Finance 

(s151) is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the 

financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and 

fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office 

on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”) and International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether 

the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances and have been 

consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by the Assistant Director: Finance (s151); and the overall presentation of the 

financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Report, and 

the Annual Governance Statement to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 

statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 

materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. 

If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 

implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

 the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Authority as at 31 March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year then 

ended; and

 the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

2016/17 and applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial statements in 

the Narrative Report, and the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:

 in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance 

included in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’ 

published by CIPFA and SOLACE; or

 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the course 

of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Act in 

the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Act.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Appendix

P
age 101



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 38

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, 

and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not 

required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 

guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, 

as to whether the Authority had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions 

and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criteria as that necessary for us to 

consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 

the year ended 31 March 2017.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, 

we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether in all significant 

respects the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources.

Basis for qualified conclusion 

In considering the Authority's arrangements for securing efficiency, economy and effectiveness we 

identified the following matter: 

In September 2016, Ofsted issued its report on the inspection of the Authority's services for children 

in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers. The overall judgement was 

that children's services were rated as inadequate. The inspection found widespread and serious 

failures in the services provided to children who need help and protection. 

The Council has established an Improvement Board and developed an Improvement Plan to address 

the Ofsted recommendations, and provided an update on progress in its Annual Governance 

Statement. However, a subsequent Ofsted monitoring visit in April 2017 reported that while 

inspectors identified areas of strength and improvement, there are still some areas where inspectors 

considered that progress has not yet met expectations.

This matter is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for understanding and using 

appropriate and reliable financial and performance information to support informed decision 

making and performance management, and for planning, organising and developing the workforce 

effectively to deliver strategic priorities. 

Qualified conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the 

Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, except for the effects of the matter described 

in the Basis for qualified conclusion paragraph, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the 

Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Delay in certification of completion of the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Authority for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code until we have:

 Completed our consideration of an objection brought to our attention by a local authority 

elector under Section 27 of the Act; and

 Completed the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

Component Assurance statement for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2017.

We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on 

our conclusion on the Authority's arrangements for securing value for money through economic, 

efficient and effective use of its resources.

Robin Baker

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

Royal Liver Building

Liverpool

L3 1PS

xx  September 2017

Appendix

P
age 102



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2016/17 

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/17 FOR 
WIRRAL COUNCIL AND MERSEYSIDE 
PENSION FUND

REPORT OF: Assistant Director: Finance (S151)

REPORT SUMMARY

The Council Constitution allocates responsibility for the approval of the Statement of 
Accounts to the Audit & Risk Management Committee. The Statement for 2016/17 
was published on 29 June 2017 and was then subject to audit. The Council’s 
external auditor, Grant Thornton LLP will present their findings, within the Audit 
Findings Report (AFR) together with any additional update, to this meeting.

Committee is asked to consider the findings of Grant Thornton, agree the Letter of 
Representation, agree any actions for 2016/17 and then approve the arrangements 
for the finalisation of the Statement of Accounts for 2016/17. This is in order for them 
to be published by the statutory deadline of 30 September 2017.

The Statement of Accounts includes the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) accounts 
as Wirral Council is the Administering Authority for MPF. As the MPF receives a 
separate Audit Findings Report this has to be considered by Pensions Committee 
and also this Committee as part of approving the Accounts.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Committee consider the Audit Findings Report presented by Grant Thornton 
agreeing the actions taken over the amendments to the Statement of Accounts 
(referred to in Section 3 of this report).

Committee consider and approve the Statement of Accounts for 2016/17 as 
presenting a true and fair view of the Council’s income and expenditure for the year 
and it overall financial position.

The Chair and S151 Officer sign and date the Letter of Representation.

Page 105

Agenda Item 5b



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Audit & Risk Management Committee has responsibility for approving the 
Statement of Accounts on behalf of the Council which is a requirement under 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Statement of Accounts has to be produced in accordance with statutory 
guidance. The Statement is subject to review by the appointed Auditor and 
must be published by 30 September 2017.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The purpose of the Statement of Accounts is to present the overall financial 
position of the Council at 31 March 2017 in accordance with prescribed 
guidance – the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom (the Code). This is updated annually and specifies the accounting 
principles and practices required to prepare a Statement of Accounts which 
present a true and fair view of the financial position. 

3.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the Council produces a 
Statement of Accounts for each year which meets set requirements. The 
Regulations 2015 state that the Accounts must be approved by an appropriate 
Committee no later than 30 September. 2017 The Assistant Director: Finance, 
as Section 151 Officer, was required to certify the Accounts by 30 June 2017. 
It is confirmed that the Assistant Director: Finance, as the Council S.151 
Officer, certified the accounts by the statutory deadline. At that date, the 
Accounts were issued and made publicly available.

3.3 The Accounts published at 29 June 2017 have been subject to audit. Under 
National Audit Commission audit arrangements for Local Government, Grant 
Thornton UK LLP (as the Council’s appointed external auditor,) report on the 
financial statements and also on the Value for Money conclusion. These are 
within the Audit Findings Report.

3.4 The Assistant Director: Finance has to re-certify the presentation of the 
annual accounts. The Regulations require the Accounts to be considered and 
approved by Members prior to final publication. For Wirral this role is for this 
Committee. The Accounts must also be signed and dated by the Chair of this 
Committee. Following this publication takes place, which must include 
publication on the Council website, of the Accounts together with any 
certificate, opinion, or report issued, by Grant Thornton.

Page 106



AMENDMENTS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

3.5 Amendments to the financial statements requested by Grant Thornton are 
detailed in the Audit Findings Report. Committee are asked to consider 
whether or not they agree to the amendments which have been agreed by 
officers. The Auditor has, at the time of writing the report, identified a number 
of additional disclosure requirements which the Council has agreed to make. 

3.6 The Statement of Accounts 2016/17 is appended to this Agenda and reflects 
the comments made by the Auditors up to Thursday 14 September, the 
Annual Governance Statement as considered by this Committee on 12 June 
and approved by Cabinet on 17 July 2017 and the MPF Accounts which were 
considered by Pensions Committee on 17 July 2017. At the time of circulating 
this report no further changes are expected to be required. 

3.7 Committee will be updated at the meeting of any further audit work, findings 
and alterations to the Statement of Accounts as the audit process continues 
until the issuing of the Audit Opinion. 

AUDITOR’S REPORT AND OPINION

3.8 The Audit Opinion will be issued following Committee consideration of the 
Audit Findings Report, approval of any amendments to the Statement of 
Accounts and agreement of the Letter of Representation (Appendix).

3.9 The Auditor’s Opinion will be incorporated within the final version of the 
Statement of Accounts that will enable the Accounts to be completed and 
published by the statutory deadline of 30 September 2017.  An unqualified 
opinion on the Accounts for 2016/17 is anticipated and publication of the 
Accounts will take place by the statutory deadline. There are no anticipated 
changes to the financial position reported to Cabinet on 26 June 2017.

3.10 The closure of accounts is a key part of the Council’s financial management 
processes and requires the input of substantial resources across the Council. 
This is necessary to deliver a smooth final accounts process and to allow 
Grant Thornton to carry out its audit within agreed timescales.

3.11 Grant Thornton received the Statements and supporting working papers in 
accordance with the required deadline. However competing pressures within 
the Financial Services Division remain as capacity is limited and the 
management of these pressures has proven to be a considerable challenge 
since the commencement of the current financial year.

Page 107



3.12 The deadlines for the Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 will be shorter than 
for 2016/17.  The S151 Officer must certify and issue the accounts by 31 May 
2018 (brought forward from 30 June), with the Accounts approved and 
published following Audit by 31 July 2018 (brought forward from 30 
September).

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

3.13 The Letter of Representation has to be agreed by this Committee and a draft 
is an Appendix to this report. 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (AGS)

3.14 This AGS was considered by this Committee on 12 June 2016 and the 
Statement was updated to reflect the receipt of further letters from Ofsted and 
the guidance and input from the Department for Education. It was referred to, 
and approved by, Cabinet on 17 July 2017.

3.15 Although not required to be included in the Statement of Accounts, the AGS is 
included as it shows how the Council has ensured the effectiveness of its 
systems for ensuring that it operates legally and that public money is properly 
used and accounted for.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The amendments to the Statement of Accounts 2016/17 have not changed 
the level of General Fund balance or reserves and provisions at 31 March 
2017 which remain as reported to Cabinet on 26 June 2017.

5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 It is a legal requirement to publish the Statement of Accounts by 30 
September 2017.

6 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

7 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 If any concerns identified by Grant Thornton are not addressed by the Council 
then there are risks that the Council will not be able to meet its statutory 
requirements in respect of the Statement of Accounts as well as impacting 
upon Value for Money and Financial Resilience of the Council.

Page 108



8 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 There has been no specific consultation in respect of this report.

9 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Tom Sault
Designation Assistant Director: Finance (S151)
Telephone 0151 666 3407
Email tomsault@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDIICES

Letter of Representation.
Statement of Accounts 2016/17 (please note this is over 180 pages)

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Audit & Risk Management Committee
Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report –
   - Merseyside Pension Fund
   - Merseyside Pension Fund  Accounts 2015/16
  Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report –
   - Wirral Council
   - Statement of Accounts 2015/16

Pensions Committee
Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report –
   - Merseyside Pension Fund
   - Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 2016/17
Pensions Committee
Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report –
   - Merseyside Pension Fund
   - Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 2015/16

26 September 2016

17 July 2017

19 September 2016

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Resources and Reform
Tom Sault
Assistant Director : Finance and S151 Officer,
Finance,
PO Box 290,
Brighton Street,
Wallasey,
Wirral,
CH27 9FQ.

to Grant Thornton UK LLP,
Royal Liver Building,
Liverpool,
L3 1PS.

Date 25 September 2017

Dear Sirs,

Wirral Council

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial 
statements of Wirral Council for the year ended 31 March 2017 for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and 
applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as 
we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements

1 We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements 
in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 ("the 
Code") which give a true and fair view in accordance therewith.

2 We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the 
Council and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the 
financial statements.

3 The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. 
There has been no non-compliance with requirements of regulatory authorities 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-
compliance.

Page 111



4 We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

5 Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including 
those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

6 We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the 
financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and 
adequately disclosed in the financial statements. There are no other material 
judgements that need to be disclosed.

7 Except as disclosed in the financial statements: 
a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the Council has been assigned, pledged or 

mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-

recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

8 We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the 
valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits 
disclosures are consistent with our knowledge.  We confirm that all settlements 
and curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for.  We also 
confirm that all significant post-employment benefits have been identified and 
properly accounted for. 

9 Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted 
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

10 All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the 
Code requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

11 Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Code. 

12 We have corrected the misstatements, misclassifications and disclosures issues 
set out in your Audit Findings Report. The financial statements have been 
amended for these misstatements, misclassification and disclosure changes and 
are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

13 We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

14 We believe that the Council’s financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support 
will be more than adequate for the Council’s needs. We believe that no further 
disclosures relating to the Council's ability to continue as a going concern need to 
be made in the financial statements.

Page 112



Information Provided

15 We have provided you with:
a access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 

preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and 
other matters;

b additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of 
your audit; and

c unrestricted access to persons within the Council from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

16 We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which 
management is aware.

17 All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in 
the financial statements.

18 We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

19 We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting 
the Council involving:
a management;
b employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial  

statements.

20 We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or 
suspected fraud, affecting the Council’s financial statements communicated by 
employees, former employees, regulators or others.

21 We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 
when preparing financial statements.

22 We have disclosed to you the identity of all the Council's related parties and all the 
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

23 We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose 
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement

24 We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the 
Council's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are 
not aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

Page 113



Narrative Report

25 The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the 
Council's financial and operating performance over the period covered by the 
financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the council’s Audit and Risk 
Management Committee at its meeting on 25 September 2017.

Yours faithfully

Tom Sault
Assistant Director : Finance (S151 Officer)
25 September 2017

Cllr Adrian Jones
Chair of Audit & Risk Management Committee
25 September 2017

Page 114



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: LOCAL AUDIT ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

REPORT OF: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FINANCE (S151)

REPORT SUMMARY
This report further updates Members on the requirements of the Local Audit 

Accountability Act 2014 regarding public sector external audit appointments as 

detailed in the report to this Committee in September and November 2016.

Council on 19th December 2016 agreed to being part of the Local Government 

Association’s national sector led body approach, Public Sector Audit Appointments 

Ltd (PSAA). PSAA have now undertaken a formal tendering exercise and 

appointments made for the providers of this service to local public bodies 

PSAA have notified the Council that Grant Thornton (UK) LLP have been appointed 

as providers of external audit services to Wirral Council from 2018/19 for a period of 

5 years.

RECOMMENDATION
Members are requested to note the appointment of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP from 

April 2018/19 for a period of 5 years.

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

Following endorsement of the Local Government Associations national sector 
led approach by Council on 19 December 2016 correspondence has been 
received from the body set up by them to administer this, Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd (PSAA), advising that following a detailed tendering 
exercise appointments have now been made to provide public bodies with 
external audit services.

2.0 OPTIONS CONSIDERED
All options evaluated in report to this Committee in September 2016.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Under Section 13 of the Regulations the PSAA is required to appoint an 
external auditor to the opted in public body and consult with that body 
regarding the appointment. 

3.2 Correspondence has now been received from PSAA advising Wirral Council 
of the decision to appoint Grant Thornton (UK) LLP as the provider of external 
audit services from 2018/19 for a period of 5 years.

3.3 Wirral Council has developed a very effective working relationship with Grant 
Thornton (UK) LLP over many years, benefitting greatly from the performance 
of work undertaken and the ongoing support provided and therefore 
welcomes this appointment.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 PSAA advise that consultation on scale fees for 2018/19 will take place in due 
course and confirmed scale fees for 2018/19 for opted-in bodies will be 
published on their website in March 2018. They inform us that that the results 
of the audit procurement indicate a reduction in scale fees in the region of 
approximately 18% for 2018/19, based on the individual scale fees applicable 
for 2016/17. 

Page 116



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) requires a 
relevant authority to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial 
year not later than 31 December in the preceding year. Section 8 governs the 
procedure for appointment including that the authority must consult and take 
account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment of 
a local auditor. Section 8 provides that where a relevant authority is a local 
authority operating executive arrangements, the function of appointing a local 
auditor to audit its accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of the 
authority under those arrangements;

5.2 Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor: the 
authority must immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the 
authority to appoint the auditor named in the direction or appoint a local 
auditor on behalf of the authority. 

5.3 Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in 
relation to an ‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State.  This 
power has been exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 
2015 (SI 192) and this gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a 
Sector Led Body to become the appointing person. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
6.1 There are none for this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 There is no immediate risk to the Council.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
8.1 Members of this Committee have been consulted regarding this process.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none for this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark P Niblock
Chief Internal Auditor
telephone:  0151 666 3432
email:   markniblock@wirral.gov.uk

SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting Date
Audit and Risk Management Committee
Council

Sept and Nov 2016    , 
Dec 2016

Page 117

mailto:@wirral.gov.uk


Page 118



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
UPDATE

REPORT OF: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FINANCE (S151)

REPORT SUMMARY
This report provides Members with a progress update on actions taken by officers to 
address items of concern identified in the Annual Governance Statement for 
2016/17.

RECOMMENDATION

Members should note the report and if appropriate escalate any matters deemed 
relevant to Cabinet.

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
1.1 The Annual Governance Statement for 2016/17 was presented to this 

Committee in June 2017. A standard agenda item is included for all meetings 
of this Committee to allow for regular updates on matters of concern identified 
in the AGS to be presented.

1.2 To ensure that risks to the Council are managed effectively.

1.3 To ensure that the Council complies with best practice guidance identified in 
the CIPFA publication ‘A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees’.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
2.1 No other options considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND

3.1 At the meeting of this Committee in June 2017 the Annual Governance 
Statement for 2016/17 was presented. Following discussion by Members it 
was agreed that the standard Agenda item continues to be included for all 
future meetings of this Committee to provide a regular update on progress 
being made to address key governance issues faced by the Council and to 
allow Members to escalate  areas of concern to the Cabinet where required.

3.2 The body responsible for overseeing work in this area is the Council’s 
Corporate Governance Group. This Group meets regularly throughout the 
year and has formulated a detailed plan of action that includes the 
designation of responsible officers and timescales for action to address 
outstanding governance issues. This action plan is attached at Appendix 1.

3.3 The governance issues identified in the action plan comprise the significant 
issues identified in the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 2016/17.

PROGRESS

3.4 Progress is being made to address all issues identified in the action plan. 
Targets, timescales and responsible officers having been identified and tasks 
allocated and work underway. Regular updates on actions to address 
identified issues are reported to the Corporate Governance Group on a bi-
monthly basis by responsible officers and an escalation process has been 
implemented for reporting issues arising including failure to achieve targets to 
the Strategic Leadership Team for appropriate action.

Page 120



3.5 All actions identified are currently BRAG rated as ‘Amber’ indicating that work 
is in progress to achieve ‘systems’ and ‘outcome’ targets within agreed 
timescales.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
4.1 There are none arising from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 There are none arising from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
6.1 There are none arising from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
7.1 Appropriate actions are not taken by officers and Members in response to the 

identification of risks to the achievement of the Council’s objectives.

7.2 Potential failure of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to comply with 
best professional practice and thereby not function in an efficient and effective 
manner.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
8.1 Members of this Committee are consulted throughout the process of 

preparing the AGS.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are none arising from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark P Niblock
Chief Internal Auditor
telephone:  0151 666 3432
email:   markniblock@wirral.gov.uk 

APPENDICES

Significant Governance Issues Action Plan

REFERENCE MATERIAL
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government

SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting Date
Audit and Risk Management Committee Jan/March 2017

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Action plan update – Significant Governance Issues reported in the 2016/17 Annual Governance Statement

Key Improvement 
Area
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Actions for Implementation 
(as per 2016/17 AGS)

Responsibility 
and 
Implementation 
Date 
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Progress Update –  as at 7/9/17 RAGB 
Rating -
Outcome

RAGB
Rating -
Arrang-
ements

Improvement 
Notice issued by 
the Secretary of 
State for Education 
(30th
September 2016)
Ofsted’s “Inspection 
of services for 
children in need of 
help and protection,
children looked after 
and care leavers 
and Review of the 
effectiveness of the
Local Safeguarding 
Children Board”, in 
July 2016 found 
significant 
weaknesses in each 
area reviewed.

In response to the Ofsted findings 
an Improvement Plan has been 
established and delivery of the 
same is underway with oversight 
provided by the Improvement 
Board which is independently 
chaired.

The board convenes monthly to 
consider it’s progress against the 
Ofsted recommendations and 
monitor the impact of the delivery 
of the improvement plan.

Additional oversight for the 
improvement plan is provided by 
the Council’s Children and 
Families Committee.

The Leader of the Council has 
also committed to the setting up 
of a Leader’s Task Force to 
ensure oversight of the 
improvement plan.

Director of 
Children’s 
Services

March 2018

The Improvement Plan has been 
refreshed and will deliver to five key and 
overarching themes going forward. 

Underpinning these thematic priorities 
will be individual action plans and a 
Performance Management Framework 
which the Wirral Improvement Board will 
use to hold organisations to account.

A draft of the plan was signed off at the 
Improvement Board which met in July 
2017. The refreshed plan became 
operational from September 2017. 

The third Ofsted monitoring visit took 
place on the 30 and 31st of August. The 
primary focus of the visit was the local 
authority’s arrangements for care 
leavers. The visit also considered the 
audit process.

The next monitoring visit is scheduled to 
take place in October 2017 and the focus 
is expected to be Children looked after.

Amber Amber

P
age 123



2

Key Improvement 
Area
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Actions for Implementation 
(as per 2016/17 AGS)

Responsibility 
and 
Implementation 
Date 
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Progress Update –  as at 7/9/17 RAGB 
Rating -
Outcome

RAGB
Rating -
Arrang-
ements

ICT Business 
Continuity 
Planning
A greater focus is 
needed by business 
plan owners and 
relevant Directors to
ensure business 
continuity plans are 
kept up to date and 
subject to supportive
challenge and 
review by advisers 
in the business 
continuity and IT 
teams.

ICT are supporting the Business 
Continuity team to ensure 
effective Business Continuity 
Plans are being put in place, 
should a disruptive incident occur. 
ICT have recognised a marked 
improvement in the ownership of 
the IT element of the Council’s 
business continuity plans over the 
last quarter.

Six monthly and annual reviews 
are planned for all business 
critical plans.

Head of 
Community
Safety and 
Transport 
Services / 
Acting Head of
Digital

September 2017
March 2018

The Head of Community Safety and 
Transport Services has previously 
received Business Continuity Plans 
(BCPs) for all 26 identified critical 
services. 

BCP owners are responsible for 
contacting the Business Continuity and 
Environment Officer (BCEO) to arrange 
for a desk-top review and walkthrough by 
the BCEO and IT lead. ICT continue to 
support the BCEO with the walkthrough 
testing of BC plans.

As at 7/9/17 - 12 of the 26 BC plans have 
had walkthrough exercises completed 
with a further 4 scheduled before the end 
of September 17. The remaining 10 BCP 
owners are being requested to agree test 
and review timetables of the BCPs. 

BCPs should be reviewed and updated 
every 6 months (or sooner whenever 
there is a significant change) and subject 
to a walkthrough review every 12 
months. As at 7/9/17, only 7 of 24 plans 
have been updated in the past 12 
months. 

Amber Amber

P
age 124



3

Key Improvement 
Area
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Actions for Implementation 
(as per 2016/17 AGS)

Responsibility 
and 
Implementation 
Date 
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Progress Update –  as at 7/9/17 RAGB 
Rating -
Outcome

RAGB
Rating -
Arrang-
ements

On 1/9/17, the Director for Business 
Services (Asst Chief Exec) wrote to all 
BCP owners requiring that they contact 
the BCEO to agree a timetable to 
complete the testing and review of their 
BCPs.

Progress will be reported to the Strategic 
Leadership Team. Details of any BCPs 
that have not been reviewed in the past 
12 months or BCPs where a timetable for 
testing has not been scheduled will be 
reported to the next ARMC. 

ICT Resilience 
Planning
A Scrutiny review in 
November 2016 
identified that the 
Council’s IT disaster
recovery 
arrangements 
required further 
work and that the 
Council does not 
have a current, fit for 
purpose IT disaster 
recovery plan.

A working group is in place to 
monitor progress with the key 
project to relocate the Treasury 
Building Datacentre. It is planned 
that a comprehensive disaster 
recovery plan will be prepared 
following the successful 
completion of this project, 
scheduled to be completed by 
September 2017.
The project remains on course for 
completion within the proposed 
timeline.
The Council has successfully 
negotiated with Merseytravel to 

Acting Head of 
Digital

September 2017

SCC has completed the plan for the 
migration from the Treasury Building to 
Merseytravel.
The migration will start in September 
2017. 
It is estimated that :

- the physical build of the new 
datacentre in Georges Dock will 
be complete by 30 September 
2017;

- the full migration from the 
Treasury link into Georges Dock 
will be complete by 31 December 
17; and

- the disaster recovery capability in 

Amber Amber

P
age 125



4

Key Improvement 
Area
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Actions for Implementation 
(as per 2016/17 AGS)

Responsibility 
and 
Implementation 
Date 
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Progress Update –  as at 7/9/17 RAGB 
Rating -
Outcome

RAGB
Rating -
Arrang-
ements

host the data centre and the 
network connection through the 
Mersey tunnel is in place. The 
tendering to relocate the data 
centre was won by SCC. The 
process to plan and then move 
the data centre to Merseytravel 
will shortly be underway.

the Treasury Building will be 
complete by 31 March 18. 

Compliance - 
Absence 
Management :
Ensuring 
compliance with the 
Council’s sickness 
absence policy 
remains a 
Significant 
Governance Issue 
for the 2016-17 
AGS.

An action plan has recently been 
agreed and is being delivered in 
response to the (internal) audit 
review. The action plan includes a 
focus on support and training for 
managers including targeting of 
identified groups. Additional work 
is being put in place to strengthen 
the organisational approach and 
ensure that all managers 
recognise their accountability and 
accept and discharge their 
responsibilities to comply with all 
aspects of the Council policy.

HR are realigning resources to 
provide further dedicated support 
and monitoring of management 
actions in relation to absence.

Assistant 
Director:
Human 
Resources and
Organisational
Development
(AD HR&OD).

March 2018

A revised and updated action plan has 
been developed and was presented to 
SLT on 12 September 2017 

This is centred around 5 key themes:
 - Leadership and Commitment
 - Training and Support
 - Performance and Compliance
 - Targeted Action
 - Health and Wellbeing

The actions set out within the plan will be 
delivered between October 2017 and 
March 2018.  This includes further 
training for all managers, improved 
Management Information and increased 
performance monitoring.

SLT also received a new Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy setting out the wider 

Amber Amber

P
age 126



5

Key Improvement 
Area
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Actions for Implementation 
(as per 2016/17 AGS)

Responsibility 
and 
Implementation 
Date 
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Progress Update –  as at 7/9/17 RAGB 
Rating -
Outcome

RAGB
Rating -
Arrang-
ements

approach for health and wellbeing in the 
workplace. This included a commitment 
to the achievement of the workplace 
wellbeing charter.

Compliance - 
Essential Training
Compliance with 
supporting staff 
development 
through the 
provision of 
essential training 
remains a 
Significant 
Governance Issue 
for the 2016-17 
AGS.

A project plan to adopt a 
refreshed approach to the 
delivery of essential training in 
2017-18 has been developed and 
is being implemented with a 
robust communication approach / 
monitoring to rapidly address 
noncompliance.

In addition to the roll out of 
essential training for 2017-18 led 
by the Senior Leadership Team 
corporate ownership must be 
displayed by all management and 
staff to ensure routine compliance 
with training.

There has been a complete 
refresh of the Ulearning portal, 
with a regular staff compliance 
report available to all managers. 
Essential training will 
subsequently be linked to 
appraisal accountability 

Assistant 
Director:
Human 
Resources and
Organisational
Development
(AD HR&OD).

March 2018

There are two essential training (e-
learning) modules to be completed by all 
employees:

- Responsibility for Information 
2017 (by 31 October 2017);

- Equality and Diversity in the 
Workplace (by 31 March 2018).

 
The update to the November ARMC will 
include performance information in 
respect of completing the Responsibility 
for Information training.
 
Specific training workshops targeted at 
line managers will be delivered by June 
2018:

- Stress management (October – 
December 2017) 

- Performance management 
(January – June 2018)

Amber Amber

P
age 127



6

Key Improvement 
Area
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Actions for Implementation 
(as per 2016/17 AGS)

Responsibility 
and 
Implementation 
Date 
(as per 2016/17 
AGS)

Progress Update –  as at 7/9/17 RAGB 
Rating -
Outcome

RAGB
Rating -
Arrang-
ements

statements, to promote 
compliance across the 
organisation. This will in turn hold 
both staff and their managers 
accountable for the completion of 
the training program.

Compliance - 
Contract 
Procedure Rules 
(CPR’s)
Compliance with the 
Councils CPR’s 
remains a 
Significant 
Governance Issue 
for the purposes of 
the 2016-17 AGS.

Development work is underway in 
2017-18 to address this issue; a 
number of actions are being 
implemented. These include a 
new procurement model structure 
to be in place by September 
2017. Additional training will be 
provided to officers and a 
targeted approach based on 
insight of areas of noncompliance 
put in place.

Head of 
Procurement

March 2018

In November 2015 Members approved 
the existing CPR’s. A full review of the 
CPR’s is currently being undertaken as 
this is required every two years. 
Recommendations for amendments will 
be presented for Member approval at the 
November 2017 ARMC. The 
recommendations will further enhance 
and support compliance.

The Use of Procurement Rules Approval 
Documents (PRAD) from 1 April 2017 to 
the 30 September 2017 will also be 
reported to Members in November 2017.

The new Corporate Procurement 
Structure will be finalised by the end of 
September 2017 and is expected to be 
fully operational, allowing for the 
recruitment process, from January 2018.

Amber AmberP
age 128



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE AND 
CORPORATE RISK

REPORT OF: Assistant Director: Finance

REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out progress made since my previous report in relation to key 
actions planned for 2017/18.

RECOMMENDATION/S

1. That the content of this report be noted.

Page 129

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Regular update reports are presented to this Committee on the work around 
risk management and insurance which seek to support the Risk Management 
framework and maintain the successful management of the insurance 
programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable to this report 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Risk and insurance management comprises two significant areas of activity:

 The provision of advice and support to Members and officers in 
developing the corporate risk management framework and processes.

 Risk financing which incorporates insurance procurement, management of 
the Council’s Insurance Fund and claims management.

3.2 In addition to day-to-day operations the service is responsible for major 
procurement exercises and improvement activities. This area of the report 
focuses on the latter. The key actions to be implemented during 2017/18 were 
included in the report to this Committee on 14 March 2017. Progress since 
my last report in respect of those actions is summarised in the paragraphs 
below.

3.2.1 Alignment of Risk Management and Performance Management

For some individual Pledges work to ensure that the principal risks to their 
delivery are understood and acted upon was delayed by the review of action 
plans for individual strategies. This work has now recommenced and the 
Senior Risk and Insurance Officer is providing support to Strategy Delivery 
Groups.

3.2.2. Corporate Risk Register

The corporate risk register is the subject of a separate report to this meeting.

3.2.3 Corporate Risk Management Policy

The draft revised version of the Policy is the subject of a separate report to 
this meeting.

Page 130



3.2.4 Traded Service for Schools and Academies

The process of renewing individual Academy schools’ insurance programmes 
for the new academic year has been concluded. A further school has joined 
the Oak Trees Multi-Academy Trust in September and has taken out a 
Service Level Agreement for Risk and Insurance Services.

3.2.5 Corporate Insurance Budget

Work has begun on the production of the corporate insurance budget for 
2018/19. The budget will be reported to this Committee in early 2018.

3.2.6 Policy Renewals – June 2017

The Council’s Property, Business Interruption, Museums, Marine, Crime and 
Personal Accident/Business Travel insurance policies are subject to Long 
Term Agreements. However the terms on which cover is provided still need to 
renewed each year. Terms for the 2017/18 policy period were agreed prior to 
renewal. Overall the premiums for the new policy year for these policies are 
0.3% higher than had been estimated.  This was because of a rise in the 
Museums policy premium due to an unexpected increase in the sum insured

3.2.7 Tender for Property Business Interruption Museums, Marine, Crime and 
Personal Accident/Business Travel Insurance

The Long Term Agreements for these policies indicated in paragraph 3.2.6 
expire at the end of June 2018. A competitive procurement exercise will 
therefore need to be undertaken. Because of the value of the contracts the 
exercise will need to comply with public sector procurement legislation as well 
as the Council’s own contract procedure rules. An initial meeting has been 
held with the Council’s insurance brokers and the Corporate Procurement 
Team to review the market for such risks and develop a project plan and 
timetable.

3.2.8 Liability Claims Handling  

New Public Liability claims continue to be reported at a historically low level. 
The successful recruitment to the vacant post within the Risk and Insurance 
team confirmed in my last report has restored the Council’s ability to deal with 
both complex and non-complex cases.

3.2.9 Actuarial Study

The last external investigation into the cost of Liability claims brought against 
the Council their likely ultimate cost and the sum required to be held by the 
Council to meet its obligations was commissioned in 2013. The legislative 
framework applying to such claims changed shortly after and as such 
changes take time to affect the Council’s claims experience I have refrained 
from commissioning a further study. However I consider that sufficient time 
has now passed and the change of insurer earlier in the year also makes this 
an appropriate time to conduct a study. The data required has been provided 

Page 131



to the actuary. I expect the report to be available in time to inform my forecast 
of the Council’s Liability insurance costs for 2018/19.

3.2.10 Review of Corporate Governance

A review of the Council’s corporate governance arrangements has been 
initiated. It will include how consideration of risk informs decision-making and 
arrangements for reporting risk information. The Senior Risk and Insurance 
Officer will be working closely with the working group. Any changes to the 
Council’s risk management framework arising from the review will be reported 
to this committee.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The continuing improvement of the risk management framework and the 
implementation of more effective processes will help to improve the ability to 
handle risk across the organisation.

7.2 If a large number of schools were to convert to academies the pool of 
contributors to the Insurance Fund would decrease. Over time this could 
reduce the authority’s buying power and the degree to which it could of self-
insure. This in turn could increase the cost of financing insurable risk. However 
my officers remain vigilant to potential conversions and will make changes to 
the authority’s arrangements to ensure that potential negative impacts are 
gradual and limited wherever possible.

7.3 Whilst the need to conduct a competitive tender exercise for a large element of 
the programme as indicated in paragraph 3.2.7 could lead to lower costs it 
does create uncertainty in the forecasting of the Council’s insurance costs for 
2018/19 and beyond.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 No specific consultation has been undertaken with regard to this report.

Page 132



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Lane
Senior Risk and Insurance Officer
telephone:  (0151) 666 3413
email:   mikelane@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None
REFERENCE MATERIAL
Correspondence with insurers, brokers and legal services providers

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Audit & Risk Management Committee
Corporate Risk & Insurance Management
Corporate Risk & Insurance Management
Corporate Risk & Insurance Management
Corporate Risk & Insurance Management

12 June 2017
14 March 2017
30 January 2017
22 November 2016

Page 133

mailto:mikelane@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: CORPORATE RISK REGISTER: UPDATE

REPORT OF: Chief Executive

REPORT SUMMARY
This report confirms the outcome of the 2016/17 year-end review of the register and 

its refresh by the Strategic Leadership Team. The potential impact of a governance 

review on future monitoring and reporting arrangements is also indicated. A copy of 

the refreshed register recently agreed by the Strategic Leadership Team is 

appended.

RECOMMENDATION/S
1. That Committee considers the refreshed corporate risk register.

2. That further reports on the Corporate Risk Register be brought to future 
meetings of this Committee.

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
1.1 Having an understanding of the Council’s principal risks and their controls 

supports the Committee’s responsibility in relation to the adequacy of the 
Council’s risk management framework.

1.2 The provision of regular reports to this Committee on the Corporate Risk 
Register is a requirement of the Council’s Corporate Risk Management 
Policy.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
2.1 None.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
3.1 Following adoption of the Wirral Plan in 2015 the Strategic Leadership Team 

(SLT) revised the Council’s Corporate Risk Register. This was reported to this 
Committee on 14 June 2016.

3.2 A review is undertaken at the end of each quarter by SLT. This addresses 
progress in relation to the management of the existing corporate risks as well 
as emerging risk areas for possible addition to the Register.

REVIEW QUARTER FOUR 2016/17
3.3 The quarter four review was undertaken by the Strategic Leadership Team on 

13 July.

3.4 To support the review a summary of the status of key mitigating actions for all 
of the existing corporate risk at the end of Quarter 4 was provided to the 
team.

3.5 The summary indicated that all mitigating actions appeared to be progressing 
as planned with the exception of:

 Development of Extra Care Housing (Risk 5: Integration of Health and 
Social Care)

 Review of the Members’ Code of Conduct (Risk 8: Governance)
 Implementation of the new Asset Strategy (Risk 10: Resources and 

Infrastructure). 

3.6 None of the exceptions were considered to be so significant as to warrant 
additional or alternative action in respect of those risks.

3.7  A number of emerging risk areas were also discussed by the Team

3.7.1 The absence of permanent holders of key posts including statutory positions.

Page 136



3.7.2 Uncertainty around future central government policy and the tactical approach 
to the UK’s departure from the European Union following the outcome of the 
general election.

3.7.3 The importance of robust emergency planning and response highlighted by 
the tragic incident at Grenfell Tower in London in June and the continuing 
threat of terrorist incidents

3.7.4 The Council’s capacity (both Member and officer) to deliver a significant 
change programme as well as maintaining ‘business as usual’ services.

3.7.5 Uncertainty over the outcome of the most recent Ofsted visit. (Issues raised 
by the Ofsted report and a Serious Case Review  concerning a significant 
CSE incident both feature in the draft Annual Governance Statement for 
2016/17).

3.7.6 Uncertainty over the outcome of an inspection of the Council’s services for 
children and young people with special educational needs and / or disabilities.

3.7.7 Signs of increasing tension nationally between local authorities and the NHS 
over addressing the rising levels of demand (particularly through the hospital 
system).

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER REFRESH 
3.8 In addition to the quarterly review process information on key control actions 

is refreshed each year to take account of new programmes and activity which 
will assist with the mitigation of the existing corporate risks. The Lead Officer 
for each corporate risk has reviewed the key control actions and has 
proposed amendments. Those amendments were considered by the Strategic 
Leadership Team on 5 September. A copy of the revised register as agreed 
by the Team is appended to this report.

DEVELOPMENT OF OTHER RISK REGISTERS
3.9 The Business Services and Delivery Services functions have produced 

baseline risk registers as part of the 2017/18 service planning process. Risk 
registers for both elements of the revised Transformation Programme are also 
in place In accordance with the Corporate Risk Management Policy. These 
are being reviewed and updated each month. 

3.10 The review of action plans for the Wirral Plan and capacity limitations in the 
Risk and Insurance team had meant that work on developing risk registers for 
Pledge strategies had been deferred. However this work is now being 
progressed.

GOVERNANCE REVIEW
3.11 A review of the Council’s corporate governance arrangements has been 

initiated. This will specifically consider the nature and extent of information 
considered by political and executive leaders including that relating to risk. As 
such it could have major implications for future arrangements for the reporting 

Page 137



of the Council’s most significant risks. Any planned changes in this area will 
be confirmed to this committee.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
4.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
6.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
7.1 There are no risks arising directly from this report.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
8.1 Arrangements for the production of risk registers for Pledge Strategies, the 

Transformation Programme and business plans were developed in 
consultation with the Intelligence and Change teams.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Lane
Senior Risk and Insurance Officer
telephone:  (0151) 666 3413
email:   mikelane@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Corporate Risk Register
REFERENCE MATERIAL
Not applicable

Page 138

mailto:mikelane@wirral.gov.uk


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Audit & Risk Management Committee

Audit & Risk Management Committee

Audit & Risk Management Committee

Audit & Risk Management Committee

12th June 2017

14th March 2017

30th January 2017

22nd November 2016

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Revised Corporate Risks Plotted on Existing Corporate Scoring Model

The graphic below shows the managed (current) risk scores for the revised corporate risks plotted on 
the Council’s corporate risk scoring matrix. This enables the reader to appreciate the significance of 
each risk relative to all the others. Each risk is indicated by its number, rather than by its full 
description. For complete descriptions please refer to the individual pages below.

Impact

Very Low (1) Low
(2)

Medium (3) High
(4)

Very High 
(5)

Very High 
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

High
(4)

4 8 12
(5)

16
(7)

20

Medium 
(3)

3 6 9
(3), (4), (8), 

(9), (10)

12
(1), (2), (6)

15

Low
(2)

2 4 6 8 10

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Very Low 
(1)

1 2 3 4 5

Page 141



2

Corporate Risk No. 1 / Financial Resilience

Risk Description Lead Responsibility
There is considerable uncertainty around the approach of Central Government over the level of future funding across the public 
sector and the mechanism for its allocation. The continuing review of Welfare Reform could further increase demand. The ability of 
the Council and its partners to continue to deliver the essential services residents need could be compromised should funding 
reductions continue as planned, or be accelerated, without substantial action from the Council and its partners.

Assistant Director:  
Finance / S151 Officer

Pledges affected Impacts
The availability and use of funding impacts 
on the delivery of all the Pledges

 Short-term actions adversely impact the longer-term outcomes.
 Further curtailment of services and /or need to review pledges.
 Potential insolvency through lack of planning / action.
 Possible intervention and /or take-over of individual services.
 Damage to the reputation of the Partnership in the eyes of the community and potential investors.

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 5 Likelihood 4 Total 20

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 Financial planning, management and reporting 
 Management of demand
 Programmes to reduce costs
 Programmes to increase revenue

Assistant Director:  Finance
Directors for Children and Care & Health
Director for Corporate Resources & Reform
Director for Business Services

Managed Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 3 Total 12

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
Reducing costs Partnership working / integration with Health (e.g. staff transfer to CCG and 

integrated commissioning)
Customer / Asset Programmes (e.g. Customer Access / Leisure)
Working across the Liverpool City Region (e.g. Waste and Transport)

Director for Care & Health - ongoing

Director for Corporate Resources & Reform
Chief Executive -ongoing

Increasing revenue Business Rates retention pilot
Commercialisation / income maximisation (e.g. debt management)
Expansion of Intelligence function across the partnership
Implementation of Growth Plan
Wirral Growth Company

Assistant Director:  Finance (from 1/4/17)
Director for Strategy and Partnerships
Director for Strategy and Partnerships
Strategic Commissioner - Growth 
Strategic Commissioner - Growth

P
age 142



3

Corporate Risk No. 2 / Organisation Development and Pace of Transformational Change
Risk Description Lead Responsibility
The Council is pursuing fundamental change to its design and operating model at the same time as developing cross-boundary and 
cross-sector alliances and embracing commercialism and innovative solutions to deliver outcomes. It is uncertain whether the 
Partnership will have available to it the capacity and expertise necessary to deliver transformation at the speed required and 
maintain day-to-day operations. Particularly given competition for staff from other employers.

Director – Corporate 
Resources and Reform

Pledges affected Impacts
The risk has the potential to affect the 
delivery of all Pledges.

 Failure to deliver key outcomes 
 Wasted resources / failure to deliver Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Failure to remodel the organisation
 Damage to reputation of the Council and its partners

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 5 Likelihood 4 Total 20

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
Capacity and Expertise  Performance appraisals 

 Accountability statements
 Ad-hoc initiatives -e.g. Children’s Social Work
 HR involvement in development of business cases for Alternative Delivery Models
 Appraisal of resources needed to support Alternative Delivery Models conducted

All -Assistant Director: HR & OD

Transformation  Robust business case process for agreed Transformational Change projects within a 
gateway framework

 Engagement of key stakeholders with clear communication regarding timescales
 Risk assessment of current projects and benefits undertaken
 Standard approach
 Revised Transformational Change programme agreed and resourced
 Central Transformation Office established and staffed
 Revised, stronger programme management and governance arrangements 

introduced
 Development & implementation of toolkits to support transformation e.g. ADM, 

Commercialisation and Business Analysis (BA) framework

All - Senior Manager - 
Transformation & Improvement

Managed Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 3 Total 12
Planned Additional Controls Responsibility

P
age 143



4

Capacity and Expertise  Development of People Strategy, including culture

 Work with LGA on Member development
 Introduce single management under Paul Satoor with Transformation and key 

support areas – Finance and HR

Assistant Director: HR & OD from 
2016/17
Assist Director: Law / Governance
Director – Corporate Resources 
and Reform (September 2017)

Transformation

 Development of change management framework
 Development of a Digital Transformation Programme –  Mandate to October   

Portfolio Board
 Base-lining, including people, costs and performance as essential at the start of any 

project to measure the benefits.
 Appointment of a communication officer to support staff consultation and publicity 

in relation to programmes, projects and the transformation office and development 
of communication plans 

 Development of Operating Models (blue print) and budget shadowing for transition 
and harmonisation of the new service

 Benefits, being improved outcomes / reduced costs, will be clear from the Business 
Case / monitored

 A Transformation Programme with realistic timescales, that is properly managed 
and well communicated providing clarity of focus.

 Provision of a mechanism/process for defining new outcomes to be undertaken           
in the next five years, linked to service delivery.

 Embed a continuous cycle of identifying needs and opportunities, to create a culture             
of validating and prioritising ideas, defining and verifying solutions. – Design 
Authority and Investment & Change Board to be implemented before EOY 2017

Director – Corporate Resources 
and Reform (All controls)
t.b.c.
From October 2017

During project start-up

August 2017

Ongoing

t.b.c.

By end of 2017

P
age 144



5

Corporate Risk No. 3 – Partnerships

Risk Description Lead Responsibility
The approach within the Wirral Plan is bringing together organisations which have different capabilities, cultures and levels of 
resilience. The focus of different partners could be affected by their own financial imperatives and the need to answer to a range of 
stakeholders. The constituent parts of the Partnership could also be affected by future changes in their structures or key personnel.

Chief Executive

Pledges affected Impacts
Impacts on all Pledges.  Damage to the reputation of the Council and partners.

 Lack of financial/organisational commitment from Partners
 The improved outcomes for Wirral residents would not be achieved.

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 3 Total 12

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 The Wirral Partnership agreed a single Wirral Plan with joint priorities, and committed to a partnership 

approach with collective actions to deliver it. Review conducted in 2017 and refreshed action plans produced.
 Partners have lead responsibility for a number of the Pledges and are involved in delivery of all of them
 To ensure that a single approach is taken forward, the Partnership Delivery Group (PDG) meets regularly, 

bringing together Chief Executives of partner organisations to co-design implementation of the Plan and 
emerging Strategies

 New governance arrangements implemented. These ensure that any issues or challenges in relation to 
implementation and performance can be pro-actively identified and addressed by relevant mitigating actions

 Monitoring and review arrangements for the Wirral Plan and individual Action Plans, including the Annual 
Report. These enable a comprehensive and detailed assessment of the delivery of the Pledges to be made.

 Wirral Leadership Academy builds greater collaboration across the partnership and supports the most effective 
use of its collective resources

Chief Executive

Chief Executive
Chief Executive

Chief Executive

Chief Executive

Chief Executive

Managed Risk Rating Impact 3 Likelihood 3 Total 9

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Delivery by the Leadership Academy of additional Partnership workshops and learning to further accelerate 

partnership collaboration and joint working. 
Chief Executive - throughout 
2017/18

P
age 145



6

Corporate Risk No. 4 – Devolution

Risk Description Lead Responsibility
Uncertainty exists around how the Liverpool City Region (LCR) might operate in future and the final shape of Devolution (potential 
for inefficiencies, silo behaviour, culture mismatch and gaps in accountability). Wirral might fail to reap the considerable benefits 
presented by membership of the LCR if it has insufficient influence and does not have enough ‘ready to go’ projects.

Chief Executive

Pledges affected Impacts
The risk potentially impacts on all of the 
Pledges.

 Potential loss of additional financial resources; failure to secure Council efficiencies; decreased 
influence and loss of identity for the Council and Partners.

 Adverse impact on most effective delivery of Wirral Plan and Pledges
 Failure to achieve improved outcomes and services for Wirral residents

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 3 Total 12

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 To ensure up to date knowledge and communication of developments:  Regular updates and briefings with 

elected members and Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) i.e. through Leader’s Portfolio reports; P&P progress 
reports; Scrutiny Review; SLT discussions

 To optimise Wirral’s influence: Wirral’s Chief Executive and Leader part of regular LCR meetings to develop the 
LCRCA’s governance arrangements, constitution and the devolution deal

 Wirral elected members appointed to LCR Scrutiny and other thematic Boards
 Wirral officers represent Wirral’s interests and priorities at relevant LCR boards and networks
 Ongoing activity to develop Wirral projects and ensure that they are represented within LCR strategic priorities
 SLT ongoing discussions to ensure a Strategic and comprehensive knowledge of developments; to agree 

Corporate approach; and to identify Wirral’s priority focus and projects for the Short, Medium and Long term
 To ensure Wirral awareness, understanding and effective input into all LCR developments Policy & Strategy 

team co-ordinate and deliver structured updates and briefings, including at Scrutiny Committee; Cabinet/SLT; 
Leadership; the Wirral Partnership.

Chief Executive

Chief Executive

Chief Executive
Chief Executive
Chief Executive
Chief Executive

Chief Executive

Managed Risk Rating Impact 3 Likelihood 3 Total 9

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Contribute to the implementation of detailed proposals for the LCRCA– including the new Mayor’s Office Chief Executive – 2017/18

P
age 146



7

Corporate Risk No. 5 - Integration of health and social care
Risk Description Lead Responsibility
 Significant challenges are posed by an ageing population and a predicated upsurge in the use of primary care. Integration is a 
means to ensure that services are cohesive and make best use of resources.  Levels of demand for hospital care and the high cost 
Social Care support, set against reducing resources present a significant set of challenges to the Healthy Wirral Partnership. 
Bringing together health and social care is important in terms of working as a single system but  could also expose funding deficits 
with greater clarity

Director for Care and 
Health

Pledges affected Impacts
The risk would directly affect 
Pledges 1, 6 and 9. However 
the financial impact of this risk 
could affect the delivery of all 
Pledges.

 Failure to optimise the Wirral health and social care ‘pound’.
 Increasing demand pressures would make delivering outcomes difficult.
 Services would be less streamlined and residents would continue to have to deal with multiple points of contact.
 Throughput from hospital admissions would not be addressed.
 Failure to realise efficiencies presented by integrated commissioning

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 5 Likelihood 4 Total 20

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
Integration Integration of community and older people’s services 

Integrated commissioning hub
Integration project for all age mental health services
Integration of all age disability services

All- Director for Care and Health

Managing 
Demand

Initiative to reduce long term care admissions
Initiatives around review of activity and replacement with alternatives (e.g. assistive technology)
Wirral Independence Service
Short term crisis support, to avoid admission
On-line self-assessment

All - Director for Care and Health

Other STAR Re-ablement service
Integrated single gateway into services
Rapid Community Response Service – with Wirral Community NHS Trust

All - Director for Care and Health

Managed Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 3 Total 12

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Development of extra care housing with a broad range of partners
 Review of the supported living service model
 Support regional work around specialist services and fees

All - Director for Care and Health (2016/17 
onwards)

P
age 147



8

Corporate Risk No. 6 – Effect of demographic changes on demand for services
Risk Description Lead Responsibility
People living longer is clearly positive and presents opportunities for the council and its partners, but also brings additional 
requirements and costs. Extra demand could be driven by the trend in some communities for people to develop multiple chronic 
conditions at an earlier age, and living longer with them. Residents will be encouraged to be more independent. But some 
communities are less resilient than others. Young people with complex disabilities have significant needs related to behaviours that 
challenge and a failure to provide good educational independence support and employment opportunities could lead to increasing 
cost of support due to high levels of dependence

Director for Care and 
Health

Pledges affected Impacts
All pledges within the ‘People’ area of the 
Plan and most pledges within the 
‘Environment’ area of the plan

 Negative impact on the lives of individuals (people end up in a greater state of crisis). Communities 
could become less cohesive and sustainable

 Needs go unmet
 Financial implications - one area requires an increasingly larger proportion of available future 

resources
Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 4 Total 16

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 Integrated Care programme
 Joint Commissioning arrangements with the Clinical Commissioning Group
 Delivery of commissioned lifestyle services - Head of Public Health
 All Age Disability pledge and plans
 ‘Healthy Wirral’ work stream on early intervention and prevention

All - Director for Care and Health

Managed Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 3 Total 12

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Build community capacity
 Develop a more comprehensive programme of education and advice
 Integration agenda – Healthy Wirral
 Programmes of early intervention and prevention 
 Implement health and social care integration

All - Director for Care and Health 
(2016/17 onwards)

P
age 148



9

Corporate Risk No. 7 – Safeguarding
Risk Description Lead Responsibility
A major failure in safeguarding would cause preventable harm to children or vulnerable adults and compromise our pledge to 
protect the vulnerable. It could lead to regulatory intervention and significant cost, to the Council and its partners, compromise 
outcomes at a child and families level and the Council as a whole.

Director for Children

Pledges affected Impacts
Older people live well (Pledge 1)
Vulnerable children reach their full potential 
(Pledge 4)
Zero tolerance to domestic violence (Pledge 
7)
Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe (Pledge 
20)

 Impact on the lives of the individuals involved and their communities
 Central government intervention – risk of being taken over by experts, an independent trust or 

neighbouring authorities
 Damage to the reputation of the Partnership and individual agencies
 Demoralisation and loss of staff
 Financial costs increase to respond to external scrutiny and the to make rapid improvement may 

need to bring in more people to respond to the issue)
Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 5 Likelihood 5 Total 25

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 An Improvement Board was established in September 2016 to drive the improvements needed to respond 

to the Ofsted recommendations; the board meets monthly to ensure the improvement plan including the 
safeguarding board recommendations are gripped, and progress is monitored and challenged.  The Board 
now includes an independent chair and an independent adviser appointed by the DFE.

 An experienced permanent Deputy Director for Children’s Care Services and an Independent Chair of the 
Wirral Safeguarding Children Board have been recruited and are in place.  A recruitment process is 
underway (July 2017) for an experienced permanent Director of Children’s Services

 An experienced social work practice improvement lead is in place and supporting the experienced 
permanent Deputy Director for Children’s Care Services 

 Children’s early help and intervention offer strengthened, through increased partnership engagement  to 
meet children’s needs earlier,  and so reduce demand for children’s social care

 A single senior manager is leading and overseeing the MASH (Multiagency Safeguarding Hub) this is under 
review to inform future need.

 Performance management and reporting arrangements have been reviewed and new arrangements are 
being put in place for September 2017 that provides a series of dashboards that allows responsibilities to be 
clear and distinct  

 CEX

 CEX

 CEX

 CEX

 CEX

 CEX

P
age 149



10

 An HR and OD team is co-located in the Children and Young People’s Department enabling close working 
with service managers to rapidly recruit, induct, develop and retain social workers and social work 
managers; and support managers at all levels to develop and challenge staff to meet the higher bar set 
through the Wirral Social Work Practice Standards

 CEX

Managed Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 4 Total 16

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Ensure Ofsted findings not identified as recommendations are addressed through  service improvement 

plans in children’s social care and early help
 Review the current HR and OD support available to children’s social care in order to develop a departmental 

approach 
 Deliver the priorities of the Local Children’s Safeguarding Board and the Safeguarding Adults Partnership 

Board

 Complete the financial review programme of work and implement the findings 
 Implement a process that ensures that plans are in place to manage the cessation of the additional funding 

allocated to address issues identified in the Ofsted inspection.
 Ensure the risks identified through the CYPD Transformation Programme are effectively managed through 

the programme structure

 CEX - ongoing

 CEX – 31/10/2017

 Directors for Children and 
Care and Health – ongoing 
(reviewed at boards)

 Director for Children
 CEX and Director for Children 

– t.b.c.
 CEX and Director for Children 

– ongoing (monthly review)

P
age 150



11

Corporate Risk No. 8 – Governance (including information governance) 
 Risk Description Lead Responsibility
Major acts of non-compliance with internal and external governance requirements could result in poor decision-making, 
malpractice and breach of legislation, leading to regulatory intervention and significant cost, both in financial terms and to the 
reputation of the Council and its partners.

Assistant Director – 
Law and Governance

Pledges affected Impacts
Effective governance impacts on the 
delivery of all the Pledges.

 Legal challenge to decisions.
 Financial penalties for non-compliance (e.g. for information governance incidents or breaches of 

procurement legislation).
 Loss of confidence by the public and other stakeholders in the Council’s decision-making and 

governance arrangements.
 Potential loss of inward investment in the borough from damage to the reputation of the Council 

and the wider Wirral Partnership in the eyes of potential investors.
Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 5 Likelihood 4 Total 20

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 Council Constitution
 Code of Corporate Governance
 Member / Officer Protocol
 Staff Policies (e.g. Dignity at Work) 
 Corporate Policies (e.g. Whistleblowing)
 Operational policies (e.g. Information Governance, Gifts and Hospitality)
 Ethical Framework for Members
 Regulatory policies - Planning and Licensing
 Oversight provided by CGG and Information Governance Delivery Group
 Annual Governance Statement

 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Assistant Director: HR & OD
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Heads of Regen & Planning and Env. & Regulation
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance
 Assistant Director – Law and Governance

Managed Risk Rating Impact 3 Likelihood 3 Total 9

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Review the Constitution, Code of Corporate Governance and Members Code of Conduct.

 Introduce the webcasting of Council Committee and Cabinet meetings.
 Review and enhance information governance arrangements (including delivery of action plan 

responding to the ICO report and ensuring delivery of the Council’s GDPR Project

Assistant Director – Law & Governance 
2017/18
Assistant Director – Law & Governance 17/18
Assistant Director – Law & Governance and 
Senior Information Risk Officer – 2017/18

P
age 151



12

Corporate Risk No. 9 – Economic Activity
Risk Description Lead Responsibility
Wirral is in competition for growth with areas across the country. Low levels of business and housing growth would adversely 
affect the Council’s income (Council Tax and Business Rates) and limit employment opportunities, with consequent effects on 
wellbeing and prosperity, and could drive an increase in demand for support.

Strategic 
Commissioner - 
Growth

Pledges affected Impacts
All pledges within the ‘Business’ element of 
the Plan, plus –
’Good quality housing’ (pledge 18)
‘Reduce child poverty’ (pledge 5)
‘Young people are ready for work’ (pledge 
3).
The financial impact of this risk could affect 
delivery of all pledges.

 Inability to deliver the Medium Term Financial Strategy.
 Failure to contain demand for Council services
 Negative impacts on the health and well-being of individuals.

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 5 Likelihood 4 Total 20

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 Implementation of the Growth Plan  Strategic Commissioner - Growth

Managed Risk Rating Impact 3 Likelihood 3 Total 9

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Complete consultation and implement the Wirral Strategic Regeneration Framework

 Delivery of the commissioned Wirral Business Support Service – including start-up and growth advice

 Delivery of programmes to drive key growth sectors, such as the Maritime Knowledge Hub

 Delivery of the Wirral Waters Investment Fund.

 Delivery of the Ways to Work programme.

Strategic Commissioner - Growth 
(July 2017: consultation. August 
2017: delivery structure)
Strategic Commissioner - Growth – 
2017/18 onwards
Strategic Commissioner - Growth – 
2017/18 onwards
Strategic Commissioner - Growth – 
2017/18
Strategic Commissioner - Growth – 
2017/18 

P
age 152



13

Corporate Risk No. 10 – Resources and Infrastructure
Risk Description Lead Responsibility
The availability to the partnership of sufficient and fit for purpose IT and communications, buildings and other assets could be 
undermined by inadequate planning and allocation, or a major disruptive incident. This might affect the delivery of essential 
services, harming the reputation of partners.

Director for Business 
Services

Pledges affected Impacts
The risk has the potential to affect the 
delivery of all Pledges.

 Compliance failures (breach of regulations or legislation)
 Inefficient service delivery
 Potential interruption to the delivery of critical services
 Wasted costs
 Criticism of partner agencies

Unmanaged Risk Rating Impact 4 Likelihood 4 Total 16

Key Existing Controls Responsibility
 Implementation of current asset management strategy.
 Partnership with other organisations (e.g. co-location)
 Business continuity policy and testing programme.
 Standardised, refreshed IT hardware.
 Ongoing programme of software update / security improvements

Senior Manager - Asset Management
Senior Manager - Asset Management
Head of Corporate & Community Safety
Head of Digital
Head of Digital

Managed Risk Rating Impact 3 Likelihood 3 Total 9

Planned Additional Controls Responsibility
 Establishment of data centres.
 Implementation of new Digital Strategy (including Rationalisation and standardisation of systems and 

applications).
 Implementation of new Asset strategy.

 Development of the Wirral Growth Company (Civic Hub)

Head of Digital - 2016/17 onwards
Head of Digital - from 2016/17 
onwards
Senior Manager - Asset Management 
from 2016/17 onwards
Strategic Commissioner: Growth – 
from 2017/18 onwards

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 25 September 2017

REPORT TITLE: CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT 
POLICY

REPORT OF: Chief Executive

REPORT SUMMARY
This report confirms the process behind the revision of the Council’s Risk 
Management Policy. It sets out the factors that have influenced its development, 
describes the main proposed changes from the current document and highlights an 
initiative that will affect the policy in future. Committee are asked to endorse the 
Policy and refer it to Cabinet for approval.

RECOMMENDATION/S

1. That the draft Risk Management Policy be approved and referred to Cabinet 
for formal adoption on behalf of the Council.

2. That regular reports on progress towards implementation of the risk 
management action plan be brought to this Committee.

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The adoption of a revised Risk Management Policy is a key element of the 
Council’s approach to managing risk.

1.2 In line with the governance arrangements for risk management this committee 
needs to maintain an oversight of developments in the Council’s risk 
management framework.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council has committed itself to an annual refresh of the policy. Changes 
within the Council and in good risk management practice also make it 
appropriate to update the document.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Like all organisations the Council has to deliver its objectives in the face of a 
complex and increasingly dynamic environment. The uncertainty created by 
that environment presents it with both opportunities and threats. So having a 
robust and effective framework for addressing risk and uncertainty is vital to 
the authority’s success.

3.2 A key value for the Council is to be ‘risk aware, not risk averse’. This makes 
the need for an effective approach to handling risk even more important.

3.3 The purpose of a risk management policy is to set out an organisation’s 
overall attitude to risk and uncertainty to confirm its commitment to managing 
risk to provide a high level view of the risk management process itself and to 
set out corporate requirements around how risk is to be handled. It is a key 
element of an organisation’s overall risk management framework.

3.4 Governance arrangements for the policy require it to be refreshed annually.

THE PROCESS

3.5 Under the governance structure for risk management any update to the Policy 
is considered by the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) then by this Committee 
before being put to Cabinet for formal adoption. The Corporate Governance 
Group also has a specific responsibility for considering changes to the 
Council’s risk management framework.

3.6 A number of significant changes were made to the Policy document in 2016 
reflecting the adoption of the Wirral Plan the new Operating Model and the 
revised governance arrangements for the Transformation Programme. 
Changes in the structure and governance of the Council and the Wirral 
Partnership since then have been modest (although one further structural 

Page 156



change came into effect on 1 September). Those changes which need to be 
reflected in the Policy have been confirmed through meetings which the 
Senior Risk and Insurance officer has held with the Intelligence Team, 
Transformation Office and Internal Audit. These have been incorporated into 
the revised draft document.  

3.7 Recommendations from the annual Internal Audit investigation into the 
Council’s risk management framework published in June 2017 have been 
taken into account in the revised Policy.

3.8 The revised document was considered by the Corporate Governance Group 
on16 August and by SLT on 5 September. The attached document 
incorporates their comments and suggestions.

PROPOSED CHANGES

3.9 A copy of the revised document is appended to this report. Significant 
amendments are highlighted in shaded text within the body of the document. 
However they are also indicated below:

 Updated narrative for the and ‘Drivers for Improvement’ (page 2)
 Table of formal risk identification activity updated to refer to ‘Lead 

Commissioner’ as opposed to ‘Pledge Sponsor’ in relation to pledge 
strategies (page 9)

 Table of formal risk review activity updated to refer to ‘Lead Commissioner’ as 
opposed to ‘Pledge Sponsor’ in relation to pledge strategies and minimum 
review frequency changed to 6 months (page 14)

 Graphic showing risk escalation process amended to clarify risks to be 
considered by the Strategic Leadership team (page 16)

 Inclusion of reference to Lead Commissioners for pledge strategies in table of 
risk reporting arrangements (page 21)

 Amendment to responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Group (page 23)
 Action plan updated (page 29)

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

3.10 The Director for Corporate Resources & Reform has initiated a review of the 
Council’s corporate governance arrangements. Part of the review will address 
how consideration of risk informs decision-making and arrangements for 
reporting risk information. The recommendations which result from that review 
could have significant implications for the Council’s risk management 
framework which will in turn need to be reflected in the next revision of the 
Policy.

 
ACTION PLAN

3.11 To respond to internal changes and to address the recommendations in the 
Internal Audit report will require the implementation of a number of actions. 
These are set out in page 29 of the draft policy. 

Page 157



NEXT STEPS

3.12 If endorsed by this Committee the Policy would be submitted to Cabinet for 
formal adoption on behalf of the Council. It would be signed by both the 
Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive in order to demonstrate 
commitment from the top of the organisation.

3.13 The Policy would be disseminated though presentations to Pledge Strategy 
Delivery Groups and to management teams. It would also be published on the 
Council Intranet and communicated through the continued roll out of the risk 
management E-learning courses for managers and employees.  

3.14 The Policy will be reviewed in 2018. The review process will take account of 
the governance review indicated in paragraph 3.10 the next Internal Audit of 
the risk management framework and wider developments in good risk 
management practice.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Adoption of the Policy will support compliance with Regulation 4(2) of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 Improvements to the Concerto system would require input from the Council’s 
Digital team. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Implementation of the policy could be frustrated by the limited capacity within 
the Risk & Insurance team. This risk will be mitigated in part by the use of Risk 
Champions and through support from officers in other teams (for example 
Intelligence, Internal Audit and Organisational Development) in the delivery of 
key components of the policy.

7.2 If the management of risk is not considered as a standard part of the planning 
and delivery of strategies services and programmes it would limit the benefits 
envisaged in the Policy. Commitment from the Council’s political and executive 
leadership will help to avoid this. Compliance with the policy will be verified 
through regular audits. In the longer term the cultural change needed would be 
achieved at least in part through training for officers and Members.

7.3 The incorporation of risk management practice into all areas of Council 
business will inevitably place some additional demand on the capacity of 

Page 158



officers and Members. But this impact should be limited by incorporating risk 
management into existing Council processes.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 There has been consultation with the Intelligence Team the Transformation 
Office, Internal Audit. the Corporate Governance Group and the Strategic 
Leadership Team.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Lane
Senior Risk and Insurance Officer
telephone:  (0151) 666 3413
email:   mikelane@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Risk Management Policy 2017

REFERENCE MATERIAL
Not applicable

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Audit & Risk Management Committee
Corporate Risk Management Policy
Corporate Risk Management Policy
Corporate Risk Management Policy
Cabinet
Corporate Risk Management Policy
Corporate Risk Management Policy
Corporate Risk Management Policy

26 September 2016
18 March 2015
28 January 2014

7 November 2016
4 June 2015
13 March 2014

Page 159

mailto:mikelane@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

Performing, Improving

Page 161



0

Current Document Status
Version 0.3 Approving Body Cabinet
Date 27/07/2017 Date of formal 

approval 
Responsible 
officer(s)

Mike Lane Review date September 2018

Version History
Date Version Author/Editor Comments
22/06/2017 0.1 Mike Lane Takes account of 

comments from 
Transformation Office

25/07/2017 0.2 Mike Lane Takes account of 
comments from 
Intelligence team

27/07/2017 0.3 Mike Lane Takes account of 
comments from Internal 
Audit

16/08/2017 0.4 Mike Lane Takes account of 
comments of Corporate 
Governance Group

Page 162



Contents
Page

1. Policy Statement 1
2. Background 2
3. Drivers for Change and Improvement 2
4. Why we need a Risk Management Policy 3
5. Aims of our Policy 3
6. Principles underpinning our Policy 3
7. Benefits 4
8. How risk management is governed 6
9. Application of the Policy 7
10. The risk management process 7

Identification 9
Evaluation 10
Management 12
Review 13

11. Recording of risks 14
12. Risk criteria 15
13. Escalation of risks 16
14. Reporting of risks 17
15. Roles and Responsibilities 22
16. Performance Management and Risk Management 27
17. Relationship with other Council policies 28
18. Our Desired Level of Capability 28
19. Action Plan 29
20. Resources 29
21. Evaluating Progress 29

Appendices

A – Glossary 30
B – Risk Categories 32
C – Risk Register Template 35

Page 163



1

1. Policy Statement

We accept that uncertainty and risk are inevitable features of the environment in which the 
Council and its partners seek to deliver its ambitious vision for the area set out in the Wirral 
Plan. We believe that how successful we are at dealing with the risks we face can 
significantly impact on the achievement of our priorities and the trust placed in us by the 
community and we will work to manage these risks down to an acceptable level.

However, we appreciate that uncertainty also presents opportunities and that we must 
innovate if the Council is to meet the challenges that it faces. We believe that risk 
management should not stifle innovation, but rather should support the taking of risks, 
provided that they are understood, actively managed and justified.

We also recognise that the increasing pace and complexity of the environment in which the 
Council operates could create combinations of events that cannot reasonably be envisaged. 
So we will also act to improve agility and organisational resilience.

Our goal is to become a risk aware organisation, in which risk management is fully embedded 
in all aspects of the Council’s business.

We plan to achieve this goal by:

 Establishing clear roles, responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council and the 
wider partnership for risk management;

 Encouraging maturity and candour in discussions between officers and members 
about the uncertainties associated with our objectives

 Incorporating risk management into the Council’s decision making and operational 
management processes;

 Reinforcing the importance of effective management of risk through training and 
provision of opportunities for shared learning;

 Incorporating risk management considerations into Strategy and Business Planning, 
Commissioning, Shared Services, Programme and Project Management, Partnerships, 
Alternative Delivery Mechanisms and Procurement Processes;

 Monitoring our risk management arrangements on a regular basis;

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Cllr Phil Davies Eric Robinson

Page 164



2

Risk Management Policy

2. Background

The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out an ambitious vision for the borough in the years 
ahead.

Everything we do is focused on achieving this vision and ensuring that we deliver the best 
possible outcomes for the community, whilst ensuring that we provide good value for our 
stakeholders.

Effective governance arrangements are essential to help us achieve that vision and risk 
management is a key element of those arrangements. How successful we are at dealing with 
the risks that we face has a major impact on our ability to deliver our Plan.

We recognise that our plans and objectives have to be delivered within a complex and 
increasingly dynamic environment. The interplay of social, political, economic and 
technological change creates uncertainty which poses threats to the delivery of the Council’s 
vision, but also presents us with opportunities. Effective risk management will help ensure 
that we are resilient and able to withstand any threats that emerge and exploit opportunities 
for improvement.

3 Drivers for Change and Improvement

Over recent years, the authority has made significant progress with improving the 
incorporation of risk management into the governance of the Council. However, further 
improvements are needed to ensure that the Council keeps pace with developments in good 
practice and derives the maximum benefit from the time, energy and resource invested in 
managing risk.

In a local authority context, good risk management is largely concerned with helping 
Members and officers to make better strategic and tactical choices. The scale of the 
decisions which need to be taken in the coming years, about the very nature of our 
organisation, its role and how it relates to the community, make it more critical than ever for 
the Council to have a robust approach to addressing risk and uncertainty.

This corporate policy will ensure that there is clarity on what we are trying to achieve with, 
and through, risk management and an agreed corporate process by which risk management 
is carried out.

Page 165



3

4. Why we need a risk management policy

It is important that we have a clear policy so that -

 Everyone has a good understanding of the terminology we use in relation to risk and 
risk management

 Everyone has a common understanding about the purpose, structure and approach 
to risk management 

 Everyone is clear about their responsibilities in relation to risk management
 There is a consistent methodology to identify and assess the key risks and 

opportunities associated with our aims and objectives
 There is clarity around the arrangements for reporting information on risks
 Risk management is embedded into all our business processes.

5. What are the aims of our policy?

 To embed risk management into the culture of the Council.
 To support the Council’s value of being ‘risk aware, not risk averse’
 To integrate risk management with other management practices to ensure that risks 

are managed effectively at strategic and operational level and for all key programmes 
and strategies.

 To identify and effectively manage the key risks facing the Council.
 To maximise the opportunities for the achievement of objectives and minimise the 

risk of service failure.
 To ensure that we learn from risk failures to improve risk management awareness, 

systems and processes.
 To support Members and officers in carrying out their responsibilities.
 To support the decision making process at all levels within the Council.
 To ensure that effective risk management arrangements are in place to support the 

Annual Governance Statement and corporate governance arrangements.
 To support compliance with the requirements of the Account & Audit Regulations 

2011.

6. What are the principles that underpin our policy?

 Risk management should be systematic and structured: The approach should be 
consistently applied within the Council. To help ensure that outputs are both reliable 
and comparable and to give managers increased confidence to make effective 
decisions.

 Risk management should be based on the best available information: The inputs 
should be based on available information sources such as experience, subject 
knowledge, expert judgement and projected forecasts. Managers should be aware of 
any limitations to the data or divergence of opinion among specialists.

Page 166



4

 Risk management should explicitly address uncertainty: It should be used to help 
clarify the nature of uncertainty affecting decisions and how it might be treated.

 Risk management should be part of decision making: To help Members and officers 
choose the option that is most appropriate for the Council in terms of its risk appetite 
and ability to manage risks effectively.

 Risk management should take into account organisational culture, human factors 
and behaviour: It should recognise the capabilities, perceptions and intentions of 
external and internal people that might hinder attainment of Council objectives.

 Risk management should create and protect value: It should contribute to the 
demonstrable achievement of objectives It should support corporate governance, be 
integrated with management processes, provide assurance to stakeholders and 
reflect legislative and compliance requirements.

 Risk management should be tailored: It should be proportionate and scaled to 
address the internal and external circumstances.

 Risk management should be transparent and inclusive: Management and 
stakeholders should be actively involved so that risk management remains relevant 
and up to date.

 Risk management should be dynamic, iterative and responsive to change: It should 
continually identify and respond to changes effecting the operating environment by 
having an open, positive culture that encourages managers to disclose, discuss and 
respond to risk.

7. What benefits can we expect to see?

Improved business planning: through the use of risk-based decision making processes for 
establishing priorities and objectives

Enhanced corporate performance: by identifying and addressing threats to achievement 
there is an increased likelihood of achieving objectives, both across the Partnership and 
within the Council itself. More informed decision-making, added value across service areas 
and improved service delivery that matches organisational priorities, an increased number of 
targets achieved and improved internal controls

Improved financial performance: improved forecasting and support for a balanced approach 
to the setting of balances and reserves, more effective allocation and use of resources for 
risk treatment, providing value for money, assets safeguarded, reduced level of fraud and 
increased capacity through a reduction in decisions that need reviewing or revising

Page 167



5

A more balanced approach to risk: as well as understanding and tackling the most significant 
threats to the Council’s objectives, there would be a greater awareness of the opportunities 
which are available and an increased willingness and ability to exploit them fully

Better outcomes for the community: as risk management focuses us to consider potential 
impacts if the risk were to occur for the council and the wider community. So, if risks are 
successfully managed, this could lead to improved customer relations and increased public 
satisfaction, confidence and trust

Improved corporate governance and compliance: greater adherence to legal and regulatory 
requirements, fewer regulatory visits, reduction in legal challenges and an improved 
corporate governance statement

Improved insurance management: reduction in the number and costs of claims and 
uninsured losses, containing the cost of insurance premiums.
  
Improved organisational resilience: fewer disasters and surprises and an enhanced ability to 
recover quickly from those that might occur

More effective partnership arrangements: maximising the benefits from our relationships 
with public, private and voluntary sector partners

Page 168



6

8. How Risk Management is Governed

Ultimate responsibility for the effective management of risk rests with Cabinet and the 
Leader of the Council as part of their wider responsibilities for effective corporate 
governance. The Cabinet Member for Transformation is responsible for oversight of 
improvements to the risk management framework.

The Risk Management Policy and action plan are approved by the Strategic Leadership Team 
and by Audit & Risk Management Committee and are adopted by Cabinet on behalf of the 
Council. They are subject to review on an annual basis and will be communicated to all those 
with a responsibility for managing risk.

The Council’s Annual Governance Statement is informed by a review of the governance 
framework undertaken by Internal Audit, which includes a review of the effectiveness of the 
risk management framework.  The Chief Executive and Leader of the Council endorse the 
statement and this is presented to the Audit and Risk Management Committee for approval.

Internal Audit undertakes an annual assessment of the Council’s risk management maturity 
using a CIPFA framework. The audit programme is directly informed by the Council’s key 
risks.

Individual managers are responsible for managing the risks associated with their service, 
strategy or project objectives, but will escalate specific risks in accordance with the risk 
escalation criteria.

The Strategic Leadership Team maintains an overview of the Council’s risk profile.

Cabinet

Strategic Leadership 
Team

Corporate Governance Group

Directors

Assistant 
Directors

Programme 
Managers

Project  
Managers

Pledge Strategy 
Groups

Audit & Risk 
Management 

Internal 
Audit

Portfolio Holder 
(Transformation,)

Page 169



7

9. Application of the Policy

This policy applies to Council Members and to Officers at all levels. 

The management of risk applies to all of the Council’s business processes and should inform 
all areas of activity, including, but not limited to:

 Setting strategic objectives → Wirral Plan
 Setting business objectives →Strategies and business plans
 Budget setting process→ investment and savings decisions, establishing levels of 

balances, evaluating bids for capital funding
 Developing policies and strategies
 Programme and project management
 Establishing and managing Alternative Delivery Mechanisms
 Workforce planning
 Procurement exercises

10. The Risk Management Process

The risk management process is intended to ensure that the key risks to achieving our 
objectives are identified and managed. Too little awareness and management of these key 
risks can adversely affect our performance. But attempting to mitigate all possible risk could 
divert too many of our limited resources away from providing services. Between these two 
extremes is a turning point, a balanced area of high performance through the sensible 
management of risk. This is the status the Council aims to achieve through implementation 
of its Risk Management Policy.

Communication and Consultation

The risk management process cannot be effective without an appropriate level of 
communication between all internal and external stakeholders. This will require engagement 
with all those who have an interest in the risks to our objectives, at whatever level we are 
assessing. This may include the public, our partners, programme and project boards, 
management teams and other specialists, whose assistance may be beneficial when 
identifying and evaluating risks.
Communication and consultation should occur at all stages of the risk management process.

Establishing the Context

Establishing the context defines the basic parameters for managing risk and sets the scope 
and criteria for the rest of the process. This first stage is an essential precursor to core 
process. It should involve consideration of:

Page 170



8

 The external and internal operating environment
 What we are looking at, strategic or service objectives, programme/project or 

partnership objectives, budgets or policies, procurement or commissioning, options 
for decisions. 

 Who will be involved, be they internal or external stakeholders. They should all be 
considered as they may have an interest in or a valuable contribution to add to the 
rest of the process

 Who will be responsible for the process: define responsibilities for review, monitoring 
and reporting

 The risk criteria and appetite, whether it is political, economic, legal, environmental, 
etc. The impact criteria to be included and how they will be measured

 If looking at partnership risk, which partner’s processes will be adopted

The Core Risk Management Process

The Council has a four-stage process for managing risks, shown in the graphic below.

Identify

Evaluat
eManage

Review

This process provides Officers and Members with an improved understanding of the risks 
that could affect the achievement of their objectives and the adequacy and effectiveness of 
existing controls. It also provides the basis for decisions about the most appropriate 
approach to be used to tackle risks.

The process will be applied to all key business processes, including:

 Setting strategic and service objectives and priorities
 Creating business cases for programmes and projects
 Managing Wirral Plan pledge strategies
 Procuring and/or commissioning goods or services
 Setting of short and medium term budgets
 Establishing or refreshing policies and strategies

The core process should be dynamic and applied continuously.

Page 171



9

Stage 1: Identification

The Council defines a risk as:

“An uncertainty that could have adverse or beneficial effects on the achievement of 
objectives”

This initial stage of the process sets out to identify the exposure to these uncertainties. Risks 
will be identified in relation to the objectives for the service area, project, strategy or 
activity. So it is important that those objectives are clear and meaningful.

Risk identification should be a continuous process. However, there are times when formal 
identification exercises should be undertaken. The table below indicates when they should 
be carried out, why they are necessary and who should undertake this task.

Activity When By Whom
Wirral Plan When the Plan has been 

produced the key strategic risks 
to its delivery will be identified.

Strategic Leadership 
Team

Wirral Plan Pledge Strategies Initial high level risk 
identification will be 
undertaken as part of the 
development of the strategy, to 
inform the action plan.
After action plans have been set 
more detailed identification of 
the key threats to their delivery 
will be undertaken.

Lead Commissioner and 
Strategy Delivery Groups

Business and Service Plans After operational objectives 
have been set, to establish the 
key threats to their delivery.

Directors 

Establishment of programmes and 
projects

During the development of 
business cases the key risks to 
delivery of the 
programme/project will be 
identified, to inform the 
decision as to whether to 
proceed. Additionally during 
Programme Definition and 
Project Initiation full risk 
management will be applied

Programme Manager  
and Project manager

Development of alternative delivery 
mechanisms

During the development of 
business cases, to inform the 
decision as to whether to 
proceed.

Officer(s) responsible for 
development

Page 172



10

Activity When By Whom
Procurement or commissioning 
exercises

During the development of 
business cases, to inform the 
decision as to whether to 
proceed and how the exercise 
will be conducted. 

Officer(s) responsible for 
the exercise

Development/updating of policies 
or strategies

During the drafting of the 
document, to give decision-
makers an understanding of the 
threats to its delivery

Officer responsible for 
producing the document

Resource allocation During the development of 
options for investment or 
reducing resources, to inform 
decisions around which to 
select

Officer responsible for 
developing the options

Producing Committee reports on 
key decisions

Prior to drafting of the report, 
to give Members an 
understanding of the risks and 
benefits associated with 
different options.

Report author

A variety of tools are available to complete the identification stage of the process, including 
brainstorming workshops, one-to-one interviews and reviewing ‘lessons learnt’ logs. 
Reference to standard risk categories can also be helpful and a list of categories relevant to 
strategies and business plans is shown in Appendix B. 

Each risk identified will be allocated to a risk owner who is accountable for its management. 
In respect of Corporate risks, the risk owner will be a member of the Strategic Leadership 
Team.

Stage 2: Evaluation

In order for us to make informed decisions about how best to use our limited resources to 
tackle risks, we need to understand their relative significance. This will be done by evaluating 
risks in relation to their likelihood and their impact. 

The significance of all risks will be evaluated using the 5 by 5 likelihood and impact matrix 
adopted by the Council shown below. Evaluation of risks to the delivery of programmes and 
projects will use different definitions of impact and likelihood to those for used for risks to 
Pledge strategies and business plans.

Wherever possible, evaluation will be undertaken by a range of stakeholders with an interest 
in the strategy, service, project, partnership or other initiative and a consensus reached. This 
will help to avoid the assessment being skewed by the views any one individual. 

Page 173



11

Step 1 – Current Risk

Once the risk has been identified and defined, the current (also called residual) risk score will 
be calculated. This score is a measure of the risk as it is today, taking account of what is 
currently in place to manage (i.e. mitigate) it. Understanding what controls are already in 
place and their effectiveness is a vital part of the evaluation and these will be considered 
before judgements are made on impact and likelihood.

The potential impact of a risk will be judged in relation to its consequences (effects) and the 
current controls in place. The likelihood of a risk occurring will be judged by considering the 
risk description and the current controls that are in place.

The results of the evaluation of impact and likelihood will be recorded in the risk register.

Very Low
(1)

Low
(2)

Medium
(3)

High
(4)

Very High
(5)

Very High (5) 5
Very low 

impact but 
very high 
likelihood

10
Low impact 

but very high 
likelihood

15
Medium 

impact but 
very high 
likelihood

20
High impact 

and very high 
likelihood

25
Very high 

impact and 
very high 
likelihood

High
(4)

4
Very low 

impact but 
high likelihood

8
Low impact 

but high 
likelihood

12
Medium 

impact but 
high likelihood

16
High impact 

and high 
likelihood

20
Very high 

impact and 
high likelihood

Medium (3) 3
Very low 

impact and 
medium 

likelihood

6
Low impact 

and medium 
likelihood

9
Medium 

impact and 
medium 

likelihood

12
High impact 
but medium 

likelihood

15
Very high 

impact and 
medium 

likelihood
Low
(2)

2
Very low 

impact and 
low likelihood

4
Low impact 

and low 
likelihood

6
Medium 

impact and 
low likelihood

8
High impact 

but low 
likelihood

10
Very high 

impact but 
low likelihood

Very Low (1) 1
Very low 

impact and 
very low 

likelihood

2
Low impact 

and very low 
likelihood

3
Medium 

impact and 
very low 

likelihood

4
High impact 
but very low 

likelihood

5
Very high 

impact but 
very low 

likelihood

Impact 

  L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

 

Page 174



12

Step 2 - Unmanaged Risk

Once the current risk score has been calculated, the risk will be re-evaluated to consider the 
position if there were no controls, actions or management arrangements in place. This is 
done to establish the unmanaged (also called inherent) risk rating. The difference between 
the Unmanaged and the Current risk scores helps to demonstrate the value of the existing 
controls, but should prompt consideration of whether all of the controls are required. It may 
be possible to identify risks which are over-controlled and where resources presently used 
for control could be freed up.

Stage 3: Management

Under the management stage, responses (controls) are selected for risks and plans are 
developed to implement those controls.

The broad nature of the possible responses to a given risk is shown in the following table:

Risk Management
Response Strategies

Mitigate – Reducing the scale of the risk 
in order to make it more acceptable, by 
reducing the likelihood and/or impact.
Accept – Recognizing that some risks 
must be taken and responding either 
actively by developing appropriate 
contingency arrangements or passively 
doing nothing except for monitoring the 
status of the risk.
Transfer – Identifying another 
stakeholder better able to manage the 
risk, to which the responsibility can be 
passed.
Avoid – Eliminate the uncertainty by 
making it impossible for the risk to occur 
(e.g. discontinue activity), or by 
executing a different approach to 
eliminate the risk.

Resource and Cost / Benefit Analysis

The responses to the risks identified need to be appropriate, achievable and affordable. 
There will be some occasions when the cost of the response will outweigh the benefits to be 
gained from the proposed course of action. So an assessment of the cost / benefit of 
implementing the response will be carried out as part of the management stage. In 
determining the most appropriate response to a risk, care should be exercised to ensure that 
the response selected does not create other risks. The resourcing of risk controls should be 
considered as part of business and financial planning.

Page 175



13

Any control selected for implementation will be made the responsibility of a given individual 
(the control ‘owner’). The owner and the planned implementation (target) date will be 
recorded in the relevant risk register.

Target Risk

When the management response and implementation plans have been determined the risk 
will then be re-evaluated to determine the Target Risk Rating. This evaluation will take into 
account all of the controls (existing and additional) that were identified earlier in the 
management stage.
This provides an estimate of the future rating that will be achieved when all the controls 
(both existing and planned) have been implemented. This information will also be recorded 
in the risk register.

Stage 4: Review

The environment in which the Council operates is dynamic and the management of risk 
needs to be also. To support the risk management process strategy, service, project and 
other risk registers will be subject to regular review.

The reviews of risk registers will involve;

 Identifying potential new risks and the controls already in place to help mitigate 
them. Considering whether additional controls are needed.

 Reviewing the effectiveness of the existing controls for risks already on the register.
 Reviewing control actions that were scheduled to be carried out and considering 

whether any additional actions should be implemented.
 Re-evaluating the current and target scores for likelihood and impact in relation to 

existing risks, by reference to the effectiveness of the existing controls and progress 
in implementing additional controls.

 Reviewing contingency arrangements in response to changing internal and/or 
external events

 Considering whether any risks on the register no longer present a threat and should 
be removed

 Considering whether any risks on the register should be escalated (or de-escalated) in 
accordance with the criteria shown below.

Responsibilities for Review

The following table highlights how the Council’s review process will operate:

What By Whom When
Corporate Risk 
Register

Strategic Leadership Team Quarterly

Risk Registers for 
Service Plans 

Directors and Assistant Directors No less than once a month. 

Page 176



14

What By Whom When
Programme Risk 
Registers

Programme Boards As indicated in the relevant governance 
arrangements. But no less than once 
every month.

Project Risk Registers Project Boards As indicated in the relevant governance 
arrangements. But no less than once 
every month.

Wirral Plan Pledge 
Strategy risk registers

Lead Commissioner and Strategy 
Delivery Groups

No less than once every 6 months

In undertaking reviews, those responsible will take account of the results of internal and 
external audit reports.

Following each review, the relevant risk register will be updated. A copy of each updated 
Business Plan and Pledge Strategy risk register will be provided to the Risk & Insurance team.

In addition to the continuous review process outlined above, risk registers for service plans 
and pledge strategies will be reviewed annually as part of the corporate planning process.

11. How We Will Record Risks 

Information on risks will be recorded in risk registers. The different levels of risk register that 
we will maintain are shown below -

Corporate risk register
This register is the responsibility of the Strategic Leadership Team and will be maintained by 
the Risk & Insurance team. 

Business / Service Plan risk register
These registers are the responsibility of each Director and will be maintained by the relevant 
management team. 

Programme
These registers are the responsibility of the relevant Programme  Sponsor and will be 
maintained by the Programme Manager

Project
These registers are the responsibility of the Project Sponsor and will be maintained by the 
Project Manager

Wirral Plan Pledge Strategies
These registers are the responsibility of the Lead Commissioner and Strategy Delivery 
Groups.

To help ensure that risk information is captured in a consistent format, a standard risk 
register template will be used. A copy of the template is shown at Appendix C.

Programme and project risk registers will be maintained in the Council’s ‘Concerto’ system.

Page 177



15

12. How We Will Determine Whether Risks Are Acceptable

It is vital that we have a consistent approach to evaluating the significance of risks and that 
those responsible for managing them understand the boundaries of acceptability and the 
thresholds for escalation and for reporting to senior managers and to Members.

Political and executive leaders have undertaken an exercise to consider the acceptability of 
many of the most critical risk areas faced by the Council. This work confirmed that overall the 
leadership is prepared to confront a significant degree of risk of risk to pursue delivery of the 
Wirral Plan. However, there is less willingness to accept risks involving significant potential 
adverse effects on people (whether employees or the public) or interruption to service 
delivery.

At an operational level, the significance of a risk will be determined by two factors – its 
likelihood and its impact. Each of these factors has a value of between 1 and 5. When 
mapped onto the Council’s risk matrix shown of page 11, the values indicate which of 3 
categories the risk falls into – red, amber or green.

In broad terms, the response to risks in each category will be as shown in the table below:
 
Risk 
Colour

Risk Level Descriptor Action Required

Green Low Minor risks that are well 
controlled and/or which have a 
modest impact.

Additional control actions are 
unlikely to be needed. But the 
risk needs to be kept under 
periodic review.

Amber Medium Important risks that may 
potentially affect the 
achievement of operational or 
strategic objectives and/or the 
delivery of key services

The introduction of additional 
control actions should be 
considered. For risks with a 
high or very high impact, a 
contingency plan may be 
necessary.

Red High Critical risks which are likely to 
significantly affect the 
achievement of operational or 
strategic objectives and/or the 
delivery of key services.

Further mitigating action 
should be considered. The risk 
should be kept under regular 
review.

Page 178



16

13. Escalation of Risks
Critical to the effective management of risks is the reporting of information to the appropriate level of management. To ensure that risks are 
considered at the appropriate level, the following criteria have been established:

Corporate Risks 
Risks at this level will be managed by the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) and will have the following characteristics:

 Corporate or cross cutting risks that are likely to impact on multiple priorities and objectives.
 Strategic risks that are likely to have an impact on the medium to long term goals and tend to link to the 

priorities and objectives in the Wirral Plan.
 Risks at business plan, programme/project or pledge strategy level that if realised would have a critical impact 

on the Wirral Plan priorities and objectives and which need intervention by SLT or Cabinet.
 Risks with significant financial, service or reputation impact that require SLT overview and management.

Business/Service Plan Risks
Risks at this level will generally be identified and managed 
by the relevant management team. Risks assigned to this 
level will have the following characteristic:

 Risks that impact solely on the objectives for an 
individual business plan

 Risks of potentially wider impact but which can be 
managed effectively by the management team.

Programme Risks
Risks at this level will generally be identified and managed by 
Programme Boards. Risks assigned to this level will have the 
following characteristics:

 Risks that have a wide-ranging impact on the 
objectives of the programme as a whole, but which 
can be managed by the Programme Board

 Risks with a significant impact on the objectives for a 
particular project but which require Programme 
Board intervention.

Pledge Strategy Risks
Risks at this level will generally be identified and managed by 
the Strategy Delivery Group. Risks assigned to this level will 
have the following characteristic:

 Risks that impact solely on the outcomes for the 
individual strategy

 Risks of potentially wider impact but which can be 
managed effectively within the strategy.

.

Project Risks
Risks at this level tend to be identified and managed by 
project boards or teams. Risks at this level will have the 
following characteristic:

 Risks that impact on individual project objectives and 
which can be managed by the project board, manager 
or team.

P
age 179



17

The escalation of risks to the Corporate Risk Register is considered by the Strategic 
Leadership Team in a quarterly review. The Team will review the issue against the escalation 
criteria and take appropriate action. This may include:

 Escalating the risk and adding it to the Corporate Risk Register for monitoring and 
reporting to Members.

 Incorporating the risk into an existing entry on the Corporate Risk Register if the risk 
is related to it, for ongoing management and review.

 De-escalating the risk to business plan, pledge or programme level for ongoing 
management and review.

14. How Risks will be reported

It is important that we are clear about what information on risks and opportunities is to be 
reported, the format for this and to whom and when it should be reported. The following 
table summarises our reporting arrangements:

Stakeholder(s) What information do they 
need?

How will this be 
provided? 

When will this be 
provided?

 A detailed, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks and 
opportunities facing the 
Council, the principal 
controls and their 
effectiveness

?

Inclusion of a risk 
assessment in the 
Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

?

Annually

Cabinet

 A working knowledge of 
the corporate risk 
management framework 
and its effectiveness

Publication of the 
Corporate Risk 
Management Policy 
document. 

Publication of the 
Annual Governance 
Statement

Annually

Annually (in 
September)

Page 180



18

Stakeholder(s) What information do they 
need?

How will this be 
provided? 

When will this be 
provided?

 A detailed, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks and 
opportunities facing the 
Council, the principal 
controls and their 
effectiveness

Presentation of the 
full Corporate Risk 
register 

Updates on 
management of the 
Corporate risks

At least annually

Each meeting of the 
committee.

 A detailed knowledge of 
the corporate risk 
management framework 
and its effectiveness

Publication of the 
Corporate Risk 
Management Policy 
document

Regular updates of 
progress towards 
implementation of 
the risk management 
action plan

An assessment of the 
Council’s risk 
management 
maturity from 
Internal Audit

Annually 

Each meeting of the 
committee

Annually 

Audit & Risk 
Management 
Committee

 An understanding of     
compliance with the 
corporate risk 
management policy by 
services, strategy groups 
and programmes

Publication of the 
Annual Governance 
Statement

Publication of 
Internal Audit 
reports on individual 
service areas

Annually 

As determined by 
the Internal Audit 
programme

Overview & Scrutiny 
committees

 A good, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks associated 
with the  areas for which 
they are responsible for 
providing scrutiny and 
the principal controls 

Inclusion of key risks 
in business case 
documents

When the business 
case is being 
considered

Page 181



19

Stakeholder(s) What information do they 
need?

How will this be 
provided? 

When will this be 
provided?

 A detailed knowledge of 
the corporate risk 
management framework 
and its effectiveness

Publication of the 
Corporate Risk 
Management Policy 
document

Updates of progress 
towards 
implementation of 
the Risk 
Management 
Strategy

Publication of the 
Annual Governance 
Statement

Annually 

Each meeting of 
Audit & Risk 
Management 
Committee

Annually (in 
September)

Portfolio Holder 
(Transformation, 
Leisure & Culture)

 An understanding of 
individual service areas 
compliance with the 
corporate risk 
management policy

Publication of 
Internal Audit 
reports on individual 
service areas

As determined by 
the Internal Audit 
Plan

 A detailed, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks facing the 
Council the principal 
controls and their 
effectiveness

Updates on progress 
in managing existing 
Corporate risks (as 
part of the quarterly 
review)

At the end of each 
quarter

 An understanding of 
significant emerging 
risks

A summary of 
significant new risks 
(as part of the 
quarterly review) 

At the end of each 
quarter

Strategic Leadership 
Team

 A good knowledge of the 
corporate risk 
management framework 
and its effectiveness

Publication of the 
Annual Governance 
Statement

An assessment of the 
Council’s risk 
management 
maturity from 
Internal Audit

Annually (in 
September)

Annually (in 
September)

Page 182



20

Stakeholder(s) What information do they 
need?

How will this be 
provided? 

When will this be 
provided?

Directors  A detailed, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks and 
opportunities associated 
with the areas for which 
they are responsible, the 
principal controls and 
their effectiveness

 An understanding of 
significant emerging 
risks and opportunities

 A good understanding of 
adherence to the 
corporate risk 
management policy by 
those the areas for 
which they are 
responsible

Summaries of risks 
from Assistant 
Directors.

Risks highlighted 
within Internal Audit 
reports

Publication of 
Internal Audit 
reports on individual 
service areas

No less than once a 
quarter.

As determined by 
the Internal Audit 
Plan.

As determined by 
the Internal Audit 
Plan.

 A detailed, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks and 
opportunities associated 
with the areas for which 
they are responsible, the 
principal controls and 
their effectiveness

 An understanding of 
significant emerging 
risks and opportunities

Summaries of risks 
and opportunities 
from managers and, 
where relevant, 
Internal Audit 
reports.

No less than once a 
quarter

Assistant Directors 

 A good understanding of 
adherence to the 
corporate risk 
management policy by 
those the areas for 
which they are 
responsible

Publication of 
Internal Audit 
reports on individual 
service areas

As determined by 
the Internal Audit 
Plan

Page 183



21

Stakeholder(s) What information do they 
need?

How will this be 
provided? 

When will this be 
provided?

Lead Commissioner 
– Pledge Strategies

 A good knowledge of 
the principal risks to 
delivery of the 
strategy, the 
principal controls 
and their 
effectiveness

Presentation of the 
pledge strategy risk 
register

No less than once 
every 6 months

 A good understanding of 
the principal risks and 
opportunities presented 
by the programme

An assessment of 
risks and benefits

As part of developing 
the business case for 
the programme

 A detailed, current 
knowledge of the 
principal risks to delivery 
of the programme

Presentation of the 
programme risk 
register

As determined by 
the Programme 
governance 
arrangements, but 
not less than once 
every month

Programme Boards

 A good understanding of 
the risk management 
arrangements

Inclusion of risk 
management 
arrangements in the 
Business Case

As part of the 
business case.

Page 184



22

15. Roles and Responsibilities

The Council is a large and complex organisation. So it is important that we are clear about 
what should be done and who it should be done by. The table below details the roles and 
responsibilities in relation to risk management for all stakeholders. 
We will communicate these through the distribution of this policy, the provision of training 
and the issue of guidance.

Stakeholder Role and Responsibilities 

Role: To oversee the effective management of risk as part of good corporate 
governance.

Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet 
Members

Responsibilities
 Adopt the Council’s risk management Policy and ensure that risk 

management is delivered on behalf of the Cabinet by the Chief 
Executive and the Strategic Leadership Team.

 Drive the effective management of risk and a positive risk culture from 
the top of the organisation

 To work with SLT to define the Council’s risk appetite and risk criteria
 Ensure that a corporate risk register is established and that this is 

regularly monitored.
 Consider risk management implications when taking decisions.

Portfolio Holder– 
Transformation, 
Leisure and 
Culture

Role: To provide leadership and oversight of risk management.
Responsibilities

 Oversee the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s risk management arrangements

Role: To provide independent assurance of the Council’s risk management 
framework and associated control environment. To act as the 
Member champion for risk management (Chair).

Audit & Risk 
Management 
Committee

Responsibilities
 Consider the risk management Policy and associated action plan
 Monitor, review and scrutinise the effectiveness of the Council’s risk 

management framework and its implementation.
 Consider the effectiveness of risk management arrangements and any 

improvements required as indicated in the Annual Governance 
Statement 

 Consider the adequacy of the authority’s insurance and risk financing 
arrangements

 Receive and challenge quarterly reports on the Corporate Risk 
Register from the Strategic Leadership Team

 Approve the Internal Audit Plan
 Receive and consider Internal Audit reports on risk management
 Receive assurances that action is being taken to mitigate key risks 

identified by internal and external auditors

Page 185



23

Stakeholder Role and Responsibilities 

Corporate 
Governance Group

Role: To support the embedding of strong governance arrangements across 
the Council

Responsibilities
• Review and challenge corporate performance and risk management 

arrangements, and support SLT in ensuring that performance and risk 
management are aligned with the aims, priorities and objectives 
contained in the Council’s policy framework, strategies and plans

• Consider areas of good practice and propose improvements to the 
Council’s risk management framework

Role: To oversee the effective management of risk in those areas of service 
for which they provide scrutiny.

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees

Responsibilities
 Receive and challenge reports on risk management, including 

relevant risk registers
 Gain an understanding of the key risks affecting the areas for which 

they provide scrutiny and ensuring that sufficient action is being 
taken to control them.

 Consider risk management implications when making 
recommendations to Cabinet

Role: To ensure that the Council manages risk effectively.Strategic Leadership 
Team Responsibilities

 Agree the risk management framework and the arrangements for the 
management of strategic/corporate risks

 Lead and co-ordinate the delivery of the risk management 
framework.

 To work with Cabinet to define the Council’s risk appetite and risk 
criteria.

 Identify, monitor and take ownership of strategic / corporate risks
 Establish a culture and working practices which promote openness 

and learning in relation to the management of risk
 Review the effectiveness of the risk management framework and 

make arrangements to address any improvements needed
 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure that 

Members receive regular monitoring reports.

Page 186



24

Stakeholder Role and Responsibilities 

Role: To manage risk within their area of the organisation in line with the 
Council’s risk management policy.

Directors 

Responsibilities
 Ensure that risks to the objectives for their areas of responsibility are 

identified and evaluated and that action on them is prioritised and 
implemented.

 Scrutinise and sign off the risk register for their area.
 Ensure that the key risks for their area and the effectiveness of 

associated controls are reviewed on a regular basis
 Report significant risks to the Risk & Insurance Officer to be 

considered by the Strategic Leadership Team for possible escalation 
to the Corporate Risk Register

 Take responsibility for the production, testing and maintenance of 
Business Continuity plans and allocation of resources.

 Ensure that a culture of risk awareness is embedded across their area 
of the organisation.

Role: To support the effective management of risk throughout the Council.Risk & Insurance 
Officer / team Responsibilities

 Design and drive the implementation of the Council’s risk 
management framework, policy, strategy and process.

 Provide the Council with consultancy and advice on risk 
management.

 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the 
Council with the support of the Risk Champions.

 Ensure that officers and Members are adequately trained in risk 
management tools and techniques.

 Facilitate risk identification and evaluation workshops.
 Assist officers to identify evaluate and record key risks to service, 

project and partnership objectives.
 Provide quality assurance and challenge of risk information provided 

by officers.
 Ensure that the corporate risk register is regularly reviewed by the 

Strategic Leadership Team.
 Collate and manage the Council’s Corporate Risk Register. 
 Undertake an annual review and update of the Risk Management 

Policy for consideration by the Strategic Leadership Team and Audit 
& Risk Management Committee.

 Ensure that the Council’s approach to risk management fits within 
the Council’s overall policy, strategy and performance ethos.

Page 187



25

Stakeholder Role and Responsibilities 

Role: To provide a focus for and co-ordinate risk management activity 
across their area of the organisation.

Risk Champions

Responsibilities
 Provide support on risk management.
 Encourage staff to embed risk management principles into their daily 

work
 Identify training needs in relation to risk management and reporting 

these to the Risk & Insurance team
 Co-ordinate information on risks and opportunities
 Maintain risk registers
 Share examples of good risk control practice and lessons learned

Role: To effectively manage risk in their service area in line with the 
Council’s risk management policy.

Assistant Directors

Responsibilities
 Ensure that risks to the objectives for their area of responsibility are 

identified, evaluated and addressed.
 Produce and regularly review a register of those risks, including the 

implementation of control measures.
 Report significant risks to the relevant director in line with the 

Council’s escalation criteria.
 Guide their staff in risk assessing their priorities at the beginning of 

the year and ensuring they identify risks that may affect their ability 
to deliver their objectives.

 Communicate the corporate approach to risk management to 
managers.

 Support the Risk Champion with identifying the training needs of 
staff.

 Ensure that managers and employees are aware of the corporate 
requirements and seek clarification from the Risk Champion, when 
required.

Role: To oversee the effective management of risks to the delivery of 
individual pledge strategies.

Lead Commissioners 
and Strategy 
Delivery Groups Responsibilities

 Ensure that risks to the delivery of the strategy are identified, 
evaluated and addressed.

 Produce and regularly review a register of those risks, including the 
implementation of control measures.

 Report significant risks to the Risk and Insurance team in line with the 
Council’s escalation criteria

Page 188



26

Role: To oversee the effective management of risk within programmes and 
projects.

Programme and 
Project Boards

Responsibilities
 Set and confirm the programme/project’s risk appetite
 Understand the key risks to delivery of the programme/project 

objectives and ensure that sufficient action is being taken to manage 
them

 Make decisions as regards risk response options proposed by  project 
managers

 Maintain oversight of the continued viability of the programme or 
project’s business case.

 Propose the escalation of risks in line with the Council’s risk 
escalation criteria.

Role: To effectively manage risks to the programme and project in line with 
the Council’s risk management policy.

Programme and 
Project Managers

Responsibilities
 Identify and evaluate risks of and to any proposed project as part of 

the development of the business case.
 Ensure that key risks to programme and project objectives are 

identified, evaluated and managed
 Undertake regular reviews of the programme/project risk register 

throughout the lifecycle of the project. 
 Report key risks and potential responses to the Programme/Project 

Board on a regular basis
 Identify and propose the escalation of risks to the programme level in 

line with the Council’s risk escalation criteria.

Role: To provide independent and objective assurance in relation to the 
Council’s risk management arrangements.

Internal Audit

Responsibilities
 Conduct reviews into the effectiveness of the risk management 

framework and its application.
 Undertake an annual evaluation of the Council’s risk management 

maturity.
 Produce a risk based audit plan that takes into account key strategic, 

operational and project risks across the Council
 Ensure robust risk management techniques in their audit work.

Role: To contribute to the effective management of risk.Employees
Responsibilities

 Contribute to the identification and evaluation of key risks for their 
area.

 Contribute to risk control measures, where appropriate.
 Report promptly to management potential new risks or failures in 

existing control measures.
 Supporting continuous service delivery and any response to business 

disruption.

Page 189



27

16. Performance Management and Risk Management

Performance Management is “…a process and set of behaviours to support the partnership in 
delivering outcomes that improve the lives of Wirral residents”. (Wirral Plan Performance 
Management Framework)

By contrast, risk management is the process of identifying and managing matters that could 
impact on the delivery of outcomes. Although, both processes are different in emphasis, they 
share the same goal - the achievement of organisational objectives. Risks cannot be 
identified without an understanding of priorities, objectives and targets. Equally, the setting 
of performance targets needs to be informed by an understanding of the risks which may 
threaten performance.
So it is important, that the risk management framework is developed to take account of and 
to support the Council’s performance management framework.

The links between the performance management process and risk management are detailed 
in the following diagram:

Develop a clear vision  
and priorities

Set clear objectives, based on 
priorities

Plan actions required to achieve 
objectives and set robust targets

Regularly review and report 
progress on the effectiveness of 
the actions and agree further 
management action to address 
under-performance

Annual strategic review of progress and refresh

Set clear objectives informed by risk analysis

Identify and assess risks that will 
prevent objectives being achieved

Develop actions required to 
mitigate risk or maximise benefit

Regularly review and 
report on the 
effectiveness of the 
actions identified

Risk ManagementPerformance
Management

Page 190



28

17. How does this policy relate to other Council policies?

Corporate Health & Safety Policy: sets out the Council’s broad approach to the management 
of risks to health and safety

Business Continuity Policy: defines the approach to and requirements for managing risks to 
the continuity of Council services

Information Governance Policy: defines the Council’s policy on Confidentiality and Data 
Protection, Information Security and Information Assurance and its links with risk 
management.

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy: sets out the Council’s broad approach to the management 
of fraud risks

Financial Regulations: cross reference the corporate Risk Management Policy and set out the 
requirements for managing resource-related risks

Council Constitution:
Contract Procedure Rules: – confirm the rules around procurement which act as controls in 
relation to procurement risk
Financial management: – confirms the key controls adopted to ensure effective financial 
planning and management
Risk Management and Control of Resources: – confirms the need for effective risk 
management and the controls intended to achieve this.
External Arrangements: - requires an agreement to be in place for each partnership, the 
development of which is to be subject to a risk management process to establish and 
manage all known risks

Code of Corporate Governance: summarises how the Council will deliver the six principles of 
effective governance and how the risk management framework contributes to this.

Performance Management Framework: sets out the Council’s approach to performance 
management and its links with risk management.

18. What Level of Capability Do We Want to Achieve?

Our current ambition is to increase the number of key areas of our framework evaluated as 
‘Risk Managed’ (Level 4 of the CIPFA document - “It’s a Risky Business: A Practical Guide to 
Risk Based Auditing”).

Page 191



29

19. What Additional Actions Are We Going to Take to Achieve This?

The following have been informed by June 2017 Internal Audit report on risk management.

Action Target Date
Support individual Pledge Strategy Delivery Groups with the 
identification and evaluation of key risks 

September 2017 to 
March 2018

Advise management teams and partners of the provisions of the 
revised Risk Management Policy 

By 31st December 
2017

Contribute to the review of corporate governance 31st March 2018
Investigate the potential for use of ‘Concerto’ for the capture of 
corporate risk information 

30th June 2018

Revise the manager and employee e-Learning modules for risk 
management

30th June 2018

20. What Resources Will We Need?

We recognise that, particularly in the current financial environment, our Policy will need to 
be delivered within existing resources. Key officer resources will be the Risk & Insurance 
team and the Risk Champions. However, implementation of the Policy will also require input 
from functions across the Council, including Internal Audit, Policy, Performance & Scrutiny, 
Health, Safety & Resilience and the Transformation Office. 

21. How Will We Evaluate Our Progress?

Progress reports on the above actions will be provided to each meeting of the Council’s Audit 
& Risk Management Committee.

Internal Audit will undertake an annual assessment of the Council’s risk management 
arrangements. This will be reported to the Strategic Leadership Team and to Audit & Risk 
Management Committee.
 

Page 192



30

Appendix A - Glossary

Control
A measure that mitigates a risk, including any process, policy, device, practice, or other 
action

Control Owner
Individual responsible for the maintenance of an existing control or the implementation of a 
additional control

Corporate Governance
The systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which local government bodies are 
directed and controlled and through which they account to, engage with and, where 
appropriate, lead their communities

Current risk score
Assessment of the combined scores, for the likelihood and impact of the risk happening, 
after taking into account any controls in place to manage the risk.

Impact
The evaluated effect or result of a particular risk happening

Likelihood
A qualitative description of the probability or frequency of the risk happening

Risk 
An uncertainty that could have adverse or beneficial effects on the achievement of the 
Council’s objectives 

Risk Appetite
The amount and type of risk that the Council is prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in 
pursuing its objectives

Risk Management 
Co-ordinated activities to direct and control an organization with regard to risk

Risk Management Policy
A statement of the overall intentions and direction of the Council relating to the 
management of risk

Risk Matrix
A graphical table which facilitates the risk analysis process, showing the scales of likelihood 
and impact and plot risk scores

Risk Owner
The person responsible for the objective which would be affected by the risk

Page 193



31

Risk Register
A summary of information relating to the risks to the achievement of an objective or set of 
objectives

Unmanaged risk score
Assessment of the combined scores, for the likelihood and impact of the risk happening, 
before taking into account any controls in place to manage the risk.

Page 194



32

Appendix B – Risk Categories

Categories are widely used to identify sources of risk. Some will be of greater concern at the 
corporate/strategic level and some at the directorate/service level. However there is no clear 
distinction and all levels of management should be concerned, to varying degrees, with the majority 
of categories.

The categories below will assist at the risk identification stage in order to provide prompts to help 
identify risks. Risks can, of course, fall into one or more categories.

External

Category Definition Examples

Political Associated with the political 
environment in which the 
Council operates

 New political arrangements
 Member support / approval
 Electorate dissatisfaction
 Impact of electoral changes

Economic Associated with changes in the 
economic environment, their 
impact on the community and 
Council’s own financial position.

 National and regional economic 
situation

 HM Treasury – investments, 
reforms, budget cuts

 Key employment sectors (current 
and future)

 Borrowing, lending situations, 
investments and interest rates

 Inflation
Social Relating to the effects of 

changes in demographic, 
residential or socio-economic 
trends.

 Residential patterns / profile (state 
of housing stock, public / private 
mix)

 Health trends / inequalities
 Demographic profile (age, race 

etc.)
 Lifelong learning
 Crime statistics / trends

Legal / 
Regulatory

Associated with current or 
potential changes to legislation 
and the regulatory environment 
at national and international 
level.

 Government policy
 Inspection / regulation (e.g. Ofsted)
 European Directives (e.g. 

procurement)
 Legal challenges
 Statutory duties / deadlines (e.g. 

FoI)
Technological Associated with the impact of 

the pace/scale of technological 
change on the community and 
the Council, or our ability to use 
technology to address changing 
demands.

 Technology driving demand – 
customer needs and expectations

 Digital exclusion
 Increasing reliance on technology
 Resilience of key IT systems
 Capacity to deal with change

Page 195



33

Environmental Relating to the environmental 
consequences of realising our 
objectives and the impact of 
environmental change on the 
Council and the community.

 Impact of planning and transport 
policies

 Nature of environment (urban / 
rural)

 Land use – green belt, brown field 
sites

 Contamination, pollution
 Storage / disposal of waste
 Climate change and impact of 

severe weather

Internal

Financial Arising from the financial 
planning and control framework

 Quality of financial forecasting, 
profiling and cost/benefit analysis

 Effectiveness of financial controls
 Lack of investment
 Failure to prioritise budgets
 Level of financial skills and 

knowledge
 Adequacy of financial reporting
 Management of budgetary 

pressures
Customer / 
Citizen

Arising from the need to meet 
the changing needs, choices and 
expectations of customers and 
citizens

 Effectiveness of safeguarding
 Relations with community leaders 

and groups
 Extent and nature of consultation
 Managing expectations
 Reputation management
 Management of complaints and 

compliments
 Visibility of services (e.g. refuse 

collection)
Partnership / 
Contractual

Arising from the ability of 
contractors and partnership 
arrangements to deliver services 
or outcomes to the agreed cost 
and specification

 Resilience of partners / supply 
chains

 Accountability frameworks and 
partnership boundaries

 Managing performance
 Experience and expertise in 

commissioning
 Governance arrangements

People Arising from the capability, 
competency and capacity of 
those who work for the Council 
and their welfare and safety.

 HR / employment policies
 Quality of industrial relations
 Reliance on key staff
 Recruitment and retention
 Health and safety duties
 Level of staff morale
 Adequacy of skill set

Page 196



34

Tangible Assets 
(Physical)

Relating to the availability, 
security, safety and adequacy of 
land, buildings, plant and 
equipment

 Nature and state of asset base
 Resilience and service continuity 

arrangements
 Maintenance practices and policies
 Security arrangements

Processes & 
Professional 
Judgements

Arising from internal protocols 
management processes and the 
nature of individual professions

 Quality of professional judgements
 Effectiveness of project 

management and performance 
management processes

Managerial / 
Leadership

Arising from managerial ability 
and the quality of leadership

 Stability of officer structure
 Quality of internal communications
 Professional standing of key officers
 Management culture
 Workforce planning
 Authority

Data and 
Information

Arising from data or information 
which the Council uses or 
manages. Access to, the 
management of and 
effectiveness of, information 
generated or required by the 
organisation.

 Data security
 Data processing arrangements
 Data reliability / quality
 Effective use and interpretation of 

information
 E-government

Governance Relating to the adequacy of the 
Council’s governance 
arrangements and adherence to 
them

 Speed / effectiveness of decision-
making processes

 Clarity of purpose
 Level of accountability and 

openness
 Limits of authority
 Standards of conduct and behaviour
 Enforcement of corporate policies / 

standards

Page 197



35

Appendix C – Risk Register Template (Service/Business Plans)

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
ct

 

T
o

ta
l (

L
xI

)

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
ct

 

T
o

ta
l (

L
xI

)

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
ct

 

T
o

ta
l (

L
xI

)

Current 
Risk 

Status (▲ 
▼ ◄ ◘)

0

0

0

0

Target Scores

HY

M

Q3 4 120

4 5 200

1 2 20

Priority / Objective Risk Description

R
is

k 
R

ef
. Unmanaged Scores

0

Risk Owner Current ScoresRisk Category

1 2 2

Risk Action UpdateControl Owner Target DateExisting Controls Planned Additional ControlsRisk Review 
Frequency

HY

P
age 198



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
25 SEPTEMBER 2017

REPORT TITLE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 
2000 (RIPA)

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR: LAW AND GOVERNANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report summarises the use of covert surveillance by the Council between 1 June 2017 
and 31 August 2017.

This report was requested in the work plan for the Committee.

It affects all Wards within the Borough.

The decision is not a key decision.

        
RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee notes the report.

Page 199

Agenda Item 11



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS.

The Committee receives quarterly reports on the Council’s use of covert surveillance.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS

None

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) governs how public bodies 
use surveillance methods. The Council may use covert surveillance for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime.

3.2 The origin of RIPA lies in the Human Rights Act 1998 which places restrictions on the 
extent to which public bodies may interfere with a person’s right to respect for his or 
her home and private life and correspondence during the course of an investigation 
into suspected criminal activities.  The provisions of RIPA ensure (in summary) that 
any such interferences are in accordance with the law and are necessary and 
proportionate (i.e. the seriousness of the suspected crime must outweigh any possible 
interferences with the personal privacy of the persons being investigated and of 
persons who associate with them).

3.3 The Council’s Constitution authorises Directors to designate Heads of Service and 
Service Managers to authorise the use of covert surveillance in accordance with the 
procedures prescribed by RIPA.  Since 1 November 2012 such authorisations require 
the further approval of a magistrate where the legislation applies.

3.4 The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) is responsible for overseeing the 
operation of RIPA.  The OSC inspected the Council on13 May 2015.  The outcome of 
that inspection was reported to the Committee on 22 September 2015. The Committee 
approved amendments to the Council’s Policy and Guidance Document made in 
response to the Report.

3.5   Further amendments to the Policy and Guidance Document were approved by the 
Committee at its meeting on 22 November 2016

4.0 THE USE OF RIPA BY THE COUNCIL

4.1 The Council obtained on 19 July 2017 approval from a magistrate to use covert 
surveillance to detect suspected illegal flytipping at a site in Wirral.

5.0 ANNUAL TRAINING

5.1 Annual training for Applying and Authorising Officers has been arranged for 30 
October 2017.

Page 200



5.2 Each officer must attend suitable training on RIPA at intervals of not less than two 
years.

6.0 CHANGES IN LEGISLATION

6.1 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 came into force on 1 November 2012 and made 
the following changes to the law;

 A Magistrate's approval is required for a local authority’s use of RIPA.  It is in 
addition to the authorisation needed from a senior officer and the more general 
oversight by elected councillors.

 Use of RIPA to authorise directed surveillance is confined to cases where the 
offence under investigation carries a custodial sentence of six months 
imprisonment or more except in relation to underage sales of alcohol and 
tobacco, where this sentencing threshold will not apply.

7.0 PROSECUTIONS ARISING FROM AUTHORISED COVERT SURVEILLANCE

No outcomes yet to report.

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
     

None.

9.0 LEGAL  IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, which requires local authorities( where RIPA 
applies) to obtain the approval of a magistrate for the use of covert surveillance, came 
into force on 1 November 2012.

9.2 In suitable cases where the RIPA legislation does not apply, covert surveillance could 
be authorised under the Data Protection Act 1998 and Article 8 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights(which balance the value of the surveillance against 
intrusions into people’s private lives).This is explained in the previous report to the 
Committee on 22 November 2016.

10.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT,STAFFING AND ASSETS

10.1. There are none at present.

11.0 RELEVANT RISKS

11.1 These have been discussed in previous reports.

11.2 There is a risk that some investigations of anti-social behaviour will not be able to use 
covert surveillance because the suspected criminal behaviour does not carry a 
custodial sentence of 6 months or more.

Page 201



11.3 The Anti-Social Behaviour Team are however intent on applying to the Court for 
approval of covert surveillance in suitable cases of suspected harassment of 
individuals which would amount to an offence under the Protection from Harassment 
Act 1997 (which can attract a sentence of 6 months or more imprisonment).

11.4 Where RIPA does not apply but covert surveillance would be legitimate necessary and 
proportionate then it would have to be authorised by the Authorising Officers in 
accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 eg to supply evidence in disciplinary or 
care proceedings as explained in paragraph 10 of the amended Policy and 
Procedures Guidance Document and the report to the Committee on 22 November 
2016.

12.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

12.1 Not applicable.

13.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

13.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

No because there is no proposal which is relevant to equality.

REPORT AUTHOR: Colin Hughes
Group Solicitor
telephone:  (0151 691 8502)
email:   colinhughes@wirral.gov.uk

REFERENCE MATERIAL
Authorisations for directed surveillance - exempt from publication because they relate to 
individuals and may be the subject of continuing investigations into alleged criminal 
behaviour.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Reports to the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee 17 September 2014

27 January 2015
8 June 2015
22 September 2015
17 February 2016
22 November 2016
14 March 2017
12 June 2017

Page 202


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE
	Enc. 1 for INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE

	4a Pension Committee Minutes
	EXTRACTPENSIONSCOMMITTEE17JULY2017-5

	4b Audit Findings Report
	4c Statement of Accounts MPF 2016/17
	MPFLetterofRepresentation2017

	5a External Audit Findings - Wirral Council
	5b Statement of Accounts 2016/17
	ACCOUNTS 2016-17 LETTER of REP WBC

	6 Local Audit Accountability Act
	7 AGS SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES UPDATE
	Enc. 1 for AGS SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES UPDATE

	8 MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE AND CORPORATE RISK
	9 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER: UPDATE
	Corporate Risk Register 050917

	10 CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
	Risk Management Policy 2017

	11 RIPA

